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Preface

by the President of the Senate of the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg,
First Major Olaf Scholz, to the nomination of inscription the
Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district with Chilehaus

on the UNESCO World Heritage List

submitted by the State of Hamburg

Hamburg is, and always has been, a dynamic, constantly changing, port city and trading
hub. As early as the end of the 19th century, the construction of the Speicherstadt signalled
the beginning of a process of transformation, as a result of which Hamburg developed from
a city with mixed residential, merchant and working districts into a modern city with speci-
fic areas devoted to the tertiary sector. At the beginning of the 20th century, that process
was continued with the building, in particular, of the Kontorhaus district.

Hamburg's Speicherstadt, which was constructed in three phases between 1885 and 1927,
is still the largest cohesive and integral warehouse complex in the world. It is a unique
showcase of the techniques and materials used in the maritime industrial architecture of
European historicism, which married the aesthetic and the functional. The Speicherstadt is
therefore of great international significance in the history of architecture. Thanks to its red
brick buildings in the neo-Gothic style, its streets, waterways and bridges, which combine
to create an incomparable image of a “city of warehouses’, this part of Hamburg is a cha-
racteristic component of the overall urban landscape.

The adjacent Kontorhaus district has a comparable impact, particularly the buildings at its
heart: the famous Chilehaus, the Messberghof, the Sprinkenhof and the Mohlenhof. While
the international office-building architecture of the 1920s and 1930s was still characterized
by the Beaux-Arts style and other historicizing forms, the office buildings of Hamburg's
Kontorhaus district were already displaying modern clinker fagcades of expressionist and
objectivist design. In the cases of the Chilehaus and the Sprinkenhof in particular, these
architectural forms achieved barely surpassable levels of virtuosity, in terms of both design
and craftsmanship. In addition, Fritz Hoger’s Chilehaus, with its tip recalling the prow of a
ship and the characteristic detailing of its facades, is regarded as an icon of expressionist
architecture. It is safe to assume that this Hamburg edifice features in every standard volu-
me on 20th century architecture.

In recent years, the area around the Speicherstadt and the Kontorhaus district has undergo-
ne significant change, and that process will continue in the future. The new HafenCity is set
to increase the size of the city centre by 40%. The Speicherstadt now forms the physical
link between the historic and modern parts of the city centre. In that sense, the ensemble
which we are nominating for World Heritage status, “the Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus
district with Chilehaus’, represents a “living protected asset” Safeguarding the "outstan-
ding universal value” of that protected asset is a huge responsibility. Logically, therefore,
Hamburg is fully committed to the World Heritage application and everything that such a
status would entail. We are aware of the particular duty that a World Heritage listing places



on a federal Land and city — in the eyes of the world as it were. Every new urban develop-
ment, which has any impact on the Chilehaus, the Kontorhaus district or the Speicherstadt,
every new building within those districts or in their vicinity, will have to be compatible with
that historic heritage. That is a duty which Hamburg wishes and is compelled to fulfil. Both
districts have long been listed under the Regional Heritage Protection Act, and in 2012 the
duty to comply with the World Heritage Convention was enshrined in our amended Herita-
ge Protection Act.

However, legal protection is not enough to safeguard a cultural monument, as Goethe explai-
ned in Faust:

“What from your father you've inherited,

You must earn again, to own it straight.
What's never used, leaves us overburdened,
But we can use what the moment may create!”

That is the firm belief of both ourselves and the owners of the protected buildings: A few years
ago, the Chilehaus was restored and fully let, and is in good hands. The same applies to the lar
ge office buildings around it. The Speicherstadt is admittedly less and less in demand for goods
storage, but is increasingly used for cultural events and the creative economy, for offices, re-
staurants, cafés and bars. Thus, the heritage of the Kontorhaus district and the Speicherstadt
continues to be used meaningfully — a fact which safeguards the future of both districts. Their
inclusion in the community of UNESCO World Heritage would be the crowning achievement of
our efforts and would fill us with pride.

Olaf Scholz, First Major
President of the Senate of the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg
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A: Areal view of the Speicherstadt from east



Introduction

Hamburg's Speicherstadt (warehouse district) is a
popular backdrop for countless television and film
productions, and no visit to Hamburg is complete
without a boat trip around the port area and along
the adjoining waterways (“Fleete”), or at least a
walk through this extensive urban ensemble. Here,
visitors will find a rich variety of brick buildings, as
well as dynamic roofscapes with turrets and winch
bays reflected in the waterways. Also, the people
of Hamburg never tire of “their” Speicherstadt eit-
her and regularly frequent it. Across the Customs
Canal, it is the Kontorhaus district that attracts vi-
sitors, particularly the Chilehaus with its distinctive
eastern tip, recalling the prow of a ship. Today, St.
Michael’'s Church (the Michel), the Speicherstadt
and the Chilehaus are Hamburg's best-known inter
national landmarks.

How different from the perception of the Speicher-
stadt at the end of the 19th and beginning of the
20th centuries when the two ensembles were first
planned and their construction started! Then, peo-
ple derided the urban development policy behind
the Speicherstadt and criticized it as tarnishing
Hamburg’'s image as a Free and Hanseatic City:
They mockingly called their hometown the Free and
Demolishing City of Hamburg, because an entire
Baroque district was torn down to make way for
the Speicherstadt and thousands of people were
evicted. The construction of the Kontorhaus district,
too, meant that residents were forced to move
to other parts of town. Within just a few decades
at the end of the 19th and beginning of the 20th
centuries, the centre of Hamburg was transformed
from a pre-industrial town into a modern city with
mono-functional districts, exclusively serving the
economic needs of the metropolis, trade and the
international port.

The construction of the Speicherstadt and the sub-
sequent urban restructuring not only heralded the
arrival of the new era of modern cities in Hamburg
— a process which became established much more
quickly and firmly here than in other cities around

the world — it also created one of the largest and
most modern logistics centres of the time. Its ex-
traordinary size as well as the unusual temporal
conciseness of both developments are due to the
challenge of joining the german toll union by the
end of the 19th century without losing all previous
advantages of toll free trade within the whole city:
thus the traditional organisation of trading had to be
restructured towards specialisation also in a physi-
cal sense. Given its purpose, the “city of warehou-
ses” was of unusually prestigious design and be-
came an architectural showcase for Hamburg as an
international port city and trading hub. Even at its
official opening, the Speicherstadt was regarded as
an urban monument, as can be seen from the fol-
lowing quote from the inaugural document: “What
is striking, however, are the newly created works of
architecture, which will form a lasting memorial to
the radical changes occurring before our very eyes.
It is therefore their task to preserve these memo-
ries for future generations.”

There were similar expectations of the Chilehaus,
that icon of expressionism in architecture, which
appears in every standard volume on 20th cen-
tury architecture. With its eastern tip in the form
of a ship’s prow, the Chilehaus was a symbol of
Hamburg's image as a gateway to the world. Con-
struction had barely been completed when photo-
graphs of the spectacular eastern tip of the building
began circulating around the globe. In 1925, Ger
man tourist advertisements used it to attract visi-
tors. Countless painters have used the eastern tip
of the Chilehaus as a motif.

When comparing Hamburg with other metropoli-
ses, there are striking differences: In many other
cities the historic buildings of this significant ar
chitectural epoch, which saw cities become mo-
dern metropolises, have been lost or significantly
altered. In some cases, their immediate surround-
ings have undergone radical change so that the re-
spective cityscapes are now primarily characterised
by more recent buildings. By contrast, the two
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mono-functional and functionally complementary
districts of the Speicherstadt and the Kontorhaus
district continue to bear unique testimony to that
epoch: The two ensembles are concentrated, well-
preserved and on an unparalleled scale. They mark
the changeover from mixed-use towns to modern
tartarised cities with functional zoning, which oc-
curred at the end of the 19th and the beginning of
the 20th centuries.

In addition, Hamburg's Speicherstadt, with its ho-
mogeneous brick buildings with clearly defined
historic uses, its seven- and eight-storey warehou-
ses, its specific functional, architectural and urban
structure, complete with cobbled streets, water-
ways and bridges, is around 1.1 km in length, ma-
king it the largest, well-preserved, late 19th century
warehouse ensemble in the world.

The adjacent Kontorhaus district, to the north of
the Customs Canal, was the first mono-functional
office district on the European continent and repre-
sented a culmination of all previous experience in
office building design. The Kontorhaus ensemble is
mainly characterized by large-scale edifices, some
of which constitute whole blocks, with clinker faca-
des of expressionist and objectivist design, whose
high degree of homogeneity can be experienced
to this day. At the time, it set new standards for
office building architecture in continental Europe.
Four buildings, which form an urban ensemble, are
of particularly striking quality: the Chilehaus, the
Messberghof, the Sprinkenhof and the Mohlenhof.
The Chilehaus, by the architect Fritz Hoger, is also
regarded as a key example of modernist architec-
ture. By combining a reinforced concrete construc-
tion with traditional brickwork, virtuosity of design
and unparalleled craftsmanship, Hoger created a
modern office building architecture that was unlike
anything that had existed anywhere ever before.

The well-known Chilehaus was inscribed on the
German Tentative List back in 1998. In 2006, the ent-
ry for Hamburg was extended to include the Spei-
cherstadt and Kontorhaus district. Since the middle
of 2010, the Department for Heritage Preservation

at the Regional Ministry of Culture in Hamburg has
been working with experts in the field to draw up
the nomination documents and the Management
Plan.

To highlight the international significance of the two
Hamburgensembles, in October 2011, ICOMOS Ger-
many and the Department for Heritage Preservation
at the Regional Ministry of Culture in Hamburg, with
the support of the HafenCity University and the Su-
tor Foundation, jointly organised an international
conference entitled: “Urbanization to Modernism -
Formation of Metropolitan Harbour and Commercial
Districts” Other examples of comparable architec-
tural ensembles from around the world were pre-
sented and discussed, both warehouse complexes
dating from the around the year 1900 and modern
office architecture from the 1920s and 1930s. The
conference confirmed the exceptional universal va-
lue of the two Hamburg sites. The conference pro-
ceedings have since been published in the ICOMOS
periodical Contributions by the German National
Committee ("Hefte des Deutschen Nationalkomi-
tees”), volume LIV.

Those responsible for the nominated site — the po-
liticians, experts and not least the owners of the
buildings themselves — are acutely aware of the ho-
nour connected with an inscription on the UNESCO
World Heritage List, but also of the responsibilities
that such an inscription would entail. In 2012, Ham-
burg therefore enshrined the duty to comply with
the World Heritage Convention in its amended Re-
gional Heritage Protection Act. What is more, all the
component parts of the ensembles were entered
in Hamburg's list of protected buildings many ye-
ars ago, and enjoy protection under the Regional
Heritage Protection Act. In 2008, an Ordinance on
the Design of the Speicherstadt was adopted. In
addition, in anticipation of the application for world
heritage status, a Development Concept for the
Speicherstadt was drawn up over several years. It
was agreed between the various authorities and
adopted by the Hamburg Senate in 2012. A design
ordinance similar to the one for the Speicherstadt
will also be drawn up for the Kontorhaus district. All



of these measures are intended to ensure that the
ensembles “Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district
with Chilehaus” are safeguarded and preserved as
potential world heritage sites in the future.

AT~

Andreas Kellner

Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg
Ministry of Culture

Department for Heritage Preservation
Director

B: Areal view of the Kontorhaus district from southwest
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The Chilehaus, view from east
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Executive Summary

Executive Summary

State Party

Federal Republic of Germany

State, Province or Region

Hamburg/ Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg

Name of Property

The Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus District with Chilehaus

Geographical coordinates to the near-
est second

Nominated property:

Northern boundary: 53° 32" 56,66" N
Eastern boundary: 10°0"1761" E
Southern boundary: 53° 32" 34,57 N
Western boundary: 9°59'12,42" E
Buffer zone:

Northern boundary: 53°32' 59,06” N
Eastern boundary: 10°0'21,35" E
Southern boundary: 53°32"31,64" N
Western boundary: 9°58'50,21" E

Textual description ofthe boundary(ies)
of the nominated property

The nominated property which comprises the relevant parts of the Speicherstadt
and the Kontorhaus district is located in the southern part of Hamburg's old town
on the Elbe. Hamburg's Speicherstadt is situated on a long and narrow group
of islands, namely the Brookinseln. The district is centrally located in the Port of
Hamburg. The nominated part of the Speicherstadt is delimitated to the north
and east by the eastern part of the Binnenhafen, the Customs Canal and the
Oberhafen. Its western limit is Kehrwiedersteg. The southern boundary of the
nominated part of the Speicherstadt is formed by Am Sandtorkai and Brooktorkai.
In direct neighbourhood of the Speicherstadt, north of the Customs Canal, the
Hamburg Kontorhaus district is located. The boundary of the core zone of the
Kontorhaus district that is being nominated runs along the central reservation of
Altstadter Strasse from Johanniswall street to Burchardplatz, along the north side
of Burchardplatz, and diagonally across Burchardstrasse to the western bound-
ary of the Mohlenhof (plot 224). It then runs diagonally across Niedernstrasse to
the intersection of Niedernstrasse and Depenau street, along the western side
of Depenau street as far as the southern side of Klingberg street, and along that
southern side as far as the eastern boundary of plot 1650. Moving further to the
south, the boundary runs along the western edge of plot 1914 (Messberg) as far
as the northern side of the Customs Canal. It then runs in a north-easterly direc-
tion across Willy-Brandt-Strasse as far as the south-east corner of the Messberg-
hof, before heading northwards along the eastern boundary of the Messberghof
as far as the southern edge of Pumpen street. It then runs eastwards along the
southern edge of Pumpen street and Burchardstrasse to the north-eastern corner
of the building at 1, Burchardstrasse, and diagonally across Burchardstrasse in a
northerly direction as far as the western side of Johanniswall street. Finally, it con-
tinues northwards until it reaches the central reservation of Altstadter Strasse.
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Executive Summary

Size map of the nominated property, Size map see Page 28
showing boundaries and buffer zone

Area of nominated property and buffer zone

Speicherstadt: 20.95 ha

Kontorhaus district: 5.13 ha

Area of nominated property: 26.08 ha

Buffer zone: 56.17 ha

Total: 82.25 ha
Criteria under which property is nomi- (i), (i), (iii), (iv)

nated (itemize criteria)

Name and contact information of offi- Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg,

cial local institution/agency Ministry of Culture/ Department for Heritage Preservation
Grof3e Bleichen 30,
D-20354 Hamburg

Tel: +49 (040) 42824-750
Fax: +49 (040) 42824-435

E-Mail:

agnes.seemann@kb.hamburg.de

Web address:
http://www.hamburg.de/kulturbehoerde/unesco/2817596/chilehaus.html
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Draft Statement of Outstanding Universal Value

a) Brief synthesis

In the southern part of Hamburg’s old town are two complementary, mono-func-
tional districts, which are closely related, both physically and functionally: firstly,
the complex of warehouses for goods imported through the port and, secondly,
the Kontorhaus district with the offices of the companies engaged in port-related

activities, including shipping.

The Speicherstadt was constructed in three phases between 1885 and 1927 un-
der the direction of Franz Andreas Meyer. It was damaged in World War I, and
reconstructed in the post-war period by VWWerner Kallmorgen, in keeping with the
historic design; high-quality buildings were added in the 1950s. The Speicherstadt
stands out for the exceptional homogeneity of both its architecture and its urban
development. It consists of 15 five- to seven-storey warehouses and a series of
individual buildings, the vast majority of which are constructed in brick with neo-
Gothic and neo-Romanesque forms, and features a specific functional and physical
structure, and a particular style of urban development, with cobbled streets, water

ways, bridges and railway tracks.

The adjacent Kontorhaus district to the north of the Customs Canal is compara-
bly homogeneous. This district, which dates mainly from the 1920s and 1930s,
consists predominantly of large-scale edifices, some of which fill entire blocks,
with clinker facades in expressionist or sober designs, flat roofs and stepped-back
upper storeys. The dominant feature of the nominated property is the Chilehaus,
which was constructed between 1922 and 1924 by Fritz Hoger. This 10-storey of-
fice building is constructed on a reinforced concrete frame and the outer walls are
made of the typical dark-red to violet fired clinker bricks that are characteristic of
the brick expressionist style. Other striking buildings in nominated property are
the Messberghof, built between 1923 and 1924 by the brothers Hans and Oskar
Gerson; the Sprinkenhof, built in three sections between 1927 and 1943 by the
architects Hans and Oskar Gerson and Fritz Hoger, and the Mohlenhof, which was
constructed in 1928 to plans by the architects Rudolf Klophaus, August Schoch

and Erich zu Putlitz.

From a historical point of view, the architecture of the functionally complementary
districts is a striking and unique microcosm, on a unique scale, of the development
of European architecture in the late 19th century and the first third of the 20th
century, and reflects the new ideas of the time about reorganising cities along
functional lines, a key milestone in the emergence of modern urban development.
The two districts were optimally located to meet the new logistics requirements
for goods transhipment, and provide office space for organising trade. Moreover,
the high quality of the districts’ design testifies to the internationally renowned

status of Hamburg Port and the local export business at the time.

b) Justification for Criteria

Criterion (i): Fritz Hoger's Chilehaus, with its eastern tip recalling the prow of a ship
and the characteristic detail of its facades, is regarded as an iconic work of expres-
sionist architecture, which no standard work of reference on 20th century architec-
ture fails to mention. By combining a reinforced concrete skeleton with traditional
brickwork, executed with barely surpass able virtuoso design and craftsmanship,
Hoger created a modern style of office building architecture, the like of which the

world had never seen.

Criterion (ji): The cultural-historical significance of the Speicherstadt and the Kon-
torhaus district, particularly the core area consisting of the Chilehaus, Messberg-
hof, Sprinkenhof and Mohlenhof, lies in the fact that they document the changes in
urban development, architecture and technology, as well as the functional chang-
es, which resulted from the rapid expansion of international trade in the second
half of the 19th century. The two mono-functional, functionally complementary
districts present a globally unique microcosm, on a unique scale, of the ideal of a

modern city with functional zones, and document the concept of city formation.

Criterion (iii): Thanks to their scale, the quality of their design, their materials and
their architectural forms, both the Speicherstadt and the Kontorhaus district, in par
ticular the core area consisting of the Chilehaus, Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and
Mohlenhof, bear exceptional testimony to the building tradition in Hamburg, as a
Hanseatic port city, and to the self-image of its business people, as well as to their

own adaptability, which ensured their success.

Criterion (iv): The two neighbouring, mono-functional, but functionally complemen-
tary districts, both contain outstanding examples of the types of buildings and
ensembles which epitomise the consequences of the rapid growth in international
trade in the late 19th and early 20th centuries respectively. Their uniform design
and high-quality, functional construction, in the guise of Historicism and Modern-
ism respectively, make them unique examples, the world over, of ensembles of

maritime warehouses and modern office buildings of the 1920s.

Hamburg's Speicherstadt, with its numerous warehouses and functional buildings,
its specific functional and physical structure, its particular style of urban develop-
ment, and with its cobbled streets, waterways, bridges and railway tracks, was
constructed at the end of the 19th century, and today it is still the largest cohesive
and integrated ensemble of warehouses anywhere in the world. Thanks to careful
reconstruction following damage sustained in the last war, it has been possible
to restore it to its original uniform appearance. It stands out not only for its high
degree of architectural homogeneity, resulting from the uniform red brick facades,
predominantly in the neo-Gothic forms of the “Hanover School’ and its consistent
urban planning, but also for its evocative setting, which underlines its prestigious

style, unusual in such functional buildings.



The Kontorhaus district is characterised by both its considerable homogeneity and
its remarkable scale, which can still be experienced today. As the first dedicated of-
fice district on the European continent, it showcases previous experience in office
block design and illustrates the shift in focus of economic activities in continental
Europe from the secondary to the tertiary sector. Its office buildings, particularly
the Chilehaus, Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and Mohlenhof broke new ground in the
development of office building architecture, and are amongst the most significant
achievements of their kind post-World War I. The high quality of their design was
unrivalled at the time, except in the United States. However, while international
office block architecture of the time was still influenced by the Beaux-Arts style
and other forms of Historicism, Hamburg's buildings already displayed modern
clinker facades in expressionist forms, which, in the Chilehaus and Sprinkenhof
were barely surpassable in the virtuosity of their design and craftsmanship. The
Messberghof was one of the first buildings anywhere in the world to pave the
way for the New Objectivism movement. The Mohlenhof can even be regarded
as an early example of New Objectivism architecture. Hamburg's office buildings
were also characterised by the high quality of their design inside the buildings in

the hallways and staircases.

c) Integrity

The Hamburg ensemble comprises two mono-functional districts in direct neigh-
bourhood to one another, which have been preserved intact in adequate size in
almost unchanged historical form and design. On a unique scale and in unparal-
leled concentration, the ensemble documents the change from a mixed-use city
to a modern city with mono-functional zones, which were established at the end

of the 19th and the beginning of the 20th century.

The Speicherstadt has all the elements and structures necessary to underline its
importance as the largest integral warehouse complex and most modern logistics
centre of the world of the late 19th century. The Kontorhaus district, in particular
the buildings of its core zone consisting of Chilehaus, Messberghof, Sprinkenhof
and Mohlenhof comprises all the elements and structures that document its im-
portance for the development of the modemn office building architecture of the

1920s and 1930s.

d) Authenticity

The Hamburg ensemble Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district with Chilehaus,
two mutually complementary, directly neighbouring mono-functional districts in
largely unchanged historic design with functionally shaped buildings of high quality
in the style of historicism and of modernity, document the change of the mixed-
use town to a modern city with mono-functional zones at the end of the 19th and
in the early 20th century with a concentration and degree of preservation and on a

scale, which are unique in the world.

Despite the damage suffered during the \World War Il and the successive changes
of use during the course of the last one-and-a-half decades, the Speicherstadt has
largely retained its form and design in terms of building materials and substance,
all of which are determined by their high degree of architectural and urban planning
concentration, by the ambitious link between architectural design of the buildings
and their technical facilities, by the effective composition of their prestigious red-
brick construction in Neo-Gothic architectural forms from the Hanover School and
by their functional and aesthetic structure. These constants lend it the incompara-
ble look as a “city of warehouses” (“Speicherstadt”) with an unusually prestigious
character for that kind of building task. The original function of the Speicherstadt
as a centre for storage and warehousing has largely been retained. In those cases

where it has not, this function is still clearly traceable.

The Hamburg Kontorhaus district, whose buildings continue serves their original
purposes, is still largely unchanged characterised in terms of form and design
as well as regards materials and substance. It consists of modern office build-
ings with reinforced steel constructions from the 1920s and 1930s. The carefully
designed and in some cases very complex and detailed clinker brick facades fea-
ture expressionist and functional architectural forms. Also, the artistic decorative
elements and the prestigious decoration of building entrances and staircases are
largely unchanged in terms of material and substance. This also applies to the
Chilehaus, its characteristic detailing of the brick facades and its significant form
including the overbuilding of the Fischertwiete, the S-shaped facade on Messberg,

and applies above all to its eastern tip which is reminiscent of a ship's prow.

¢) Requirements for protection and Management

Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district are listed under the Hamburg Heritage Pro-
tection Act. Any repairs or alterations to the buildings, and building work of any con-
sequence, have to be discussed with the Department for Heritage Preservation
of the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg, and are subject to its approval. The
Speicherstadt also has its own Design Ordinance and a Development Concept
for the Speicherstadt has been drawn up, too. It is intended to draft a Design Or
dinance for the Kontorhaus district as well. In addition, a local development plan is
currently being produced for the Speicherstadt (local development plan HafenCity

no. 12/Hamburg- Altstadt district no. 48).

A management plan has been formulated to safeguard the preservation and
proper management of the ensemble “Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district with

Chilehaus.

The Department for Heritage Preservation will be responsible for coordinating the
management of the prospective World Heritage site and will be affiliated a depart-

ment from the Ministry of Culture.
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The Speicherstadt, view over the Hollandischbrookfleet from the east to the ,Wasserschldsschen”
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G: The Chilehaus, south fassade

H: The Messberghof, view from south



The Sprinkenhof, first section
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The Chilehaus, entrance A

J:

The Messberghof, entrance hall

K:



M: The Messberghof, staircase
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NOMINATION FOR INSCRIPTION ON THE
UNESCO WORLD HERITAGE LIST

THE SPEICHERSTADT
AND KONTORHAUS DISTRICT
WITH CHILEHAUS

NOMINATION FORMAT
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1 Identification of the Property

1l.a Country

Federal Republic of Germany

Fig. 1: Middle-Europe including the Federal Republic of Germany
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1.b  State, Province or Region

Hamburg, Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg

v

Fig. 2: Federal Republic of Germany including the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg



1.c Name of property

39

Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district with Chilehaus

Wandsbek
‘ Hamburg-Nord

Hamburg-Mitte

Bergedorf

Fig. 3: The nominated property and its situation within the Hamburg City Limits

Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg
Ministry of Culture
Department for Heritage Preservation

Map for World Heritage application
Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district with Chilehaus

Legend
I Nominated property
[ Border
[ oistricts of Hamburg
Parts of the City of Hamburg
Water areas

Projection: UTM32
Position reference system: ETRS89
Map background: DSGK (LGV, Oktober 2011)

Scale: 1:150.000

Meter
0 2.500 5.000 7.500 10,000

i

}
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1.d Geographical coordinates of the nearest second

Coordinates in WGS84 (EPSG:4326)

Point

North

53° 32" 57,79"
53° 32' 53,79"
53°32' 51,36"
53° 32' 48,14"
53° 32' 43,96"
53°32' 34,67"
53° 32' 40,98"
53°32' 49,62"
53°32' 50,70"
53° 32' 52,46"
53° 32' 52,88"
53° 32' 56,66"

53°32' 59,63"

East

10°0" 1761
10°0' 16,27"
10°0' 11,03"
10° 0" 14,27"
10° 0' 8,06"
9° 59" 13,40"
9°59' 12,42"
10°0' 3,49"
10°0' 0,48"
10°0' 3,11"
10°0' 1,26"
10°0' 3,13"

10°0' 21,35"

Point

14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

26

North

53° 32' 53,69"
53° 32' 40,96"
53° 32' 38,55"
53°32' 31,64"
53°32' 29,44"
53° 32' 3795
53°32' 41,15"
53° 32' 45,39"
53° 32' 43,68"
53° 32' 46,61"
53°32' 51,73"
53°32' 52,29"

53° 32' 59,06"

East

10°0' 26,39"
10° 0' 23,63"
10°0' 10,90"
9° 59' 46,56"
9° b8’ 58,19"
9°58'50,21"
9°58' 51,33"
9°58' 57,14"
9°59' 12,05"
9° 59’ 36,05"
9° 59" 48,11"
9°59' 58,71"

9°59' 63,41"
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1.e  Maps and plans, showing the boundaries of the nominated property and
buffer zone

ree and Hanseatic City of Hamburg
Ministry of Culture
Department for Heritage Preservation . _a

AEIRY

Map of the World Heritage application
Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district with Chilehaus

Legend
3 nominated property
Il objects

reas

T ]

T

————— Meter
0 50 100 150 200 250

[ —— 1

Fig. 4: The Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district with Chilehaus, plan of the site and the buffer zone with coordinate
points. Maps and plans, showing the boundaries of the nominated property and buffer zone.
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Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg
Ministry of Culture
Department for Heritage Preservation &_

Map of the World Heritage application
Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district with Chilehaus [§§

Legend
| =3 Nominated property
Il objects

[ Areas

[ water area

[ Buffer zone

Projection:
Positi

¥ Scale:1:5.000

——— MeteT
0 50 100 150 200 250

Fig 5: The Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district with Chilehaus, aerial view

1.f  Area of nominated property (ha.) and proposed buffer zone (ha.)

Speicherstadt: 20.95 ha
Kontorhaus district: 5.13 ha
Area of nominated property: 26.08 ha
Buffer zone: 56.17 ha

Total: 82.25 ha
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2 Description

2.a Description of the Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district with Chilehaus

Between the centre of Hamburg’'s historic city
and Hamburg’'s youngest district HafenCity,
south of the centre located on the Grasbrook,
two mono-functional quarters from the end of the
19th and early 20th century are receive, which
are in close spatial and functional relationship
and of great historical and economic importance
for Hamburg as a port and trading city: the Ham-
burg Speicherstadt, the warehouse complex for
the goods imported through the port, and, north
of the customs channel, the Kontorhaus district
with the offices of predominantly harbour and
marine-related businesses.

2.a.1 Description of the Speicherstadt

2.a.1.1 Location and general character of the
Speicherstadt

Hamburg's Speicherstadt is situated on a long and
narrow group of islands, namely the Brookinseln,
extending to the south of the Altstadt district. They
stretch out along a west-easterly axis over a length
of approximately 1.5 km. On these islands, the
warehouses making up the Speicherstadt district
were erected to designs by Franz Andreas Meyer
in three project phases between 1885 and 1927
by the Hamburg Free Port Warehouse Association
(Hamburger Freihafen-Lagerhaus-Gesellschaft) and
the city authorities. The district is centrally located
in the Port of Hamburg.

.| Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg
Ministry of Culture
Department for Heritage Preservation E, [
Map for World Heritage application |
Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district with Chilehaus  §

Legend

3 Nominated property
I objects

[ Areas

[ water areas

[ suffer zone
Projection: UTM32

Position reference system: ETRS89
Map d: DSGK (LGV, Oktober 2011)

Scale: 1:10.000

—————— Vet
0 100 200 300 400 500

Fig. 6: Aerial view of Hamburg's City centre with the nominated properties Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district includ-

ing buffer zone
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Kehrviieder

s Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg \
( Ministry of Culture
.| Department for Heritage Preservation - .-u

177

Map of the World Heritage application
and district with Chilehaus

| Legend

[ Nominated property
I objects

[ Areas

[ water areas

[ Buffer zone

©  Coordinate points

T

UTM32

eference system: ETRS89
ground: DSGK (LGV, Oktober 2011)

cale: 1:5.000 -
—————— Meter
50 100 150 200 250

Fig. 7: The Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district with Chilehaus, plan of nominated property (framed red) and the

buffer zone (grey)

The group of islands constituting the Speicher-
stadt is delimitated to the north by the Customs
Canal and the Binnenhafen. Its southern bounda-
ries are the Sandtorhafen and the Brooktorhafen.
The Speicherstadt opens up to the River Elbe at
the western end of Kehrwiederfleet canal. To the
east the Speicherstadt borders on the Upper Port
(Oberhafen).

The Speicherstadt ensemble that is being nominat-
ed for inscription on the UNESCO World Heritage
List is not identical with the original historic dimen-
sions of the Speicherstadt, but measures only 1.1
km in length. The nominated part of the Speicher
stadt is delimitated to the north and east by the
eastern part of the Binnenhafen, the Customs Canal
and the Oberhafen. Its western limit is Kehrwieder-
steg. The southern boundary of the nominated part
of the Speicherstadt is formed by Am Sandtorkai
and Brooktorkai.

The area described is comprised of 15 large ware-
house complexes with between five and seven sto-
reys. In addition, there are a total of six detached
buildings or groups of which are part of the techni-
cal infrastructure of the Speicherstadt or serve other
purposes directly connected with the warehouses.
Among these are the former Boiler House, several
customs buildings and the Coffee Exchange. These
buildings are distributed throughout the nominated
part of the Speicherstadt. The total usable area of the
nominated area totals some 300,000 square metres
which makes the Speicherstadt the largest cohesive
and integrated warehouse complex in the world: a
“city of warehouses” in its own right.

The Speicherstadt buildings were erected in three con-
struction phases between 1885 and 1927 (first phase:
1885 - 1888; second phase: 1891 - 1896 and third phase:
1899 - 1927). After WW Il some of them were recon-
structed. Originally, most of the buildings were primarily



Fig. 8: Hamburg's Speicherstadt 2010

designed for storage, but there were also buildings ded-
icated to office and other special uses. For the majority,
these buildings were distinct from the warehouses in
terms of their structures and designs.

The warehouse complexes are subdivided into
several identically designed fire sections which to-
gether form so-called warehouse blocks. As a rule,
one warehouse complex consists of only one block.
However, at least nominally, it may consist of several
blocks. To indicate the fact that they constitute sin-
gle building units, the letter codes used for the block

Siamatine sach dim Tallsaschionn f
Grdaels des [aimbesipey Finilubes Lagerboss G biabai

au s
= X

sections in the text include slashes. The blocks are
given letter codes in alphabetical order from west to
east, the westernmost ones being blocks D and L
and the easternmost blocks W and X. Blocks A/B/C
and J/K were destroyed during WW Il. The letters |, F
Y and Z have never been allocated.

Despite the destructions caused by the air raids of
WW I, the Speicherstadt has preserved its impres-
sively homogeneous overall appearance and its ar
chitectural cohesion which is in part attributable to
the fact that in many cases only individual fire sec-

e R

Fig. 9: Map of the Speicherstadt with coloured indication of the projected and the realized construction phases: red,
1885-88, blue 1891-96, green 1899-1927 The purple-coloured blocks at the Ericusspitze (Ericus tip) have not been

realized.
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tions were damaged while the rest of the respec-
tive block remained largely intact. Further reasons
for the striking integrity of the ensemble are the
almost totally consistent use of red brick as the
main building material and the faithfulness with
which the buildings of the Speicherstadt were re-
built according to their historic designs or were
conscientiously supplemented with new buildings
after the war.

The architecture and townscape of the Speicherstadt
are characterised by the following factors:

» its situation on the river islands;

» its infrastructure consisting of waterways,
quay walls, stairs leading to the water, bridges
and cobbled streets, all of which have mostly
been preserved in their original condition;

» the unique integrity of the warehouses, of-
fice and technical buildings resulting from
the almost exclusive use of red brick as the
main building material throughout the various
construction phases. Despite the differences
between individual buildings as regards their
state of repair, reconstruction or preservation,
the ensemble as a whole displays a unique
cohesion that even integrates new buildings;

» the consistent functional orientation and posi-
tioning of the blocks along the canals: The long
warehouse block fronts all run parallel to a ca-
nal on one side and to a street on the other;

» the richness and variety of roof top designs;

» the ambitious combination of architectural de-
sign and construction elements with technical
installations and equipment (winch dormers
and the axes formed by loading doors);

» the large number of special buildings with dis-
tinct design and functional features.

2.a.1.2 The infrastructure of the Speicherstadt
a) Waterways
The Speicherstadt is separated from the city centre

by the 45 metre wide Customs Canal, its continua-
tion to the west, the Binnenhafen, and the adjoining

Oberhafen to the east. Together they constitute the
former boundaries of the free port. Access by water
to the Speicherstadt is via two canals with widths of
between 20 and 25 metres: One is the main canal
which cuts through the entire Speicherstadt from
the west to the east. Its various sections have dif-
ferent names deriving from the adjoining streets:
Kehrwiederfleet, Brooksfleet, St. Annenfleet and
Hollandischbrookfleet. The other, Wandrahmsfleet,
runs parallel to the main canal. The latter does not
extend over the whole length of the Speicherstadt,
but only through that part of it that was built during
construction phases two and three. In the eastern
part of the Speicherstadt the two canals converge
to form the waterway that connects up with the
Oberhafen. Perpendicular to the two canals in the
west-easterly direction, there are three minor canals:
The Kleines Fleet connects the Customs Canal,
Wandrahmsfleet and Brooksfleet with each other
while two other short and nameless canals con-
nect Hollandischbrookfleet to the Brooktorhafen and
Wandrahmsfleet to the Customs Canal.

The quay walls on the Customs Canal, in the Binnen-
hafen and on the internal canals of the Speicherstadt
are all faced with red bricks. There are flush barge
mooring bitts inserted in the walls. Where the quay
walls are not built on, the top edges have granite
block covers. The canal embankments of both the
Customs Canal and the Binnenhafen belonging to
the Speicherstadt have been preserved in their en-
tirety, including the stairs leading to the water. There
are stairs in the quay walls close to nearly all the
bridges which allowed crews to comfortably embark
on and disembark from barges and other vessels.

On the south embankment of the Customs Canal
stretches of the customs fence erected along the full
length of the quay from Binnenhafen to Kornhaus-
briicke in the 1950's have been preserved. The fence
consists of a steel frame with wire mesh. The lattice
fence in that area from around 1900 has also been
preserved. It encloses the four buildings of the for
mer St. Annen Customs Office on Alter Wandrahm
thus closing them off from the Customs Canal. This
fence is part of the former free port boundary, too.



b) Bridges

The Speicherstadt islands are connected to each
other and to the north bank of the River Elbe by nu-
merous bridges and elevated walkways. They are
crucial for the interconnectedness of the warehouse
blocks, but also for access to and from the city. The
bridges and elevated walkways contribute signifi-
cantly to the special character of the Speicherstadt,
e.g. by establishing numerous visual sight lines and
consciously designed Points de Vue: There are fine
views from the Poggenmduhlenbriicke to the Little
Water Castle (Wasserschlésschen) and from Sand-
brlcke to the old police station on Kehrwiederspitze.

All of the bridges built during the three construction
phases of the Speicherstadt were built to designs by
Franz Andreas Meyer. Many of the historic bridges
have been preserved, although some have under
gone modifications as a result of damage caused
during the war or during reconstruction. There are
also some newly built bridges.

Most of the bridges are riveted steel lattice work
arch constructions with beam ties and a low lying
carriageway. This type of construction is often called
German Arch (Deutscher Bogen). It fulfilled the es-
sential requirements of developers at the time offer
ing long bridge spans without supporting pillars so
that vessels could freely pass underneath them, as
well as quick assembly thanks to standardisation. The
pedestrians’ walkway is functionally separated from
the carriageway by the bridge arches and is often lo-
cated on the outside of the latter. In the older bridges
the abutments were given a facing of brickwork and
were ornamented with prestigious details made of
cut stone such as consoles, parapets or square cor
ner elements. The bridges built before 1900, i.e. the
majority of them, feature fine wrought-iron railings
and elaborate contemporary motifs. The more recent
bridges from the third construction phase have una-
dorned round bar railings.

Three of the historic Customs Canal bridges in the
nominated property, namely Brooksbricke, Jungfern-
bricke and Kornhausbrlcke have been preserved, if

.-1” vql‘\‘" \7', o
"“L,A-J._L!.‘Lh- i "

Fig. 10:  Bridges across the Kehrwiederfleet from the
first construction phase with the ancient
Speicherstadt-police station at the end (outside
of the nominated area)

Fig. 11:  Brooksbricke

in reduced form. Two of them have been simplified,
but their very special design has been preserved.

The Brooksbriicke (built in 1888) was the main en-
trance gate to the Speicherstadt when it was first
officially opened and this special role was high-
lighted by the symbolic sculptures at the northern
bridge end (Hammonia being an allegorical allusion
to Hamburg while Germania represented the Ger
man Empire). The gate and the original sculptures

.u.- ;‘t_.
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Fig. 12 Europa and Hammonia, created by Jorg Plickat
between 2001 and 2006

were lost owing to the Second World War and the
lifting of the bridge during the 1950s, but four new
sculptures were put up in their stead. They were cre-
ated by Jorg Plickat between 2001 and 2006 and
represent Europa, Hammonia, St.Ansgar and Barba-
rossa.

Unlike the other Customs Canal bridges, the Korn-
hausbricke (built in 1886/87) never had a gate, but it
features two red sandstone sculptures at its north-
ern bridge end: the representations of Christopher
Columbus and Vasco da Gama. They were created
in 1903 by Carl Boerner and Hermann Hosaeus re-
spectively and have been preserved. The Kornhaus-
briicke is a special construction in that its slightly
lunated latticed beams rest on granite abutments
which are several metres higher than the carriage-
way (the lower boom also having a convex shape
at the top). The elevated iron lattice work supports
the girder with connecting rods. The abutments
also serve as pedestals for the two sculptures. At
the Speicherstadt end of the Kornhausbrlcke there
are post-war customs booths situated right next to
the abutments.

The Jungfernbricke (built in 1888) is one of the his-
toric foot bridges across the Customs Canal that
has been preserved if not in the original condition: It
was elevated and the bridge gate is no longer there.
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Fig. 13:  Jungfernbriicke

Two slightly lunated wrought-iron latticed beams cut
through the girder and parts of them serve as bridge
railings.

The original GrolRe Wandrahmsbriicke was also dam-
aged during the war. It had an impressive gate and
constituted the eastern connection between the
Speicherstadt and the city centre and later the
Kontorhaus district, too. It was replaced by the
Wandrahmsteg foot bridge which was not erected
in exactly the same position, but instead parallel to
the historic axis.

To the west and east of Brooksbricke there are now
two additional bridges across the Binnenhafen and
Customs Canal respectively, namely Kehrwieder
stegbriicke and Kibbelstegbriicke. They are modern
steel bar constructions which were built by the ar
chitects Schweger & Partner and von Gerkan, Marg
und Partner (gmp) during the last two decades (Kehr
wiederstegbricke in 1997 and Kibbelstegbriicke
in 2000/01). They are a synthesis of contemporary
designs and Speicherstadt traditions respecting the
spirit of the latter.

There are thirteen more bridges in the nomi-
nated part of the Speicherstadt ensemble that
serve motorised traffic, cyclists and pedestrians.
Ten of them are historic bridges which have been



Fig. 14:  Kornhausbricke

preserved. Three, the St. Annenbricke, the Kehr
wiederstegbriicke over the Kehrwiederfleet and
the Brooktorkaibriicke were replaced by younger
bridges after the Second World War. The historic
bridges, as mentioned above, are riveted arched
bridges some of which were equipped with rich-
ly ornamented railings. Situated at the eastern
boundary of the Speicherstadt is the very wide
Poggenmiuhlenbriicke which was built in 1913 and
which has an extra third lattice work arch in the
centre of the carriageway.

c) Street infrastructure

In the west-easterly direction, access to the Spei-
cherstadt is provided by three streets (Kehrwieder/
Brook/Pickhuben — Neuer and Alter Wandrahm — St.
Annenufer/ Hollandischer Brook) which were built
along the two main canals mentioned above wher
ever this was possible. Today, these streets are in-
tersected in the north-south direction by a total of
six streets including the respective bridges. This grid
subdivides the area into fairly regular blocks although
the erratic topography of the islands has led to some
deviations from this pattern. Nearly all of the streets
have retained their original profiles including the orig-
inal granite or porphyry cobbles arranged in rows.
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Along the carriageways of streets there are cobbled
sidewalks nearly everywhere. They are raised above
the street level by the thickness of one layer of cob-
ble. In front of the warehouse blocks sidewalks have
a standard width of 1.5 m to allow sufficient space for
loading and unloading. Inserted into the sidewalks
are steel trap doors covering basement hatches.

Fig. 156:  The modern Kibbelstegbriicke

Fig. 16:

Neuerwegsbrlicke
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Fig. 17.  An example for the Speicherstadt's pavement

Am Sandtorkai and Brooktorkai together form the south-
ern boundary of the Speicherstadt. They have been wid-
ened, tarmacked and now allow multi-lane traffic.

d) Railway tracks

On Am Sandtorkai, in the section between Kehrwied-
ersteg and Kibbelsteg, the old railway tracks have
been preserved. They are embedded in the cobbled
road surface. This is a secondary track that used to
connect the warehouse blocks of the first construc-
tion phase in the south. The original plans envisaged
rail tracks for the entire Speicherstadt which is why
all the street-side loading doors on raised ground
floors are the height of railway platforms.

2.a.1.3 Floor plans and types of construction

a) Ground plans of warehouse blocks and
foundations

When planning and designing the streets and ca-
nals for the Speicherstadt, the idea was to struc-
ture and subdivide the area in such a way as to
create a grid of regular blocks where possible.
However, the irregular topography of the islands
meant that this could not be achieved everywhere.
There was a clear preference for buildings having
a standard depth ranging between 25 and 30 me-
tres, a measurement that buildings erected at a
later date also adhered to. In contrast, there was

no way in which the lengths of warehouse blocks
could have been standardised. Consequently they
vary considerably.

Blocks E, H, O and U from the first and third construc-
tion phases are wedge-shaped with the thinner end at
their eastern end. Block H served mainly as an office
building which is why it has an atrium — the only block
to have one except the second administration building
of Hamburg Free Port Warehouse Association in block
U (third construction phase).

All warehouse blocks rest on 12 metres long pine-
wood trunks. Underneath the fire walls these are ar
ranged in rows, while they form groups in those areas
where interior support pillars rest on them. However,
the loads of those interior pillars are not brought to
bear directly on the groups of between 13 and 26
piles, but instead via pile foundations. The latter con-
sist of clinker columns plus granite and steel slabs lo-
cated beneath basements. These foundations and the
quay walls remained largely intact throughout WWV I,
meaning that they could be used again when recon-
structing the blocks. With the exception of the pile
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Fig. 18:  Section trough block D, first construction
phase



foundations of block O which were renewed when
the multi-storey car park was built there, the entire
Speicherstadt to this day rests on the original founda-
tions that remained intact during WWV II.

b) Fire sections and construction details

» The first construction phase (1885 - 1888, blocks
D-0):

All blocks are subdivided into sections by fire walls.
The fire sections vary in size and can reach surface
areas of up to 800 m2.

The blocks were constructed as skeleton structures
to allow for large non-compartmentalised floor spac-
es that could be used flexibly. The iron pillars and riv-
eted trussed columns — still visible in some cases
— bear the loads of iron joists and double-t-profiled
transverse beams. Wooden floor boards form the
surface in the upper storeys. In block N and the his-
toric eastern section of block O, however, the ceil-
ings are constructed slightly differently in that the
lower storeys of these blocks have been equipped
with so-called Prussian cap vaults.

In most blocks, the iron skeletons have been erected
independently of the outer walls so that the latter
did not really have any load bearing function. Instead,
they provided the shells for the warehouses which
kept their indoor climate constant; something that
was important for the storage of sensitive goods.

Inside those blocks whose fire sections were de-
stroyed during the war, i.e. in blocks D, E, H, L and
M, the historic construction was replaced by rein-
forced concrete support pillars and ceilings, but out-
wardly they were restored and look much the same
as the originals.

The newly built blocks, the eastern part of block G,
the Coffee Exchange and the middle and western
parts of block O also have steel support pillar con-
structions. In addition, some of the new buildings
have a grid facade. Their fire sections all measure
400 square metres.

» The second and third construction phases (1891
— 1927 blocks P - X):

Contrary to those from the first construction phase,
the original fire sections of the blocks built during the
second and third construction phases are of approxi-
mately the same size. Their base area only totals some

Fig. 19:  Construction forms at the Speicherstadt:
a.) Iron construction from the first construction
phase; b.) Wood Construction from the second
and third construction phase; c.) Cast iron pil
lars with metal sheathing from the third
construction phase
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400 m2 This is the result of precautionary measures
taken after a number of warehouse fires in 1891, 1892
and 1894: By reducing the size of fire sections, the
extent of potential damage due to fire was lessened.

Warehouse fires also led to another change, namely
the return to wood as building material for the con-
structive systems of blocks Q/R, S and U which were
built during the second and third construction phas-
es. Sufficiently dimensioned wood will withstand a
fire longer than naked iron. For structural reasons,
the pillars, ceiling joists and beams had to be made
from wood in very substantial dimensions. They are
still visible in many parts of the blocks. In addition to
this precaution, non-combustible ceilings were intro-
duced every second or third storeys.

Due to shortages in wood supply, during the third
construction phase preference was again given to
cast iron support pillars. This concerns warehouse
blocks V, W and X. However, these were now giv-

Fig. 20:

Constructions and building age of the blocks

en a metal or concrete sheathing filled with cork
and plaster. The support pillars take up the loads of
vaulted reinforced concrete ceilings. The more re-
cent part of block W was completely constructed
in this way.

The load-bearing skeletons in blocks P Q, U and W
as well as in the newly built block T are reinforced
concrete constructions as is the case with the blocks
erected during the first construction phase. Blocks P
Q, U and W were reconstructed so they are faithful
replicas of the original buildings.

c) Stairways, access to warehouses and
emergency escape routes

Direct access allowing the merchandise to reach
basements is mostly provided through hatches in
the sidewalk: Steel trap doors were fitted flush into
sidewalks. Goods could be lowered directly into
basements or lifted up through these openings with
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Fig. 21:  Staircase, block V, third construction phase

the help of winches. Additional access to the base-
ments is through separate doors. In the warehouses
erected during the first and second construction
phases, these have been combined with the main
entrances to form two-door portals.

In many of the warehouses the original set-up of
the essential building infrastructure, i.e. staircases,
toilets and shafts for the hydraulic power supply for
winches has survived. This infrastructure is concen-
trated right behind the facades with direct access
from the street via small entrance portals. Stairways
have dual flights with half paced landings. In some
blocks the original design has been preserved, i.e.
access to toilets is provided from these half pace
landings at mezzanine levels between storeys. The
winch shafts lost their original functions when the
use of hydraulically operated winches was discon-
tinued and intermediate ceilings were inserted dur
ing the 1950’s. They are now being used as storage
space for equipment.

The first emergency staircases to be installed in
the Speicherstadt were those on the canal side of
block P (1892). Blocks Q, S, U, V, W and X, erected
during either the second or the third construction
phase, i.e. later, are equipped with so-called "\West-
phalen Towers” These are emergency exits designed
by the then fire safety officer (Branddirektor) Adolf
Libert Westphalen. They take the shape of bay tow-
ers that are higher than the eaves and protrude from
the facade by about half their depth. They serve as
emergency escape routes for two fire sections that
are connected by uninterrupted balconies on every
storey. These balconies also facilitated operations
between neighbouring floor spaces divided by fire
walls. Escape routes led through basements to the
street. No such escape routes were provided on the
canal side of warehouses: The lower end of the bay
towers is one storey above the waterline.

d) Technical installations and equipment of
warehouse blocks

» Winches and loading doors

Each warehouse block has loading doors on its street
and canal sides. They are positioned in vertical axes
one above the other and were designed for the de-
livery to and dispatch from floor spaces (also from
basements on the street side). These vertical axes
are integral design elements of the facades. They
are characteristic of the Speicherstadt. The tops of
these axes are formed by pedimented winch bays
and other roof superstructures interrupting the hori-
zontal line of the eaves.

The winches used for the lifting of the goods to the
loading doors and back are hidden in the warehouse
roofs. The derricks are attached to the gables of the
winch bays. Winches are protected against weather
ing by copper plated gables.

On the outside of the twin loading doors which were
the height of a man and fitted with wooden sliding or
hinged doors, there are round steel rods that extend
over all storeys from ground floor to the roof where
they are connected to the switch boards of winch
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motors. These rods served both as handles for work-
ers operating in the loading doors and as controls
for the winches. The load ropes of the winches con-
sisted of iron wire rope. The hooks for the merchan-
dise were equipped with iron spheres so that wires
would also be taut when load hooks were without
load.

The other elements of the winch system are hidden
from view: Technical details, while essentially being
integral parts of the very modern architecture of the
Speicherstadt, are secondary to the almost medieval
complexion of the warehouse city.

2.a.1.4 The Speicherstadt buildings

The architecture of the warehouse blocks

Irrespective of their age and although they were de-
signed by eight different architectural firms, the faca-
des of the Speicherstadt buildings are consistently
dominated by red brick. Red brick is a building ma-
terial that has traditionally been used in the area of
the Hanseatic League since the Middle Ages. The
master plans for the Speicherstadt having been
drawn up by chief engineer Franz Andreas Meyer (a
scholar of the Hanover School of Architecture which
was popular in Northern Germany during the 19th
century); it developed into a highly uniform district
despite the fact that many different architect firms
were involved in its construction. At the same time,
the warehouses and other buildings offer numerous
variations and their architectural language is reminis-
cent of medieval cities. The Speicherstadt has largely
preserved this character to this day.

The warehouse blocks built before WW | are long
blocks with an almost identical eaves height of some
20 m. They all have red brick facades with similar
structures which, however, contain highly individu-
alised patterns, ornamentations and roof shapes.
The historicised brickwork of the reconstructed
blocks or parts of blocks comes alive through a mul-
titude of effects: Light and shade playfully interact
with relief elements such as shallow projections
(risalto) and bays, attachments and slightly reced-

ing wall sections, pilaster strips, cornices, friezes,
small corbelled blind arches etc. These elements
project or recede from facades by the width of one
brick at most. Also, a polychrome effect is created
through the use of decorative strips and ornaments
part of which are made of bricks in different colours,
glazed bricks and clinker. In addition, materials such
as light-coloured plaster, copper, cut stones and, in
a few rare examples, small coloured glass blocks
and later ceramic tiles produce colourful contrasts
on the fairfaced red brickwork. Generally speaking,
patterns and decorative cut stone elements are very
much the exception in the Speicherstadt buildings.
Their use was limited to particularly exposed parts
of buildings such as the portals or ground floor win-
dow frames. However, more liberal use was made
of these elements in the design of the administra-
tion buildings of the Hamburg Free Port Warehouse
Association.

There are numerous examples of bevelled corners of
buildings which yield space to the street profile thus
almost converting street ends into squares. This el-
egant design feature further emphasizes the facades
and gives them prominence in the surrounding urban
context. Roofs are covered with copper with a green
or brown patina. Roof areas that are not visible were
covered with roofing paper in places.

Some of the damage caused during WW Il can be
seen on the facades of the Speicherstadt buildings.
There were only very few total losses. Where they
occurred, only individual fire sections of buildings
were affected. Destruction was arbitrarily distributed
throughout the Speicherstadt. Some of the damaged
facades display areas in which the brickwork had to
be renewed and is now distinguishable by its slightly
brighter colour although the new bricks blend in har
moniously with the old ones. In other cases whole
sections of wall were replaced taking up the historic
shapes and structures. In other cases whole areas of
facades or complete fire sections right in the middle
of blocks or at their edges were destroyed. In a few
cases the supplementary masonry followed more
modern designs and aligned with the surroundings.
The same can be said of the roof sections.



Fig. 22:  The Speicherstadt picturesque roof area

There are also new blocks that employed the archi-
tectural language of post-war modernism or of more
recent periods (block T, the Coffee Exchange, parts of
block O and the eastern parts of blocks G, R and X).
However, they also gently adapted to their surround-
ings. Such careful consideration throughout the dec-
ades is evidence of the great appreciation the Speich-
erstadt has always enjoyed in Hamburg. To this day,
the impression of the district is one of homogeneity.

Construction phases:

The first construction phase 1885 — 1888

The mostly preserved part of the first construction
phase is delimitated by Kehrwiedersteg in the west
and Kannengiesserort and Neuerwegsbricke in the
east. It has a total length of 600 m. The long rows of
warehouse complexes are situated to the north and
south of a west-easterly axis that is formed by Kehr
wiederfleet/Brooksfleet. Their canal side foundation
walls reach into the water. The five closed blocks D
to O include original sections, sections that were re-
stored faithfully to the historic originals, but also newly
built sections. The facades of the lengthwise terraced

blocks were reconstructed or rebuilt faithfully to the
original designs and mostly follow the same pattern:
Nearly all of them are six storeys high and have gable
roofs, some of which are hipped at the gables.

From the street, the basements of these warehouses
look like clinker semi-basements with uninterrupted
rows of windows. On the canal side, the warehouse
blocks have full storey basements, the floor levels of
which are situated above high tide level. They, too,
are furnished with uninterrupted rows of windows.
Surprisingly, there is hardly any hierarchy regarding
the front and the back facades of warehouses. With
the exception of the main staircases on the street
side, both front and back are almost equally lavishly
executed. Access to the main staircases is often
through two-door portals which are given unobtru-
sive prominence through shallow attachments and
slightly receding wall sections, as well as by being
elevated and the design of the winch dormers above
the eaves tends to be more elaborate. On the water
side, the quay wall, which is at the same time the
outer foundation wall, becomes visible at low tide.
Above this basement is the raised ground floor, the
so-called Raum. This floor was used as office and
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storage space. It constituted the main floor of the
warehouse buildings and its importance was empha-
sized by the comparatively rich polychrome decora-
tive elements on its facade and by its large windows.
The upper four to five storeys are clearly separated
from the Raum by cornices. They have smaller win-
dows. The top storey under the decorative eaves is
again emphasized through a condensed structure
and design. Alternatively, in some blocks it takes the
shape of an attic storey.

The ceiling height of first floors in neighbouring
buildings or fire sections is not always the same.
These height differences between storeys are a
characteristic part of the typical overall horizontal
structure of the facades. They add an element of
liveliness to the long stretches of blocks. In the
vertical dimension window axes are often given a
degree of unity through the addition of shallow re-
ceding wall sections.

The shallow attachments (risalto) framing the ver
tical lines of loading doors extend over the full
height of the warehouses from the ground floor
to the roof section where they end in gable roofs,
i.e. they cut through the friezes of the upper cor
nices. The loading doors recede significantly from
the otherwise aligned facades. They are painted
green or reddish-brown. They have either full sto-
rey height or their lintels are clad with metal plates
with a dark-coloured patina. This creates a dark ver-
tical strip that dominates the facades. This effect
is further emphasised by shallow pilaster strips
that run upward from the second highest storey
to the roof. They lend a sense of rhythm to the
facades and merge with the gables of the winch
bays, much in the style of bay windows. One part
of the gables of the winch bays have mostly lost
their decorative elements after the Second World
War and today appear in a design much simplified
in comparison to pre-war times.

On top of the facades there is a rich diversity of roof
shapes and designs consisting of gables, dormers,
turrets and hipped, sometimes steep roofs, the ma-
jor parts of which are covered with copper with a

green or brown patina. Some roof sections are cov-
ered with roofing paper, dark shingles or pantiles.
The brightly shining green copper of the roof super-
structures can be seen from afar. Blocks D to H, L
and N and the preserved part of the original O block
have high and steep-pitched roofs. It is particularly
the high top edges of fire walls jutting out from roofs
in the warehouses from the first construction phase
that enliven this roof townscape.

The preserved historic staircases appear relatively
simple in design which has to do with the fact that
they had to primarily be substantial and functional. In
most of the warehouses from the first construction
phase there are no wall or floor coverings. Handrails
are made of simple iron profiles. In block H greater
store was set by a prestigious design. The same is
true of those fire sections which primarily housed
offices: Terrazzo floor finishes, ornamented wrought-
iron handrails and, in some cases, tiled walls can
be found there. The optical appearance of the stor
age spaces, which have outlived in an originally pre-
served condition, is dominated by wood flooring and
elutriated, fair faced brickwork of the walls

Description of the individual blocks from the first
construction phase

» Block D

This warehouse block in the western part of the
Speicherstadt is situated on the northern em-
bankment of Kehrwiederfleet between Kehr
wiedersteg and Sandbriicke. Block D has six sto-
reys, but distinguishes itself in terms of design
from other similar blocks by its gabled middle
section, framed by turrets on the viewing side,
i.e. the facade that can be seen from the Cus-
toms Canal, the bridge and the city. Block D is
also the only gable wall complex that does not
have a consistently flush facade. This is due to
the fact that several architects were involved in
its construction: The section east of the offset is
the former state-owned warehouse with adjoin-
ing customs clearance building. After the war, fire
sections D1 and D6, as well as the upper part of
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Block D, view from southwest

Fig. 23:

Block L, view from southeast

Fig. 24:
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the western gable, was reconstructed faithfully
according to the historic design while the eastern
was rebuilt in the 1950s as an unadorned punctu-
ated brickwork facade. New concrete staircases
and new concrete ceilings with wood floorings
were added. They replaced the original ceilings to
allow for new uses such as cultural and commer-
cial (other than storage) activities. Rows of roof-
top windows were inserted into the ridge of the
copper covered gable roof.

» Block L

Across the canal from block D is block L. It was
the first of the warehouses from the first con-
struction phase on the southern embankment
of Kehrwiederfleet. It is the most homogeneous
block from that period: The facades of this six sto-
rey building feature decorative elements such as
decorative strips consisting of ornaments made
of yellow bricks. The vertical axes of entrances
are emphasized by shallow pedimented projec-
tions (risalto). The steep-pitched roof is hipped at
the ends. Built into the eastern gable is a stair
case tower crowned with a pyramid-shaped roof.
Fire sections L31, L34 and L35 were restored
faithfully according to the historic design. When
rebuilding the south-easterly corner of block L,
the year of reconstruction was inserted into the
wall with yellow bricks just like the year 1888 was
inserted at the south-westerly corner of the build-
ing when it was first built.

» Block E

This warehouse block is situated on the north-
ern embankment of Brooksfleet between Sand-
bricke and Kibbelsteg and has been largely pre-
served. Block E is wedge-shaped with its eastern
end being much shallower than its western part.
Its fire sections vary with regard to their eaves
height and the number of storeys: They alternate
between six and seven storeys, i.e. some sec-
tions of block E have more storeys than the other
warehouses from the first construction phase.
The north-westerly bevelled corner of block E

Fig. 25:  Block E, view from Northwest

pointing towards Brooksbriicke is given promi-
nence through its extra storey with a cantile-
vered balcony and its high gable with a relief of
the Hamburg coat of arms. As evidenced by the
larger window sizes, this part of the building was
primarily designed for office use. For the rest, the
facade follows the structures and patterns typi-
cal of the first construction phase. The first and,
exceptionally, the second upper floor are empha-
sized by decorative strips and patterns created
with small green glass blocks. The damaged parts
of the facade of block E were reconstructed faith-
fully according to the historic design but for the
decorative elements made of small green glass
blocks. Above the entrances on the northern side
one can find inserted reliefs of warehouse work-
ers, created by Hans Twesten in 1966.



» The Boiler House

Across from Brooksfleet is the detached Boiler House
which is situated along a west-easterly axis. Its middle
section is a one-storey building with a fairfaced brick fa-
cade with large arcade windows with low vaults. It has
a gable roof and is terraced lengthwise. It sits between
two higher buildings: To the west is the picturesque
three-storey residential building for technical staff which
has a high roof. To the east lies a three-storey building
that is reminiscent of a fortified tower from the Middle
Ages. On the canal side and behind the two buildings
that flank the Boiler House are two very high plinths
upon which two lattice tower chimneys were erected
in 2000. They follow the design of the original chimneys
at that location. The openings in the Boiler House, its
decorative and structural elements are made of glazed
clinker, red brick and sandstone.
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Fig. 26:  Boiler House, view from south

Next to the Boiler House, but detached from it by
an open space, are the neighbouring blocks M and
N including the Central Power House. Together, the
Central Power House and the Boiler House constitute
what used to be the operations centre of the ware-
house district. It provided both the hydraulic power
for the winches and the electricity for the whole Spei-
cherstadt. Because of their status as state-owned
buildings, they were given a distinctive design: They
are characterised by a design language that straddles
Romanticism and the Early Gothic style while at the
same time being within the range of the Hanover
School of Architects. Even so, their design is robust
which clearly defines them as examples of the Wil-
helmine technical style and subtly distinguishes them
from the other warehouse buildings.
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» Blocks M and N

As mentioned above, to the east of the Boiler House
is the building complex consisting of the former Cen-
tral Power House and blocks M and N. The former
Central Power House is the westernmost part of the
complex. With its four storeys it is much lower than
the adjoining warehouse block. The lengthwise ter
raced complex with a gently-pitched gable roof was
constructed in such a way that it could house machin-
ery in the one-and-a-half storey hall on the ground
floor. The upper storeys were for storage. Parts of
the ground floor hall dates from the previous building
in the same spot which burnt down in 1891: This was
a state-owned warehouse built in 1888 which, like its
successor, was designed and used for the operation
of machinery. The facade of the semi-basement zone
is opened up by high arcaded windows. This type of
base of level is typical of the warehouse buildings
in the Speicherstadt: It is emphasized by decorative
strips and distinguished from the next storey by an

ornamental frieze of green tiles with the Hamburg
coat of arms and the Prussian eagle. The attic under
the gently-pitched gable roof is disguised by a mas-
sive round-arched frieze. The decorative structural
elements are made of green glazed clinker, brick,
sandstone or copper. In some wall sections addi-
tional loading doors have replaced earlier windows.
In others, these loading doors were inserted into the
walls to provide for better access to the extra stor
age space that had been created by the construction
of another floor of semi-storey height in the machine
hall when it no longer housed machinery. The west-
ern half of the building was severely hit during the
war and never reconstructed. The gable wall is at the
same time the fire wall which is why it is quite un-
structured. The floor plan of the missing part of the
building has been marked on the ground. This area
has not been built on again.

With its more pronounced polychrome yet unobtru-
sive design the Central Power House is clearly dis-

Fig. 27:  Block M/N with Central Power House, view from southwest



tinguished from block M. The latter is rather plain,
but has six, in places seven storeys where the top
storey recedes from the front and is smaller in size.
This makes the top of block M jut out from the rest
of the other blocks around it thereby deviating from
the norm. The lower part of the facade on the street
side has been preserved almost intact in its original
design. However, from the third storey upward much
of the facade was supplemented or rebuilt in the de-
sign language of the 1950s: This is true of the entire
western part of the facade and a large part of the
canal side facade. The latter, while also predominant-
ly in 1950s style, takes up some historic elements
such as the axes of loading doors and windows,
brickwork attachments and pedimented winch bays.
In the process of the restoration of block M, on its
south side, the lower storey parts of the facade from
the predecessor building were integrated. They are
accentuated by decorative strips consisting of dark
red clinkers. Three, and in places four storeys were
added to this fragment of a building in a modern

Fig. 28:  Block M/N from southeast

style. The punctuated facades observe a strict and
unadorned design. The coppercovered winch bays
are a particularly striking free interpretation of the
historic models. With their small and regularly posi-
tioned windows, the newly built facades are typical
reflections of the architectural handwriting of Werner
Kallmorgen, who masterminded the reconstruction
of the Speicherstadt. The regularity of patterns and
window sizes lends an element of tranquillity to the
severely damaged historic facade.

Directly adjacent to section M is the six-storey part
of block N which has survived mostly intact. The
distinctive features of the lower parts of its facade
exceptionally extend to the second upper storey —
elsewhere in the Speicherstadt they tend to be lim-
ited to the ground floor. This underlines the fact that
block M was not just a warehouse, but that it was
also used as office space, something which is addi-
tionally brought home by the above average window
size in the second upper storey. In block M, the load-
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ing doors and small windows typical of most ware-
houses are only found from the third floor up. Block
M is also conspicuous by its light-coloured plaster
exteriors in the top floors.

» Block G

Directly on the north embankment of Brooksfleet
and between Kibbelsteg and Pickhuben/Neuer-
wegbrlcke is block G. West of it lies the Coffee
Exchange.

The western half of block G has been mostly pre-
served in its original condition. Following the typi-
cal structural set-up of the first construction phase
it has six storeys. Only individual bricks or stones
have been replaced and small sections repaired.
The eastern half of the building was destroyed
during the war and two separate new buildings
were erected in its place in the 1950s. Right
next to and east of the fire sections that were
preserved, is a cube-shaped, seven-storey office
building erected in 1954/55. It features a stepped-

Fig. 29:  Block G, view from southwest

back top storey and a red brick grid facade that is
flush with the historic part of the block. Between
the office building and the Coffee Exchange (built
between 1954 and 1956) is a free space. The Cof-
fee Exchange extends along the embankment of
Brooksfleet and constitutes the easternmost end
of this complex.

» Coffee Exchange

The Coffee Exchange consists of three intercon-
nected, low buildings. They are cube-shaped and
distinct both in terms of their design and function.
At the western end of the Coffee Exchange is a
two-storey former bank building which recedes
from the embankment to make room for parking
spaces. In addition, the ground floor which opens
out to the embankment serves as an indoor park-
ing facility. In contrast to the administration build-
ing to the east of it, the Coffee Exchange is a
reinforced concrete skeleton construction with
a facing of sandstone tiles. The administration
building is a simple four storey brick building with




an unstructured punctuated facade and a flat roof.
The easternmost section of the complex, which
actually constitutes the main part of this group of
buildings, houses the two storey trading floor. It
has a vaulted roof. This section is markedly differ-
ent from the other historic buildings in the vicin-
ity. Like the building mentioned above, its ground
floor serves as an indoor parking facility. It has
a sandstone facing. The eastern gable front is
the main side visible from the surrounding street
area and from a distance. There is a low exten-
sion building with large glass surfaces that pro-
trudes from the main building like an alcove. It
is distinguished by its dark colour. The extension
adds natural light and, when lit from the inside
during the hours of darkness, creates a vivid ef-
fect through the coloured glass window inserted
in its top section by the Hamburg-based artisan
glaziers Kuball.

The interior of the Coffee Exchange has mostly
been preserved. It contains very original ele-
ments: the coloured glass window mentioned
above, which shows Brazilian coffee pickers; a
group of clocks displaying the local times of Rio de
Janeiro, Hamburg and New York; the lobby zone at
the entrance with its glass door in an aluminium
frame. The linoleum floor covering and the mirror
with its dark tropical wood frame suspended from
the ceiling lend a special aesthetic note to the
hall. There are numerous additional original ele-
ments. Even the blackboards, where coffee prices
were noted down, have been preserved. Thanks

Fig. 31:  Ground plan of the Coffee Exchange, second floor

Fig. 30:  The Coffee Exchange, view from east with the
pedestrian bridges to blocks O and H

Fig. 32:  The great hall of the Coffee Exchange with its
stained-glass window
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to many authentic pieces of equipment contained
in the adjoining rooms, they, too, have kept much
of their 1950s aesthetic. This group of buildings is
currently being rehabilitated and restructured for
new uses.

There are two elevated, closed pedestrian bridges
built in the post-war period which connect the Coffee
Exchange with blocks O (south of Brooskfleet) and H
(north of block G). The office building part of block G
is also connected by such a bridge.

» Block O and the first administration building
of HFLG (Hamburg Free Port Warehouse
Association)

Exactly opposite, on the south embankment of
Brookfleet, is block O. It is a wedge-shaped, long
block, the thin end of which points eastward.
Block O consists of the multi-storey car park built
by the architects von Gerkan, Marg und Partner
(gmp) in 2003/04, an office building, erected be-
tween 1955 and 1958, the segment of a historic

2

Fig. 33:  Block O, view from southeast

warehouse and the first administration building of
the Hamburg Free Port Warehouse Association in
the east.

The fairfaced brick facade of the cube-shaped and
flat-roofed multi-storey car park with nine floors
takes up some structures and design elements of
the older warehouse buildings, e.g. the vertical lines
of the loading doors and the coppercovered winch
bays with their horizontal tops.

Further to the east is an elegant steel frame construc-
tion with eight storeys built to the designs of Werner
Kallmorgen between 1955 and 1958. Its stepped-
back top floor has a flat roof and faithfully emulates
the overall structures and shapes of the complex.
It follows the curve of Brooksfleet canal. The flush
breast aprons (beneath the windows) in the dark-
faced grid facade have infill panels of red brickwork.
On the ground floor, the facade is structured by a grid
of facing bricks — a design that was later taken up
by the neighbouring multi-storey car park. The slight
curvature of the facade creates a subtle dynamism.




Still part of the same complex and yet further to
the east lies a section of block O that has been
preserved in the original condition, thus creating a
fascinating tension and contrast with the adjacent
building. It has five storeys and is almost identical
with block N. As the three lower floors are used as
office space, the canal side facade of this building
is punctuated by large windows. The steel frame
construction has been clad, at least on the lower
storeys. On the north-east corner there is a tower
which provides a harmonious transition to the di-
rectly adjoining first administration building of the
Hamburg Free Port Warehouse Association. This
tower constitutes the eastern end of block O.

The picturesque brickwork facade of the adminis-
tration building, with its five storeys and its sand-
stone structure, is a fine example of a combination
of Gothic and Nordic Renaissance style elements:
Its turrets, loggias, bays and the steep-pitched roof
covered with copper confer a special presence
upon the relatively small building, which is further
enhanced by its location on the square around

Fig. 34:  Block O with the first administration building of
the HFLG (Hamburg Free Port Warehouse
Association)

St.Annen. The loggia on the north-east corner of
the administration building provides for a break of
continuity. Above it there is a recess with a sculp-
ture of Saint Anne and her daughter Mary. They
commemorate the St. Annen chapel which used to
be on the Brookinseln (the name of the sculptor is
not known). The liberal use of sandstone and the
prominence given to the Bel Etage (raised ground
floor) are a clear indication of the high status of
this administration building among Speicherstadt
buildings. The staircase, with a wooden spiral
stairway, banisters of cast iron and wooden hand-
rails, has been preserved in its original condition.

» Block H

To the north of block G and located between the
Brook and Pickhuben streets and Kleines Fleet (small
canal) is block H. Its floor plan is almost triangular. It
has an atrium and used to be an office building com-
plete with storage space. It resembles the warehous-
es built around the same time in terms of its number
of storeys, the set-up of its facades and its overall
decorative appearance. The five or six storey high fa-
cades are emphasized by decorative strips made of
glazed green bricks and unassuming cut stone de-
tails. Its shallow bays and projections (risalto), the
diversified roof architecture, which includes hipped,
steep-pitched sections, stepped-back gables, ridge
ornaments and a towershaped corner bay, bestow a
prestigious note upon the building. The atrium is plas-
tered in light colours with structural elements made of
red brick. The usual loading door vertical lines exist, but
the doors have been replaced by windows. There are
three round-arched gates with cross-rib vaults which
provide access from the block to the adjacent streets
and to Kleines Fleet canal. The western fire section at
6, Pickhuben was restored closely modelled on the
original building. However, the steep-pitched roof was
replaced by an extra storey with a flat roof.

The second construction phase 1891 — 1896
The second construction phase covers a relatively

small area. Its two blocks P and Q/R (including the
formerly privately-operated warehouse) are situated
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Fig. 35:  Block H, view from northeast

between Kannengiesserort and Bei St. Annen and
along the south and north embankment of Wan-
drahmsfleet, which begins there. Block P is an iron
construction, but block Q/R was one of the ware-
houses with a load bearing structure built with wood,
which was the new trend at the time.

The facades of these five to seven storey high buildings
are either preserved in their historic versions or have
been reconstructed in a way that closely resembles the
originals. They take up large parts of the structural and
design patterns of the first construction phase. Howev-
er, facades are now higher: From the second phase on-
wards nearly all warehouses were equipped with two
more storeys. This does not impair the integral quality of
the Speicherstadt though, because the ridge height is
not increased significantly: While the eaves height was
raised to allow for the extra two stories, warehouses
were now built with flat instead of gabled roofs. The ex
tra storage space offered by these two extra full storeys
meant that more goods could be stored. Consequently,
the facades of the warehouses built during the second
construction phase have a larger surface area, which
had an effect on their structural organisation: It was no

longer just the ground floor, but also the first upper floor
that were given a distinctive design. Staircases were
also given more prominence than in the buildings from
the previous phase through the slightly receding facade
sections they are inserted into. On the canal side, the
buildings of the second construction phase were the
first to be equipped with Westphalen towers.

As was the case with the warehouses from the first
construction phase, a few from the second phase
which suffered damaged during the war were re-
constructed in a simplified design, for example re-
garding the pedimented winch bays. The size of fire
sections was kept approximately equal at up to 400
square metres, but fire walls lost much of their de-
sign ambitions. Instead, in some blocks there were
now ornamental iron balustrades at the eaves. In the
warehouses from the second and third construction
phases the staircases or at least the entrance lob-
bies are tiled with terrazzo or other tile floorings. The
stairways have wrought-iron banisters.



Fig. 36:  Block P view from southeast

Description of the individual warehouse blocks
from the second construction phase

» Block P

The homogeneous block P is situated north of Wand-
rahmfleet. Those fire sections that were damaged
during the war were reconstructed very faithfully
to the original. They retain the six storeys typical of
the warehouses from the first construction phase.
Block P is not conspicuous among the diversity of
the warehouse buildings although it features yellow
brick decorative strips and some of its copperplated
winch canopy roofs even carry small ornamental stee-
ples. Above the entrances in block P there are figures
representing the crafts and sectors of industry that
had their seat there. The sculptor was Hans Twesten
and his figures are from 1966. The middle segment
looks as if an attic storey reminiscent of historic de-
signs might have been added during reconstruction.
The only special design features of block P are its
bevelled north-easterly corner facing the Jungfern-
bricke, its three vertical window lines and the axis
of loading doors on the western gable. The eastern

gable front with a hipped roof was rebuilt using mod-
ern shapes and designs from the post-war period. It
was built from rubble. Together with the east facade
of the neighbouring block Q/R, it forms a uniform suc-
cession of facades along St. Annen. Today the rooms
are designed with partially open iron trusses and iron
ceiling joists.

» Block Q/R

Block Q/R is situated on the southern embankment
of Wandrahmsfleet opposite block P The structure of
the facade of this block, which is the westernmost
of this section, follows the classical example, except
that it has seven storeys. The vertical axis of the loa-
ding doors on its western gable front is a striking fea-
ture of block Q/R. Such a vertical line is also found
in the neighbouring block P Even more conspicuous,
however, is the addition of the so-called canal side
Westphalen Towers, a new type of construction that
served as emergency escape routes and connected
two fire sections. These semi-circular bay towers are
situated between the vertical lines formed by loading
doors and extend all the way up into the roof section.
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Fig. 37:  Block Q/R, view from south

This relief structure adds liveliness to the facade pat-
terns typical of the first construction phase. Block Q
is also special in that it has a metal roof balustrade
mounted on the eaves of the gently-pitched roof. In-
side, the wooden joists, beams and supports are visi-
ble in places.

Rightinthe centre of an uninterrupted row of warehouse
blocks is the eight storey private coffee warehouse ow-
ned by Hanssen & Studt. Formally it belongs to block R
(R 3). The winch bays at the top end of the two loading
door vertical lines have horizontal roofs. The section of
the facade above the top storey has undergone hea-
vy repair, in the course of which elements have been
supplemented that imitate historic designs. The winch
bays form a frame around an exceptionally wide sec-
tion of receding wall with the shape of a pointed arch
that encompasses three vertical axes of windows. In
the area of the arch there is a polychrome tile mosaic
ornament. The receding wall section displays traces of
a former exterior stairway that was removed. Similar to
the canal side facade of block M, the canal side of this
building has an unadorned, punctuated facade erected
in the 1950s. It has the same axis measurements as
the predecessor facade and its top end is flat.

The western half of block R was largely spared from de-
struction during the war. It is aligned with the neighbou-
ring privately-owned warehouse in terms of its eaves
height. Above the eaves cornice, its seventh floor ends

Fig. 38:  Block R, view from east

in a one-storey lateral turret, which is part of a very gent-
ly-pitched gabled roof that is quite inconspicuous. The
common structural patterns of the HFLG-warehouse
are mostly taken up again, but there is no winch bay
of the usual type. Instead, the coppercovered canopy
roof sits on a window-less top storey aligned with the
loading doors. On the canal side, however, there is the
usual winch bay. Another special feature of block R is
the three-piece sandstone frame around the windows
on the sixth floor. Inside block R the wooden support
structures and some of the wooden floor boards have
been preserved. The load bearing ceiling structures are
visible and it is possible to experience the very substan-
tial wooden beams and joists.



The eastern half of block R consists of the new cube-
shaped office building built to designs by Werner Kall-
morgen between 1952 and 1953. It has a flush facade
and seven storeys. As a result of the partially receding
ground floor, the grid facade made of red brick forms
a dark backdrop into which are inserted green window
frames. The facade terminates above another rece-
ding storey with a gallery of white pillars. Being situ-
ated across from the second administration building
of the Hamburg Free Port Warehouse Association,
the latter’s cubature, number of axes and, in an abs-
tract sense, the highly differentiated structures of the
ground floor, with its large deeply receding openings
and the gallery at roof level, are taken up by block R.
At least when looking from a distance, the delicate
window panes resemble those of the administration
building of the Hamburg Free Port Warehouse Associ-
ation. Inside this part of block R, the central black-and-
white floor mosaic has been preserved on the ground
floor as has the continuous Paternoster elevator.

The third construction phase 1899 - 1927

The buildings erected during the third construction
phase are located in the area that extends from
St.Annen to the easternmost point of the Speicher
stadt. This area is divided by two canals in a west-
easterly direction: the Wandrahmsfleet to the north
and Hollandischbrookfleet to the south. It is further
subdivided into two complexes by the Dienerreihe
which runs perpendicular to the canals in a north-
south direction. Along these canals are situated
six warehouse blocks, the majority of which are
lengthwise terraced. Blocks S through X are long
warehouse blocks, some used for special purpos-
es. Also in this area are the detached fire station,
the detached Winch Operators’ House and, on the
northern and eastern edges, a group of buildings
consisting of the four buildings of the St. Annen and
Ericus customs authorities.

Compared to the other areas of the Speicherstadt,
the buildings erected during the third construc-
tion phase suffered relatively minor damage dur-
ing the war. The only exception is block T which
had to be demolished entirely and replaced by a

new building. The remaining warehouses were
restored almost to their historic originals if they
needed repair at all. As a rule, the lengthwise ter-
raced warehouse buildings from the third con-
struction phase have seven storeys. On the canal
side, they are equipped with towers. Their gently-
pitched gable roofs are mostly hipped at the ga-
bles. The structure and design of facades and the
constructive set-up of the buildings do not differ
much from those of the first and, even less from
those of the second construction phase. Vis-a-
vis the buildings from the previous construction
phases, the winch bays were built larger. They
form roof sections of their own behind the or
namental gables. The picturesque effect of fire
walls jutting out from roofs that is common else-
where in the Speicherstadt is less pronounced in
this complex. To compensate for this deficiency,
some blocks have ornamental balustrades on top
of the eaves.

Description of the individual warehouse blocks
from the third construction phase

» Block S

To the north of Wandrahmfleet is the seven-sto-
rey block S, which was hardly damaged during the
war and which therefore has kept its very homo-
geneous, richly ornamented brickwork architec-
ture. The idea of bevelled corners was used twice
in this block, namely on the north-west corner
facing the Kornhausbricke, and in a south-easter-
ly direction at the confluence of Wandrahmsfleet
and Customs Canal. These viewing sides are giv-
en prominence by lavish gable designs including
turrets and bays. This is particularly true of the
north-west corner of the complex. However, the
other brickwork facades are also accentuated by
decorative strips made of yellow brick and/or or-
namented tiles. The pointed arches of the gables
of winch bays have a tile facing. Cut stone details
lend a noble air to the entrance areas. The street
facade overlooking the Customs Canal and fac-
ing the city centre is also emphasized through its
high central risalto bay with three axes and an
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Fig. 39:  Block S, view from southwest

exceptionally rich ornamental gable. On the ca-
nal side, there are Westphalen towers, typical by
this time (third construction phase). On the ca-
nal side, the ornamentation of balustrades is a
little subdued at the eaves sides. Inside block S,
the load bearing ceiling structures made of wood
have been preserved and are open to view.

The lower storeys of the western fire sections
were designed for office use, which explains the
large windows, some of which are supported by
cast iron pillars. In 1962, the upper storeys of this
building were also converted into offices. While
the historic skeleton construction and core ac-
cesses were maintained, new lift shafts and toi-
lets were added. In the course of the conversion,
some of the pillars supporting the dome-shaped
windows in the upper storeys were removed to
provide for more indoor light.
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Block T, view from northwest



» Block T

This short block, situated to the east of the water-
way linking up with the Customs Canal, was built
to designs by Werner Kallmorgen between 1965
and 1967 It is a newly built office building con-
sisting of four storeys and a flat roof. The ground
floor facade made of concrete forms the basis,
above which is red brickwork with a horizontal
top. All of the window axes of the unadorned
window pairs which recede slightly into the wall
were placed off centre. They seem to lean down-
ward and to one side which creates something
of a picturesque effect. As a result of having the
same storey height as block S to its west and by
way of the materials used, block T establishes a
connection with and cross-reference to the archi-
tecture of the Speicherstadt.

Fig. 41:  The second administration building of HFLG as head building of block U

» Block U

To the south of Wandrahmfleet is block U. It is
situated between St. Annen und Dienerreihe. Its
western end is the second administration build-
ing of HFLG which was built to designs of the ar-
chitects Hansen & Meerwein between 1902 and
1904. Block U is a five storey red brick building
with structural elements made of sandstone and
rich decorative detail from the Art Nouveau-Re-
naissance period and some stylistic elements bor-
rowed from the late Gothic period. It has a highly
diversified rooftop structure. Block U is clearly set
off from the adjoining warehouse architecture. The
building, which still houses the Hamburg Port and
Logistics plc (HHLA, the successor organization to
HFLG), is considerably than the first administration
building opposite. But because the building is so
exposed, it boasts three viewing sides, which are
brought fully to bear by its location on the open
space around St. Annenbrlcke.
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Fig. 42:  Block U from southeast with electric substation

The structure of this, the second administration build-
ing, focuses more on symmetrical axes than the first,
which was more picturesque. Its historicised system
of decorations decidedly departs from the shapes and
forms of the Hanover School of Architects. As a re-
sult of their high bays, balconies, loggia-like arcades,
richly ornamented gables, turrets, etc., the facades
and roofs of block U present a lively relief structure.
Also, through the alternation of brickwork, the use of
light-coloured sandstone for the frames around the
punctuated parts of the facade, other additional deco-
rative elements, the copperplating of the numerous
turrets and the clock tower, block U shows a great
range of colours. The bevelled south-easterly corner,
which is crowned and dominated by the clock tower,
is the most prominent part of the facade. The tower
is a simplified version of the Hamburg City Hall tower.
The distinguished and rich forms of this building epito-
mize the high status of the Speicherstadt: This build-
ing served as the administration centre of the district
and was popularly called the Rathaus der Speicher
stadt (city hall). It is here that visitors can best experi-
ence the imposing architecture of the Speicherstadt.

The quadrangular atrium in the middle of the building
was covered with glass in 2002. A lift was also added.
The interior equipment and furnishings are expres-
sions of the then incipient Art Nouveau style. They
have mostly survived.

The warehouse east of and directly adjacent to the
administration building takes up the typical shapes
and designs of other warehouses. An additional ele-
ment is the attic storey, part of which is grafted on to
the main structure. The richly designed winch bays are
bigger than in the warehouses from the previous con-
struction phases. Together with the ornamental ga-
bles and the Westphalen Towers, they create a lively
relief roof structure. The top of the eastern gable wall,
which is flush with the former electrical transformer
substation, was given a dark copper facing.

The substation building housed the electric power
plant for the eastern part of the Speicherstadt. It was
designed to both accommodate machinery and serve
as storage space. With its four storeys, the eaves
height of this bare brickwork building has always been
lower than that of the warehouse part of block U. The



dark red facade again took up some of the structural
patterns and decorative designs of the North German
clinker Gothic style as interpreted by the Hanover
School of Architects. Such elements were used in the
Central Power House built during the first construc-
tion phase (untreated or glazed green brick, slate and
sandstone). These design elements are supplement-
ed by light-coloured plaster attachments, tower bays
and a stairway gable on the eastern side. The high
windows of the former machine hall, which extend
over one-and-a-half storeys, were adopted without
any alterations. The upper storeys of the substation
were also designed for storage, so they do not dif-
fer much from the other warehouses, except for their
lower height. The flat metal roof and the eastern ga-
ble, which were built to replace damaged parts, are
simplified versions dating back to the 1980s. In the
meantime, a modern intermediate ceiling has been
inserted into the machine hall.

» Manned fire alarm station (Fleetschldsschen)

At the south-westerly end of Hollandischbrookfleet,
immediately next to St. Annenbriicke, is the former
manned fire alarm station. Sitting on the quay wall
and free-standing, it occupies a very picturesque po-
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Fig. 44:  BlockV, view from southeast

Fig. 43:  The ,Fleetschlésschen’ former manned fire
alarm station

sition. The fire reporting station is popularly called
Fleetschldsschen (Little Castle on the Canal). The
lengthwise-terraced one-storey building has a gable
roofand a gabled central risalto bay and is also inspired
by the rich design language of the Hanover School of
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Architects. Its cantilever back projects out over the quay
wall. It is supported by three free-standing round pillars
forming a small arcade loggia. There are two symmetri-
cally positioned stairways leading down to the water
and the loggia in Baroque style. This ensemble has an
immediate visual connection with the accentuated cor
ner of the second administration building. It acts as a
frame around the widened section of the canal, thus
creating the impression of a square on the water.

» Block V

To the east of the fire reporting station is block V.
This block has seven storeys and a uniform design.
Its red brick facades are lavishly structured by hori-
zontal decorative strips of green bricks and Gothic
style corbelled blind arches made of light-coloured
stones. Beneath the main ledge there is an attic zone
with arched windows. The many different shapes of
windows, among them oculi in the corbelled blind
arches, add a lively note to the facades. The west-
ernmost entrance is highlighted by its Art Nouveau
elements (including the year “1907" which figures in
them). The roof zone, made up of a flat roof, is some-
what more monumental than in earlier neighbouring
buildings: There are large stepped gables in front
of the winch bays, Westphalen Towers with conical
broach roofs and, a first, high rooftop tower with
bent spires. All of this enlivens the roof structure.
Inside, the storage floors are supported by round pil-
lars encased in metal cylinders. They carry a vaulted
pre-stressed concrete ceiling.

» Block W

East of Dienerreihe and on the northern embank-
ment of Wandrahmsfleet is block W, which was de-
signed exclusively for storage. It was built in two
stages.

Its western part, erected in 1904, corresponds to the
usual warehouse design: It has seven storeys, VWest-
phalen Towers on the canal side, large winch bays,
in this case with a half-hipped roof, and metal orna-
ments above the eaves which provide early evidence
of a trend towards Art Nouveau.

The eastern part, erected in 1927 while remaining
faithful to the structural elements typical of the other
warehouses with their loading door vertical lines,
Westphalen Towers and their seven storeys all reach-
ing about the same eaves height, is the expression of
a completely different design approach: This part of the
building leaves historicism behind and embraces Mod-
ernism. This is the first part of a warehouse block in
which, instead of red brick, the material used for the
entire outside is the darker clinker stone, so typical of
the time. The style employed is rigorous and sober, the
focus being on functionality. The pillared facade is rigor
ously structured, producing a rooftop silhouette similar
to that of the Chilehaus, with which it communicates
across the lower customs buildings on Alter Wandrahm.
However, there are also expressionist elements (e.g.
the canopies of the winch bays). The comparatively flat
roof structure is not given much prominence. The strict
vertical orientation of wall attachments, the receding
lattice windows and the clinker facing seem to echo
the Chilehaus and, even more so, the Messberghof
office buildings which were built five and three years
earlier respectively. The bevelled south-easterly corner
of this part of block W is oriented towards these two
Kontorhauser. Despite the differences described, the
homogeneity of the Speicherstadt is not impaired by
this main structure, but is instead progressively main-
tained by modern means.

Fig. 45:  Block W, view from southeast



Fig. 46:  Block W, view from southwest

The reinforced concrete pillars inside block W are not
merely functional: They have a contemporary polygon-
shaped cross-section and their tops resemble capitals.

» Block X

The seven-storey block X (1908-1912) on the opposite
southern embankment of Hollandischbrookfleet is also
characterised by the structural elements typical of the
warehouses of the Speicherstadt: However, despite
the usual roof top turrets with a square floor plan and
pyramid-shaped roofs, the architectural language em-
ployed is clearly moving away from the historicising
Hanover School of Architects and instead towards mod-
ern shapes and designs. \While at the eaves this block
is still decorated with historicising semi-circular friezes,
the rest of the ornamental elements of the facade dis-
play abstract geometrical shapes. This is very much in
line with the contemporary trends around 1910.

This block was erected as the easternmost end point
of the southern row of warehouse buildings. It is a new
six-storey office building with an additional stepped-
back storey. It was built to designs by the architects

Fig. 47:  Block X, view from northwest
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von Gerkan, Marg und Partner (gmp) on behalf of HHLA
and completed in 2002. The design of this cube-shaped
building with fairfaced brickwork facades remains with-
in the required block dimensions and respects the pre-
scribed height of the buildings in the vicinity. On both
the street and canal sides, it communicates with the
office buildings from the 1950s and 1960s further to
the west in the Speicherstadt.

» Winch operators’ house (Little \Water Castle)

Between blocks W and X, on the Tip of the island
between the confluence of Wandrahmsfleet and
Hollandischbrookfleet, is the so-called Wasser
schlésschen (Little Water Castle). It used to house
the winch operators. It is a picturesquely positioned
three-storey residential building with a brickwork fa-
cade in the neo-Gothic style as interpreted by the
Hanover School of Architects. Because of its loca-
tion, it is one of the Points de Vue of the third con-
struction phase, particularly seen from the Poggen-
muhlenbriicke. The design of this compact house
with a hipped roof is appropriately lavish: There are
alternating decorative strips made of brownish-
green glazed bricks, curved mirrors and structural
elements made of granite that accentuate the brick-
work facades. A small clock tower and a bay give

Fig. 48:  "Little Water Castle’/ view from southwest

the building its picturesque outline. The former re-
pair workshop and the garage on the ground floor
now accommodate a restaurant. At the back of the
Wasserschldsschen is a two-storey functional build-
ing with a brickwork facade and jamb wall, which
was built during the 1930s.

» The customs buildings on Alter Wandrahm

On the northern edge of the Speicherstadt, i.e. be-
tween St. Annen in the west and Poggenmihle in
the east, between the Customs Canal in the north
and Alter Wandrahm in the south, lie the buildings
of the St. Annen customs authority. There are a
total of four buildings built in the years 1899 and
1900. They are two-storey buildings with broad bas-
es and brickwork facades. Between each of them
there are roads wide enough to allow drays to turn
around there. The buildings are positioned in a long
row, vary in length, but are lengthwise terraced
and all have gable roofs. They are set back from the
canal for reasons of accessibility. Despite these in-
terruptions, the impression of a long, continuous
block is created, which can be appreciated from the
city centre or, even better, from the opposite Kon-
torhausviertel. This impression is further enhanced
and supported by blocks S, T and W which are south
of the customs buildings and parallel with them. Al
of the customs buildings have the same depth and
a relatively rigorous symmetry. They take their in-
spiration from the rich design language of the Hano-
ver School of Architects, with its bias towards poly-
chrome decorative elements.

The Customs Head Office at 17-18, Alter Wandrahm
has a rigorously symmetrical set-up and, with its
three to four storeys, is the highest of this group of
buildings. Its facade is structured by shallow projec-
tions (risalto), the lateral ones on the canal side be-
ing interrupted by high slit-shaped lancet windows.
The main structure of the building has largely been
preserved in the original condition. In the area of
the heightened central risalto projection, the ground
floor is broken up by a drive-through passage (gate)
from the 1950s. During post-war reconstruction, an
attic storey was substituted for the steep-pitched
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Fig. 49:  The customs buildings on the Customs Canal, view from northeast

roof structure of pre-war times. There are plans to
rehabilitate the Customs Head Office and to restore
the historic roof structure.

The Costums Head Office building at 17-18, Alter
Wandrahm is flanked by two customs clearance
buildings, which are almost like identical twins. One
is situated to the west of the Head Office at 15-16,
Alter Wandrahm, the other to its east at 19-20, Alter
Wandrahm. On the canal side, the ground floors of
these three-storey buildings are dominated by an un-
interrupted loading platform construction (with sev-
eral axes) roofed with a series of gable-shaped cano-
pies. Behind these elements is the ancient customs
hall, opened by arcades on cast columns, which
nowadays are enclosed by a modern glass construc-
tion. At both ends of the loading platforms the two
buildings terminate in transverse extensions with
projecting corners and stepped gables. The eastern
end of the easternmost building is also equipped
with a polychrome corner bay. In front of the west
gable of the western building is a one-storey, semi-
circular pavilion from the early post-war reconstruc-
tion phase. Part of the roof structures of the buildings
has been rebuilt in a simplified and/or modified style.
The westernmost building (15-16, Alter Wandrahm)
today houses the German Customs Museum.

The three-storey former Customs Main Payment
Office constitutes the end of this row of customs
buildings to the east. This fourth customs building
suffered some destruction during the war, but was
rebuilt faithfully according to the historic design. To-
day, although it is significantly shorter, the character
of this building is very similar to that of the east and
west buildings. Its canopy, again similar to the two
neighbouring buildings, is reminiscent of the cus-
toms clearance function of this building.

On Alter Wandrahm, the gates in the fence probably
date back to the 1950s. Together with the former
fence on the Customs Canal, erected around 1900,
they constitute the historic enclosure around the
St. Annen customs office, a large part of which has
been preserved.

» The Ericus Customs Office

To the northeast, on Teerhof/Poggenmihle, the
Speicherstadt ends with the building of the seven-
storey Ericus Customs Authority. This building con-
sists of two lengthwise-terraced wings of different
length which are positioned at acute angles to each
other. They open up towards the southeast and
terminate at Wandrahmsfleet. This creates a tri-
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Fig. 50:  Ericus Customs Office, view from east

angular interior courtyard. The clinker facade with
its structural elements of sandstone constitutes a
departure from the shapes and designs favoured
by the Hanover School of Architects. It still owes
some allegiance, though, to a late and reduced ver
sion of the historicism of the period around 1910.
Although visible from afar and quite exposed, the
Ericus Customs Authority building blends in with
the rest of the Speicherstadt buildings rather than
being conspicuous. Its facade structure even com-
municates with the second HFLG administration
building. The copperplated roof punctuated with
regular windows is a modification from the 1980s
or 1990s.

2.a.2  Description of the Kontorhaus
district with a special focus on its
core zone made up of Chilehaus,
Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and
Mohlenhof

Directly neighbouring on the Speicherstadt and
north of the Customs Canal, the Kontorhaus district
was mainly built in the 1920s and 1930s, but devel-
opment continued during the 1950s. It is connect-
ed to the Speicherstadt by Wandrahmsteg which
replaced the original bridge, Grosse Wandrahm-
briicke, which was destroyed. The Kontorhaus dis-
trict is part of the city centre and consists almost
entirely of Kontorhauser — this is the traditional term
still used today for office blocks that are leased to
their users. What used to be an old residential part
of town with narrow streets was radically restruc-
tured and redeveloped into a number of generously
dimensioned plots of land which were ideally suited
for this mono-functional ensemble of uniform build-
ings, all aligned to one another to form an organic
whole.

The core zone of the Kontorhaus district consists
of the Chilehaus, Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and
Mohlenhof complexes. In urban development
terms, they constitute an integral and cohesive en-
semble of office buildings erected between 1921
and 1930, i.e. during the Weimar Republic. The only
exception is the third section of Sprinkenhof (1939-
1943).

2.a.2.1 The Kontorhaus district — definition and
general characteristics

In the north, Steinstrasse and the eastern tip of
Speersort street form the boundary of the Kon-
torhaus district, to the west it is Buceriusstrasse
and Domplatz respectively and to the east Johan-
niswall. The Kontorhaus district extends to the
south as far as Willy-Brandt-Strasse, with the ex-
ception of the block on the south side of Niedern-
strasse and the buildings at the southeast end
of Burchardstrasse, which are not considered to
be part of the Kontorhaus district. The western
boundary is also difficult to define, as the Mira-



mar-Haus and Pressehaus in the western part of
Kattrepel belong to the Kontorhaus district, but
the neighbouring buildings built from the 1950s
to the 1980s do not.

Because the Burchardstrasse cuts diagonally
through it, some of the office blocks in the Kon-
torhaus district have irregularly shaped triangu-
lar ground plans, mostly with obtuse tips. The
other blocks, by contrast, mostly contribute to
the more or less regular grid of streets that ex
isted before redevelopment. However, some of
them were straightened and, more importantly,
significantly widened after the old buildings had
been demolished. Burchardplatz constitutes the

Fig. 51:  Aerial view of the Kontorhaus district

central square in the Kontorhaus district, on to
which most streets converge. The network of
streets has not been changed, and to this today
most streets are characterised by the original
large granite cobble setts, which were arranged
in rows with the gaps between them filled with
tar. The original kerbstones still in place are also
made of granite.

The homogeneity of the Kontorhaus district is
striking: Most of its buildings have red clinker
brick facades, lattice windows, stepped-back
upper storeys and flat roofs which are typical
features of the office buildings built during the
Weimar Republic. The residential buildings from




82 |

the Nazi period, many of which are on Stein-
strasse, differ from the described design in that
they have pitched roofs and, with the exception
of the Pressehaus, which was altered during re-
construction, lack stepped-back upper storeys. A
variety of different architectural and design solu-
tions can be found, ranging from expressionist
elements through the New Objectivity of the late
1920s and the traditionalist approach of the Nazi
period to modern designs from the 1950s. How-
ever, the consistent use of the same materials
for facades offsets this diversity. As this part of
Hamburg sustained relatively little war time dam-
age, the red brick material has retained its overall
originality.

The Kontorhaus district also stands out due to the
uniformity of its urban structures. Because only one
residential building was erected in it, namely, the Alt-
stadter Hof between Steinstrasse, Altstadter Strasse,
Mohlenhofstrasse and Springeltwiete, the entire
district is characterised by a high building density
with closed front lines of buildings so that these
coincide almost everywhere with the boundaries
of the plots of land they stand on. When the Kon-
torhaus district was built, the maximum height
for buildings in the city centre was six full floors
plus stepped-back upper storeys. This limit was
consistently utilised to the full, but there were
also a few deviations from the rules permitted.

As a result of its dimensions and design, Ham-
burg’s Kontorhaus district is easy to identify as
a cohesive and distinctive part of the city that
significantly stands out from the surrounding
city centre. In fact, the Kontorhaus district rep-
resents a unique and one of the most impressive
urban townscapes of the interwar period, not
only in Germany, but also internationally. Within
the ensemble, it is particularly the Chilehaus,
Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and the Mohlenhof
complexes that clearly stand out because of their
artistic architecture and their urban development
and conceptual qualities.

The Chilehaus in the context of its three
neighbouring buildings

The entire Kontorhaus district is dominated by the
Chilehaus. With its ten storeys, it is not only the
highest of all the buildings in the ensemble, but is
also the largest in terms of its huge volume, total-
ling 36,000 m2 of gross floor space. What is more,
the Chilehaus borders on two squares, namely Bur
chardplatz, Messberg and the eastern end of Bur
chardstrasse, which widens to form something like
a square. Together, these squares have the effect of
opening up the urban space, so that the Chilehaus is
given particular prominence.

There are three office buildings that almost orbit
around the Chilehaus like satellites: the Messberhof
in the southeast, the Mohlenhof in the northwest
and the Sprinkenhof in the northeast. The latter has
a volume of 52,000 m2 of gross floor space which
makes it even bigger than the Chilehaus. However, it
does not appear so because the Sprinkenhof is sub-
divided into three clearly distinguishable sections,
so that it does not look like one, but rather like a
group of buildings. By comparison, the Messberghof
and the Mohlenhof, with their 21,200 and 8,800 m?2
of gross floor space respectively, are considerably
smaller and therefore assume a junior role vis-a-vis
the Chilehaus.

Great care was taken to bring the built environ-
ment around the Chilehaus in line with the latter’s
architectural prominence and the impact it exerts on
the urban landscape around it. The Burchardstrasse
opens up at its south-eastern end to form a square-
like space, into which the Chilehaus penetrates with
its sharp tip, which resembles a ship’s prow. The
Sprinkenhof facades that line this part of the northern
side of Burchardstrasse were purposely designed as
smooth and inconspicuous surfaces so as to form
a neutral backdrop to the Chilehaus and allow the
latter to visually unfold its spectacular architecture.

On Burchardplatz, by contrast, the Chilehaus as-
sumes a more subordinate role in the context of
the Kontorhaus district: It's very long main structure



Fig. 52:  The Chilehaus, view from east

is partly hidden from view by the Mohlenhof and
Sprinkenhof complexes. When looking towards the
Chilehaus from the north, therefore, what comes
into view is mainly the part that towers above the sur
rounding buildings on Fischertwiete. Both Sprinken-
hof and Mohlenhof point towards Burchardplatz and,
with their end-of-row buildings, integrate the square

which lends a fairly homogeneous character to the
area around Burchardplatz and conveys the impres-
sion of a cohesive urban ensemble.

On Messberg, where the Messberghof contrasts
markedly with the Chilehaus, the urban space
opens up to the panorama of the Speicherstadt on
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the other side of the Customs Canal. The transition
to the free port is effectively staged by the built-
over Fischertwiete alley which splits up the ground
floor of the Chilehaus. The two wide Tudor arches
spanning the Fischertwiete make the Chilehaus ap-
pear like a gigantic city gate which channels traffic
flows from the city into the port. However, the loss
of the Grosse Wandrahmbriicke has weakened this
effect considerably.

2.a.2.2 The Chilehaus

a)The property

The Chilehaus is one of Fritz Hoger's main works.
It was built on an irregularly shaped plot of land
extending in a west-easterly direction between
1922 and 1924. The plot was divided into two parts
roughly in the middle by Fischertwiete alley. The
western half has a more or less regular shape with
the westernmost part describing an obtuse angle.
The eastern part describes a wide curve and ends
in a pointed triangle which was the result of Bur
chardstrasse cutting diagonally through the Kon-
torhaus district.

The western part of the property is not fully taken
up by the Chilehaus: A small plot in the southeast
corner of the area is occupied by an administration
and police building built to designs by Albert Erbe
between 1906 and 1908. It is decorated in the local
variety of the Baroque Revival and is reminiscent
of bourgeois houses from the 18th century. The ad-
ministration and police building is a foreign body in
an otherwise homogeneous urban setting, but, at
the same time, by providing a surprising contrast
with the Chilehaus, underlines the latter's monu-
mental impact.

b) General characteristics

The Fischertwiete alley cuts through the clinkerfaced
brickwork of the main structure of the Chilehaus.The
building is ten storeys high, with the upper ones be-
ing stepped-back. The Fischertwiete alley has been
closed to all traffic. Because Hoger integrated it in



Fig. 55:  Chilehaus, view from south

the Chilehaus, the result was a single main struc-
ture with three interior courtyards. The Chilehaus
effortlessly follows the outlines of the property:
On the north side the building is block-shaped and
compact, while on the south side it is dynamic and
curved. The facade sections in the central part of the
building, i.e. on Fischertwiete have been elevated.
Here the vertically and horizontally projecting and
receding wall sections, often the breadth of axes,
have been largely dissolved through the insertion
of pilaster-like pillars with attachments reminiscent
of Gothic columns. However, because of the con-
sistent use of small rhythmic patterns, the clinker
brick facade still gives the impression of a relatively
cohesive whole. A number of different views can
be had of the Chilehaus, which, in its long middle
section, is characterised by receding facades. They
culminate in the sharp triangular tip of the building
which at the time reminded people of the prow of a
ship and still does so today.

The Chilehaus is an iron skeleton construction with
pile foundations, some of which are made of con-
crete, others of wood. The piles were grouped to-
gether and covered with reinforced concrete slabs
of one metre in diameter. Onto these slabs, concrete
pillars were cast. Because of the difficult soil condi-
tions, expansion joint seals were inserted between
the different sections of the Chilehaus to ensure
that potential (subsidence) or settling in one part of
the building would not impact the whole complex.
The iron skeleton construction offers maximum
flexibility of use with respect to the division of floor
spaces. On Fischertwiete, where the Chilehaus is
13 m deep, there is a row of internal structural pil-
lars in each segment. To the west of Fischertwiete
there are two such rows of pillars with central corri-
dors inserted between them. That part of the build-
ing is 15.80 m deep. The pillars are spaced at in-
tervals of 6.20 m and bear ceilings made of hollow
blocks. The floor above the fifth storey, however,
is designed as a grid-reinforced ceiling to bear the
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Fig. 56:  Chilehaus, inner courtyard, view from north

high loads of the stepped-back upper storeys. This
was a technical innovation at the time. In the outer
walls the load-bearing system of structural pillars
consists of masonry integrated into the facades. In
fact, the fine-grain vertical rhythmic patterns of the
facade effectively hide the brick pillars.

The Chilehaus has between six and eight full storeys
plus, as a rule, three stepped-back upper storeys. The
units of the building on Niedernstrasse and on De-
penau plus those parts of the facade that frame the
two large gateways on Fischertwiete, have only two
stepped-back storeys. The part of the Chilehaus that
faces Burchardplatz features seven full storeys plus
one stepped-back storey. On Messberg, the building
looms even higher with its eight full plus two stepped-

back storeys. In some parts the Chilehaus has ten,
even eleven storeys, if the mezzanine floor on the
sloping Klingberg is included in the count.

¢)The facades

The facade walls hardly have a load bearing func-
tion. They are consistently made of dark red, fired
clinker bricks of inferior quality which have irides-
cent surfaces in bluish and brownish hues, thus
creating lively, colourful and structurally varied
surfaces.

The ground floor facades mostly feature smooth
and sparsely ornamented clinker masonry which
hides the structural pillar construction, the com-



pactness of which is reinforced by the deeply
receding and wide entrance portals. The effect
is further underlined by shop windows, the ma-
jority of which have segmental arched lintels. In
the course of the rehabilitation of the Chilehaus
between 1990 and 1993, graphite-coloured, mod-
ern, steel frame shop windows were put in. They
represent a free interpretation of the original win-
dows, part of which were lost in the aftermath of
the war, and thus fit in neatly with the design of
the remaining old windows. The compact base of
the building forms a sort of banderol around the
filigree skeleton facade of the upper storeys, add-
ing to its unity. On the north and south sides of
Fischertwiete, the compact masonry opens up to
form a wide Tudor arch passage. It cuts through
the main structure of the building and the arches
appear to rest on rusticated concrete structural
pillars. The arches are flanked by projecting ar-
cades with an expressionist appearance, with
pointed arches made of terracotta. The artisan at
work here was Richard Kuohl.

Contrasting with the facade of the compact base
of the building, the facade of the upper storeys,
separated by ledges, dissolves into the wall pil-
lars, between which high and narrow lattice win-
dows are inserted. The street side facades fea-
ture shaft column-like attachments which project
from the facade at an angle of 45 degrees. They
form triangular ground planes so that their tips
look like tapered ridges. This gives the facades a
filigree appearance, almost like a curtain, while
at the same time producing a three-dimensional
effect. Also, a very effective vertical structure is
achieved: Every seventh brick course is laid paral-
lel to the facade. The resulting profile looks like
an ornamental six-pointed star not entirely dis-
similar to the structure of a crystal. When looking
at the facade from an angle, this creates a rather
surprising effect of rhomboid patterns extend-
ing over the entire facade. The vertical grooves
of the attachments, with their acute angles, also
produce a surprising, even hypnotic visual puzzle:
Depending on the position of the viewer, they ap-
pear either as extremely lean wall pillars or, alter-

natively, seem to move together close enough to
virtually blend in with one another. As a result, the
window axes are no longer visible, which creates
the impression of a homogeneous clinker brick
surface. Without these effects, the Chilehaus
would appear far more monotonous, something
that is immediately appreciated when one looks
at the facades of the external courtyards:

Their design is virtually identical but for the
lighter coloured bricks and, more importantly,
the fact that there are no attachments in these
courtyards. The facades of the publicly accessible
central courtyard feature the same lively design
as the main facade. Moving through the build-
ing, this impression of a vivid structure is further
enhanced by cross-views in both the vertical and
horizontal dimensions.

The stepped-back upper storeys run around the
entire building like horizontal decorative strips.
They adopt a similar design function as the base
level. This effect is further enhanced by the rein-
forced concrete cantilever floor slabs with their
sharp edge profiles. Together with the light-col-
oured metal railings of the perimeter parapets,
they give the Chilehaus its typical contours.
These horizontal lines counterbalance the strong
vertical structure of the facades. They also act
as a frame and lend the facades an element of
movement and dynamism. The volume of the
massive building almost seems to thrust in the
direction of the prow-shaped tip. This impression
is further reinforced by the elegantly curved line
of the facade on Pumpen which performs a single
long drawn-out S-curve movement.

The stepped-back upper storeys display great va-
riety and detail: On Burchardplatz, for example,
there is a pillared loggia which masks the round
arched windows, so that at first sight the viewer
gets the impression that there are eight full sto-
reys. By contrast, across the road on Messberg,
the rounded arches function as terminating ele-
ments for the vertical dimension visible from afar.
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Fig. 57:  Chilehaus, Details

Fig. 58:  Chilehaus, Details

d) The sculptural character of the Chilehaus and
its design shapes

The Chilehaus is a large complex that is given
dimensionality by its large number of fine-grain
details such as the herringbone pattern at the bot-
tom of the reinforced concrete cantilever slabs
in the stepped-back upper storeys, the filigree
and white painted lattice windows and the orna-
mental brickwork bonds which decorate the two
arched gates and the first floor on Fischertwiete.

Fig. 59:  Architectural sculptures at the eastern tip of
the Chilehaus, created by Richard Kuohl

Fig. 60:  Chilehaus, northern portal of entrance “C”

These ornamental brickwork bonds are particu-
larly good examples of Fritz Hoger's design virtu-
osity when it came to using bricks in a very im-
aginative way. Jokingly, he was popularly called
the "brick knitter” because he created fascinating
patterns out of a material that was not normally
considered to lend itself to such creativity.

Another important element in this respect are the
sculptured terracotta elements made by Richard



Kuohl and his atelier team: These powerful three-
dimensional elements are formative elements of
the arcades on Fischertwiete and the two pavilions
flanking the tip of the building in the east.

The delicate portico extensions strengthen the im-
pact of the Chilehaus by underlining the massive-
ness of the main structure, while at the same time
acting as a mediating influence between the tower
ing facades and passers-by at street level who might
otherwise feel dwarfed next to them. With their
structure resembling the scales of a fish or the spray
of waves, the two pavilions next to the steeply loom-
ing “prow” of the Chilehaus intensify the ship meta-
phor. The tip of the Chilehaus is also adorned with a
terracotta sculpture representing the Andes Condor,
the heraldic animal of Chile. It looks like a figurehead
on the prow of a ship.

Kuohl also produced the terracotta elements used
to frame three of the four main portals and some in-
dividual terracotta sculptures. The decorative frame
at portal C was lost. But it is crowned with a fully
three-dimensional sailing ship. Portal A features the
relief of the Chilean coat of arms.

e) Entrance areas and staircases

The Chilehaus has three main staircases. Two of
them are situated on Fischertwiete (portals A and B)
and one at the tip (portal C), which can be accessed
either from Pumpen or from Burchardstrasse.

Immediately upon entering the building through
the entrance portals and the vestibule, visitors en-
ter a different world: The one-storey lobbies are not
oversized but well-defined. Not one square me-
tre is wasted that can be rented out. The vestibule
greets visitors with noble, artistically employed and
thought-out materials epitomising the self-image of
the companies based here.

The entrance area of portal A has been consist-
ently furnished with terracotta elements made by
Richard Kuohl which give it a very exclusive atmos-
phere. The walls of the dark draught-preventing

vestibule are covered with grey and green glazed
terracotta tiles. The lunettes have the same scale-
like structure as the outsides of the arcades and pa-
vilions which, in this context, add a remotely Goth-
ic note. Next to the vestibule is a broadly based
lobby with floor tiles made of beige Solnhofer tiles.
Branching off from the lobby in the middle is the
staircase, and to the sides, additional dark painted
doors and lifts. All walls are completely tiled with
non-glazed terracotta tiles, some with very spe-
cial shapes. These special shapes alternate with
bulky, dark brown glazed facing bricks made from
the same material, creating a dynamic horizontal
feature, which seems to have been inspired by Art
Deco. On the walls to the left and right are plaques
with the hand-written names of the tenants. The
massive newel starting posts are adorned with
small terracotta turtle sculptures made by Kuohl.

The entrance hall of portal “B"” has the same floor
plan. Its walls are covered with travertine panels.
The vestibule has the same wall cover made of ter
racotta elements as that in portal A. In the ceiling
lunettes, however, some of the terracotta elements
are missing.

Staircases “A’" and “B” have identical E-shaped
flights of stairs. Their semi-cylindershaped half
paced landings penetrate into the interior courtyards,

Fig. 61:  Chilehaus, entrance hall of entrance "A”
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thereby giving them their characteristic appearance.
The three-flight staircases and the deeply reced-
ing, round-arched windows with their benches lend
the staircases an air of sacral monumentalism. This
impression is further enhanced by the covering of
majolica-tiles in two iridescent colours which seem
to glow from the inside.

With their rusticated, tunnel-vaulted roofs and
the high free-standing stairway, the two spacious
draught-preventing vestibules in portal “C" are
reminiscent of Palazzo architecture. Their walls are
prestigiously covered with marble panels. The en-
trance hall, with its marble floor, has tiled walls of
light green, flamed ceramics with a rustic look, the
humped edges of which are in a powerful green. This
colourful accent, together with the green linoleum
floor and the risers of the elegant, almost free-stand-
ing stairway with its T-shaped (stair) flights, give the
entrance hall its characteristic look, again betraying
borrowings from Palazzo architecture. Visitors who
climb the stairs are offered a Point de Vue on the
landing where there are two windows placed at right
angles to one another. The newel starting posts of
the lower part of the stairway seem to be inspired
by rather historicist designs, while the swerving, ma-
hogany-coloured, wooden handrails add dynamism
to the entrance hall.

The stairs and floors of the upper storeys have
been preserved in their original condition: They are
covered with shiny, dark, non-marbled linoleum. All
handrails are made of mahogany and rest on iron
profiles that look like they have been folded. Nailed
onto the step edges are high quality metal profiles.
From the first floor upwards, the walls in all three
staircases are tiled “only” up to three quarters of the
wall height. These beige tiles have edge profiles that
are the same as those described below. The reveals,
too, are decorated in the same manner, thus provid-
ing a contrast with the white walls. On the upper
storeys and inserted into the framed door, reveals
to the left and right of the stairs are richly adorned
wooden doors with precious glass panes and brass
fixtures. They mark the space rented by commercial
tenants, to distinguish it from the public stair area.

2.a.2.3 The Messberghof

a)The property

The Messberghof was built at the same time as the
Chilehaus, i.e. between 1922 and 1924. It was built
to designs by the architects Hans and Oskar Gerson
on a plot next to the Chilehaus. In contrast with the
latter, however, the Messberghof does not occupy
an entire block, but only approximately one third of
it, namely the westernmost part. The wedge-shaped
plot extends from east to west, its narrow end lo-
cated to the west. Towards the east it widens almost
symmetrically along inwardly curved boundaries.
Towards the north, it follows the swerved outline
of the Chilehaus like a “dance partner” At the blunt
tip of the plot in the west, the Messberghof out-
line constitutes the boundary of the open space on
Messberg. To the south, the Messberghof extends
beyond Willy-Brandt-Strasse and borders directly on
the Customs Canal, i.e. it neighbours directly with
the eastern part of the Speicherstadt. In fact, the
Messberghof provides a much stronger connection
between the two districts than the Chilehaus. In the
east, the property ends abruptly. Beyond this, mod-
ern perimeter blocks, typical of metropolises, seam-
lessly commence, against which the Messberghof
asserts itself authoritatively: It turns its back on the
buildings to the east and instead orients itself to the
west, thus claiming equal status with the Chilehaus.

b) General characteristics

Based on the shape of the plot on which it was built,
and keeping urban planning quality aspirations in
mind, the main structure of the Messberghof was
divided into the longitudinally positioned central sec-
tion with nine floors plus one stepped-back storey
expanding towards its back end and the two lower
wings with six storeys plus two stepped-back sto-
reys each. The side units are also longitudinally po-
sitioned, and connect with the end-of-row building
in the far east. Following the outline of the proper
ty, they clasp the eastern part of the building and a
small interior courtyard, creating the impression that
the main structure bulges out towards the east. The
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Fig. 62:  Messberghof, view from southwest with the Chilehaus in background

Fig. 63:  Messberghof, ground plan, ground floor Fig. 64:  Messberghof, southern main entrance, view
from west
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two wing units have flat roofs, whereas the end-of-
row building is given prominence through its hipped
pitched roof above the stepped-back top floors , re-
installed in the 1990s in the style of that time, with
a ridge turret, oriented close to the historical model.
Looking at the Messberghof from an angle just slight-
ly askew of the frontal view axis renders contours like
those of a craggy rock face: Through its receding and
projecting facade sections and its stepped-back sto-
reys, this part of the Messberghof on Pumpen street
indeed appears like a rock being lapped by the wave-
like Chilehaus. This urban ensemble clearly has scenic
qualities. A large part of the inner courtyard's ground
floor is under roof.

The Messberghof is an iron skeleton construction, a
fact that is not fully reflected by the punctuated and
consistently fairfaced facades. Rather, the facades ap-
pear smoother and more hermetic than those of the
neighbouring Chilehaus because of the light-coloured
clinker bricks used in the Messberghof. This impres-
sion is created primarily by the western facade which
is interrupted by only five window axes. But also
when viewed from other directions, the Messberg-
hof comes across as a more compact building. This
mostly has to do with the smooth and shallow wall
pillars between the windows. They correspond with
the axial measurements of the skeleton construction,
but are considerably wider than the interior support
pillars.

c)The facades

The ground-floorturned-base-of-the-building is set
off from the rest of the facade and is punctuated by
high and narrow shop windows with straight lintels.
Their top sections are structured by filigree lattice pat-
terns. The ground floor facade on the west side of the
building has been given extra prominence by inserting
five symmetrically positioned, but differently sized en-
trances with profiled jamb coverings, which are a com-
bination of clinker bricks and terracotta panels set into
the smooth and unadorned clinker masonry. Despite
their prominent position, the two outer entrances
with their triangular lintels are not the main entrances
to the Messberghof. The main entrances are sym-

metrically located at the far ends of the wings, one
on the north and one on the south side. They connect
up with the transition between the main and the wing
sections of the building. Projecting corners were used
to create an arcade-like open portico extension to the
actual entrance. On the ground floor, the portico ex
tension is highlighted by expressionist sandstone or
naments which create the impression of fragmented
frontispieces. Apart from these decorative elements,
the facade is practically unadorned.

The wide ground floor openings are axially continued
in the facade above, so there is enough room nearly
everywhere between every pair of smooth wall pil-
lars for two portrait format lattice windows. While on
the top full storey of the Chilehaus these windows
have arched lintels, they feature straight lintels in the
Messberghof.

Generally speaking, the Messberghof is sparsely
decorated, so that an "architectural dialogue” is
generated not so much between Messberghof and
Chilehaus as it is between Messberghof and the
more recent part of warehouse block W in the Speich-
erstadt, with which there is a visual connection across
the Customs Canal. The outside of the upper storeys
is almost unadorned. The only accents are provided by
the white lattice windows and the parapet masonry
on the stepped-back storeys, which is interrupted by
ornamental elements. To counterbalance this, great
emphasis was placed on careful craftsmanship in
the facing brickwork. This is particularly evident at the
edges of the building: There are angled piers without
any load bearing function, the rounded connections
with the facade of which look like they were made
flush by grinding, while at the same time allowing the
clinker brick work to appear as if it was wrapped over
the concrete skeleton of the building like a tight-fitting
skin. The large, smooth surfaces of the masonry and
the high hipped roof with its crowning ridge turrets
create an impression of heaviness and massive co-
hesiveness (the original roof construction was de-
stroyed during WW II; between 1995 and 1996 it was
rebuilt by the architects Schweger & Partner as part of
a wholesale modernisation of the Messberghof car
ried out in consultation with the Heritage Preservation



Agency; the roof is now covered with titanium zinc
sheeting). The architects used only part of the vocabu-
lary of the monumentalist design tradition and limited
themselves to the building essentials: They dispensed
with ornaments and considerations of classical order,
instead preferring abstract designs with clearly de-
fined volumes, smooth surfaces and straightforward
spaces and rooms. This was modern thinking ahead
of its time, but along modernist lines.

The outside of Messberghof has structural elements
which remind the informed observer of certain fea-
tures found in the northern German variety of clinker
Gothic, e.g. non-functional buttresses with projec-
tions and sculptures. These are design elements that
contribute to the monumentalist appearance of the
Messberghof. Given the particular position of the
building within the surrounding urban context, howev-
er, perhaps they are at the same time reminiscences
of the Speicherstadt and its neo-Gothic design. The
fragmented and even picturesque south view can per
haps also be interpreted in this sense.

d)The sculptural character

The sculptures were created by Ludwig Kunstmann.
The two entrance portals are characterised by arcade
extensions with sandstone decorations using expres-
sionist, crystalline and fragmented shapes. They in-
tegrate grotesque figures and almost come across
as frontispieces. The eight tallerthan-life sculptured
figures on the wall pillars of the first floor in the end-
of-row building inevitably evoke memories of sacral
sculptures. The original sandstone sculptures were
lost, but were replaced in 1996/97 by abstract bronze
statues created by Lothar Fischer. Their title is “Enig-
ma Variations”

e) Entrance areas and staircases

After passing through either of the vestibules located
behind the crystal-like, domed portico extensions and
long narrow corridors, visitors reach the staircase in
the heart of the building. Judging from the uncom-
promising and smooth exterior surfaces and the ar
rangement of the supporting pillars, it seems as if the

Messberghof was a construction based on massive
masonry. In the interior, however, the iron skeleton
construction is considerably more evident: The con-
crete pillars in the entrance hall and the staircase are
not hidden. In fact, not even the ceiling joists are cov-
ered, only plastered over.

The described aesthetics of an unfinished building
purposely contrast with the high-end fixtures and fur
nishings, but are at the same time deemphasised by
the bush-hammered concrete surfaces and the min-
eral paint in anthracite colour. The flooring is of light-
coloured burnished sandstone tiles, inserted into an
elegant grid of dark strappy. The walls of the entrance
hall are covered with travertine panels, those of the
staircases in the upper storeys with rustic looking tiles
in iridescent grey and bluish hues. The wooden stair
way posts and all the doors, including those of the
elevators and the corridors connecting with the exit
doors, are decorated with imitation gold.

The imaginative staging of spaces in the Messberg-
hof culminates in the gigantic open spiral staircase. It
extends throughout the whole main structure right up
to the ridge turret. The centre of the stairway is illumi-
nated by a skylight made of coloured glass with star
and sun motifs. The newel starting posts of the stair
way and the concrete stringboards interrupting the
gilded banister are decorated with lizards sculptured
by Ludwig Kunstmann. They are the counterparts to
the turtles in the Chilehaus.

Fig. 65:  Messberghof, great entrance hall
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2.a.2.4 The Sprinkenhof

a)The property

The Sprinkenhof fully occupies the northernmost
piece of land within the core zone of the Kon-
torhaus district. The rectangular plot is situated par-
allel to the east-west orientation of the Chilehaus
between Burchardtstrasse and Altstadter Strasse,
shifted slightly to the east. It is D-shaped with the
western end cut off.

b) General characteristics

Most of the Sprinkenhof was built jointly by Fritz
Hoger and Hans and Oskar Gerson. They were jointly
responsible for the first two sections of the Sprinken-
hof which were built between 1927 and 1928 and

Fig. 66:  Sprinkenhof, first section, view from southeast

1929 and 1930 respectively. The third section, which
was erected between 1939 and 1943, was the sole
responsibility of Hoger.

The execution of the building in three successive
stages is reflected by the fact that three different
sections are clearly distinguishable. They each have
a separate central interior courtyard, but share the
clinker brick facades. The entire ground floor, includ-
ing the central section, is filled with shops.

The first section of the building in the centre of the
plot was originally conceived of as a free-standing
cube. This part of the Sprinkenhof has large smooth
surfaces and is 59m wide and approximately 71m
deep. It has a flat roof and nine storeys, making
it as high as the neighbouring Chilehaus. The part
on Altstadter Strasse and the other two later sec-




tions of the Sprinkenhof, by contrast, have one sto-
rey less, which has to do with the sloping ground
there. To this cube were later added two lower
extensions which were set back by the width of
one axis. The irregular shape of the plot, however,
meant that the wings following its outlines are not
symmetrically designed. In contrast with the core
section, they have stepped-back upper storeys em-
phasising the horizontal dimension.

The Sprinkenhof is also a reinforced concrete skel-
eton construction — in this case already under use
of steel instead of iron. However, in contrast with
the Chilehaus, it has punctuated facades which
are almost entirely faced with clinker brickwork,
namely on the street sides and in the interior
courtyards. Only the ground floor facades of the
first and second section dissolve into compact pil-
lars with shop windows and entrances arranged
between them.

» The first section of the Sprinkenhof

The core of this first section borders on streets to
the north and south. It has seven or eight storeys
with uniformly dark red clinker brick walls, the only
structural elements of which are the regularly distrib-
uted windows. The facade of the base level is set
off from the punctuated upper storeys by large glass
surfaces between smooth pillars with puffed-up cap-
itals. The large shop windows between the pillars
are vertically split in two. Their panes are arranged
at obtuse angles to one another so that their middle
edge protrudes from the facade.

Like the Chilehaus, the Sprinkenhof spans a street,
namely Springeltwiete. There are two openings in the
north and south facades of the Sprinkenhof respec-
tively to allow traffic to pass through in separate lanes
for both directions. They also used to provide access
to the ancient car parks in the basement. There are no
arches to mark these openings, which are two storeys
high, just straight cantilevered slabs. Thus, the spa-
cious central interior courtyard acquires the character
of an open public space, a quality that is underlined by
the presence of numerous retail shops. In the central

Fig. 67:

Fig. 68:

Fig. 69:

Sprinkenhof, first section, detail

Sprinkenhof, mural design of the first section
with terracotta medallion
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Sprinkenhof, inner courtyard with Springeltwiete,
view from north
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section of the courtyard a clinker brick parapet is the
only vestige of the former entrance to the car park in
the basement which has been closed.

The ground floor section is set slightly off from the
upper storeys by triangular patterns of plastered
wall. Above these patterns loom the clinker facades
of the upper storeys. To lend rhythm to the large and
sparsely structured surfaces between the white,
high and narrow lattice windows, the facades, includ-
ing those in the central courtyard, have been covered
with a rhomboid relief motif of clinker bricks. As the
diagonal rhomboid pattern is related to neither the
horizontal nor the vertical dimensions, it empha-
sises the cube shape of the centre section of the
Sprinkenhof, thus enhancing its monumental effect.

The centres of the rhomboids are decorated with
relief terracotta medallions that project consider
ably from the facade. They are the work of Ludwig
Kunstmann and represent general motifs such as
seagulls and the Hamburg coat of arms, or they re-
fer to the various industries that were represented
in the Sprinkenhof, e.g. cogwheels and sailing ships.
This and the filigree white lattice windows give the
facades of the first section of the Sprinkenhof a fine-
grain, almost textile-like surface structure which is
tightly swathed around the “skin” of the building.

The south courtyard facade is dominated by the main
staircase. It is positioned between the two openings
onto Burchardstrasse and describes a semi-circle
bulging out into the courtyard. This semi-cylindrical
structure is decorated with horizontal and vertical,
shallow clinker decorative strips with a grid structure
which intersect with the windows. Between them
there are square, hunch-shaped protrusions made
of gilded bricks that project from the masonry. The
staircase on the northern courtyard facade is flanked
by the openings onto Altstadter Strasse and has the
same decorative elements. However, they appear
only as shallow risaltos and must therefore be con-
sidered to be of secondary importance. Incidentally,
the lattice windows on all of the four interior courtyard
facades have curved glass panes, which was to im-
prove the illumination of this area through reflections.

» The second section

The second section of the Sprinkenhof was at-
tached to the cube-shaped core on the west. It is
divided into the eight storey end-of-row building on
Burchardplatz which has a relatively small and incon-
spicuous, stepped-back top storey and two units
on Burchardstrasse and Altstadter Strasse respec-
tively. The latter only have six full storeys plus two
stepped-back upper storeys, thus conforming to the
rules on the maximum height of buildings applying
in the city centre at the time. The southern unit on
Burchardstrasse branches off from the end-of-row
building at an angle of 45 degrees and runs parallel
to the Chilehaus which becomes progressively thin-
ner towards the east. The northern unit on Altstadter
Strasse connects with the end-of-row building at a
right angle.

The ground floor zone is punctuated almost every-
where by shop windows. The straight lintels borne
by pillars flush with the facade provide a rather sur
prising upbeat to the upper storeys. The pillars, which
extend over one-and-a-half storeys, and the capitals
of which are puffed-up were modelled on those from
the first section of the Sprinkenhof.

The high southern facade of the ground floor runs
parallel to the Chilehaus. Its windows do not extend
over the entire facade to the top and the pillars are not
emphasised. The north unit ground floor is also one-
and-a-half storeys high. Parts of it are built as ground
floor plus mezzanine floor, while others are divided

Fig. 70:  Sprinkenhof, second section, view from west



into semi-basement and raised ground floor. The fa-
cade of the end-of-row building on Burchardplatz is
highlighted on all three sides by decorative elements
such as shallow, grid-shaped clinker brick decorative
strips with integrated projecting gilded brick oblongs.
Similar elements can be found on the semi-cylindrical
stairway in the interior courtyard of the first section of
the Sprinkenhof. The facades of the other two units,
by contrast, are relatively unadorned except for cer
tain decorative set-pieces typical of the New Objec-
tivity style. These can be found at crucial points of the
building, such as the entrance areas and the edges of
the facades on Burchardstrasse, where the horizontal
decorative strips of the stepped-back upper storeys
and the concave curved walls lend a dynamic quality
to the architecture. On Altstadter Strasse, by contrast,
a special accent is introduced by a risalto-like shallow
bay with a window grid of smaller dimensions empha-
sising the axis of the entrance. Nowadays, the inner
courtyard is enclosed with a glass ceiling.

» The third section

In addition, the top full floor and the stepped-back sto-
rey feature rounded arch windows similar to those in
the Chilehaus, while the two earlier sections exclu-
sively have rectangular windows. The ground floor is
given prominence as the base of the building by the
plain, smooth masonry, the rectangular shop win-
dows and the centrally placed doors, which are seg-
regated by light-coloured vertical plaster decorative
strips. The facade on Altstadter Strasse is also practi-
cally unadorned. As mentioned above, this is in line
with the overall design of the second section. The
first section, with its rich three-dimensional decora-
tion, is framed on both sides by two artless facades.
In contrast, the ground floor of the third section on
Altstadter Strasse is emphasised through rounded
arches, i.e. it deviates not only from the other sec-
tions, but also from the main facade on Burchard-
strasse as well as on Johanniswall.

Fig. 71:  Sprinkenhof, third section, view from northeast with the entrance at the Johanniswall
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In the first section, the main entrances were inte-
grated into the shop window zones and were also
similarly inconspicuous in the second section. The
main entrance of the third section on Johanniswall,
in contrast, is highlighted by a low, two-storey por
tico extension with round arch arcades and an open
hall with a barrel-shaped vaulted ceiling. Above the
arcades there are two sandstone sculptures by
Ludwig Kunstmann, the value of which is empha-
sised by the contrast with the dark clinker brick fa-
cades around them. This is an altogether different
set-up from the other terracotta sculptures on the
Sprinkenhof by Kunstmann which blend in with the
surrounding masonry. The figures are a male nude
shouldering a trident like a spade, which suggests
a reference to Poseidon, and a nondescript female
nude.

The low-lying interior courtyard of this part of the
Sprinkenhof, which is accessible via a long, sloped
driveway below the south facade, has been covered
with a glass roof.

The third section, which connects with the cube-
shaped core in the east, is clearly different from the
second section: Firstly, there are seven storeys in-
stead of six on Burchardstrasse and Johanniswall.
Secondly, the curved main facade of the third sec-
tion is decorated with rhomboid motifs, which, ac-
cording to Fritz Héger, “bulge out’ i.e. the decora-
tion acquires more and more depth as you move
along the facade from west to east.

c) The entrance areas and staircases

The first section is accessible via two main staircas-
es, one each in the north and south wings. Because
of their different status, their designs are also dif-
ferent. The staircase in the unit on Burchardstrasse
features a spiral stairway comparable to the one in
Messberghof. However, its fixtures and furnishings
are more rustic: The walls, flooring and steps are
covered with terracotta tiles in earthen colours of
orange and brown; the stairway banisters consist
of steel profiles, the handrails of brass. The impact
of the stairway is all the more impressive because,

unlike in the Messberghof, it commences at the
end of the hall, the floor plan of which points in the
direction of the stairway. It winds its way upward
through all nine storeys and concludes with a sky-
light in yellowish colours. An added effect is pro-
vided by the staircase walls which are punctured
vertically by windows, thereby creating an exedra-
like effect. The slender, gilded metal newel starting
post has a futuristic air. It is the starting point of a
handrail made of the same material.

The second main staircase on Altstadter Strasse
has a broad base. Access to it is through an open
draught-preventing vestibule with gilded clinker
decorative strips, and then through a vestibule with
exquisite glazed swing doors. The staircase flooring
has the same terracotta tiles as the hall on Burchard-

Fig. 72:  Sprinkenhof, staircases of section one at the
Altstadter Strasse

Fig. 73:  Sprinkenhof, staircases of section one at the
Burchhardstrasse



platz, but instead of being covered with ceramics,
its walls are plastered and painted white. There are
elevators to the sides. The stairway is positioned
on an axis with the entrance and, in contrast with
the one on Burchardplatz, is straight. The stairway
is E-shaped, has three flights and half-paced land-
ings. The wrought-iron handrails have a newel start-
ing post at the foot of the stairway.

There are similar hierarchical structures in the
second section of the Sprinkenhof: Behind the
entrance, the staircase on Burchardstrasse also
features a spiral staircase which extends over all
storeys. The external appearance of the entrance is
characterised by New Objectivity. Its vestibule is a
round, columned hall covered with new Solnhofen-
er panels. The floor plan of the hall is very similar to
the others in that the staircase protrudes out into
the interior courtyard. There is no exedra, though.
The floor is made of clinker bricks. In the western
and southern section, with its original paternoster
elevator, the walls are covered with Solnhofener
panels up to the ceiling.

The lower part of the staircase on Altstadter Strasse
can “only” boast a staircase with straight flights
and half-paced landings. The gilded metal handrails
on the massive concrete parapets rest on small,
wrought-iron expressionist volutes which take up
the orange-red colouring of the handrails from the
first section of the Sprinkenhof.

Access to the laterally positioned main hall of the
third section of the Sprinkenhof on Johanniswall is
through a rounded arch with a door, the window of
which has the design of a bull’s eye. Behind it there
is a vestibule with a barrel-shaped ceiling, a con-
cierge’s recess and a glass security gate which is
a recent addition. The hall itself, which was slightly
modified after the Second World War is placed be-
hind the vestibule. The Paternoster elevator occu-
pies a prominent position of the hall on the same
axis as the entrance. It has been preserved in its
original condition.

2.a.2.5 The Mohlenhof

a) Property

The plot on which the Mohlenhof was erected con-
stitutes the eastern tip of a separate block of build-
ings. As with the Messberghof, the tip is blunted.
The boundary of the plot constitutes the western
limit of Burchardplatz.

b) General characteristics

The Mohlenhof was built in 1927 and 1928 to de-
signs by Klophaus, Schoch and zu Putzlitz. It is di-
vided into the eight storey end-of-row building at
the western edge of Burchardplatz and two units
connecting with the former’s back. The two rear
units have six to seven full storeys plus additional
stepped-back storeys. The dimensions of the end-of-
row building correspond to those of the Chilehaus
and the Sprinkenhof. Through the two rear units, the
Mohlenhof is integrated into the perimeter block on
Burchardstrasse and Niedernstrasse. The southern
unit has a slightly curved facade and is at a near right
angle with the end-of-row building. The northern unit
is at an angle of some 30 degrees with it. As a result,
the interior courtyard has the shape of a triangle with
one acute angle. The Mohlenhof is a concrete skel-
eton construction with a clinker brick facade and only
limited decorative elements.
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Fig. 74:  The Mohlenhof, view from east
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Section of the Mohlenhof

e

Ground plan of the ground floor

Hamburg

Mohlenhof, northeaster corner, roof section

Fig. 77:
¢)The facade

The Mohlenhof has a flat roof and punctuated fa-
cades throughout. On the street sides its facades
have a clinker brick facing while the walls in the in-
terior courtyard are plastered and painted in light
colours. The idea of narrow and narrowly spaced
Kontorhaus windows was transferred to the prin-
ciple of the punctuated facade. The ground-floor
turned-base-level is consistently covered with
bush-hammered artificial stone slabs, which makes
them look like tuff. The base of the building distin-
guishes itself from the upper storeys by two mark-
edly protruding square string courses made of the
same artificial stone material. Between the pillars,
shop windows and shop doors alternate. The latter
are inserted between double pillars which bear the
load of the facade. As a result of changes made to
the doors on Burchardplatz, the original straight
lintels were replaced by segmental arched lintels.
The entrances on the south side were closed with
artificial stone masonry. Little recesses still indicate
the position of the former entrances. The main en-
trance is located at the seam between the end-of-
row building and the north-west wing. There is a
drive-through passage in the south wing to provide
access to the interior courtyard. Like in the Chile-
haus and the Sprinkenhof, the ground floor of the
Mohlenhof is occupied by shops.



The portrait format split windows of the upper
storeys are unusually narrow: They measure only
0.85 m in width. They form galleries of horizontal-
ly layered banderols. The concrete support pillars
are all placed on the inside of the building so that,
like with the Chilehaus, the constructive axes can-
not be inferred from looking at the facades. How-
ever, in contrast with the neighbouring buildings,
there are no fake constructive elements or “knit"”
brickwork patterns. Instead, the designers seem
to have economised on decorative elements. The
cube shapes and edges are given special promi-
nence by the strongly stylised zigzag ledges
on the fifth storey and the stepped-back storey
above it. They are made of light-coloured artificial
stone, but at the same time create a vaguely neo-
Classicist impression. Through these elements
the upper storeys are turned into attic floors. As
the zigzag ledges continue on the stepped-back
storeys in the shape of parapets, they establish a
connection between the end-of-row building and
the stepped-back storeys.

The cube-shaped main structures and series of
windows with undivided window frames char-
acterise the Mohlenhof as a sober building. This
corresponds to the general trend in German ar-
chitecture during the 1920s. The outward curving
facade on Niedernstrasse and the string courses
on the base level facade form parallel banderols
around the main structure of the Mohlenhof. They
add an element of almost stream-lined dynamism
to the architecture which contrasts with the er
ratic design of the end-of-row building. However,
there are also elements which characterise the
Mohlenhof as monumental, e.g. the smooth sur-
faces of its edges and the prominent design of
the ground floor. The Mohlenhof is the most re-
cent of all the Kontorhauser in the core zone of
the district. It already displays clear signs of a de-
parture from expressionist decorative elements
and instead strives for a certain rigidity of design
which is typical of the trend towards sober de-
signs that characterised the development of Ger
man architecture during the second half of the
1920s.
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d) The sculptural character

The main entrance is highlighted by a sculpture by
Richard Kuéhl made of genuine tuff stone. It repre-
sents Mercury, who carries a cog on his shoulders,
and a small figure of Hammonia, Hamburg's symbol,
in the shape of a small kore sculpture. This largerthan-
life sculpture is flanked on both sides by a relief sym-
bolising the five continents.

Mohlenhof, Relievo of Mercury above the main
entrance at the north-eastern corner, created
by Richard Kuohl

e)The entrances and the staircases

Directly behind a draught-preventing vestibule there
is a long and relatively compact single-storey main
hall like in the Chilehaus.In it there are modern ele-
vators which were built in 1967 to replace the origi-
nal Paternoster elevators. Access to the enclosed
straight dual flight stairway is in the rear corner.
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Fig. 79:  Mohlenhof, Main entrance hall, ground floor

The entrance hall of the Mohlenhof has a prestigious
design: The flooring is made of white marble and the
walls are covered with travertine panels. Numerous
Art Deco elements have been preserved from the
time the Mohlenhof was erected, e.g. the flat rectan-
gular ceiling lamps framed by ornamental strucco pro-
files and the brass door, which has an abstract relief.

The staircase has been preserved with the original fix-
tures and furnishings also on the fifth floor. It is charac-
terised by dark ivory-coloured tiles and ceiling lamps
identical to those in the entrance hall.

Nearly all of the windows in the entrance hall, the
staircase and in the stairway halls feature the origi-
nal satin finish glass panes, brought to life by their
geometrical patterns. The stairway banisters consist
of bush-hammered concrete parapets and massive,
cylindrical newel starting posts. They also have com-
pact brass tube handrails that commence with el-
egant brass knobs decorated with Art Deco design
elements.
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2.b  The history of Hamburg’s Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district

The 19th century saw an acceleration of the pace
of globalisation and trade. This development was en-
couraged by the tenets of economic liberalism and
by colonialism. It was furthered by industrialisation,
the advent of new technologies, increased produc-
tion volumes through the division of labour and faster
transport. All these factors had a major impact on the
world economy, but also triggered changes in urban
development, particularly in port and trading cities.

Germany profited from these developments more
than many other countries: In a time span of only forty
years, starting with the establishment of the German
Empire in 1871 and ending with WW |, it became an
industrial world power second in rank only to the US.
During these four decades, the volume of cargo trans-
ported by the German merchant navy grew tenfold.
One of the explanations behind this growth was the
huge increase in transport capacities and speeds, as
well as the expansion of the railway and ports. These
developments gained additional momentum through
the boom in the shipbuilding industry, which produced
new steamers for sailing the world's seas.

As a port city and trading hub, Hamburg significant-
ly contributed to those developments described.
Thanks to the farsightedness of those responsible,
Hamburg not only defended its vastly superior posi-
tion as the leading German trading hub, but became
one of the most important ports in continental Eu-
rope. Hamburg's economy was given an important
boost by its full integration into the German Customs
Union in 1888 which led to an expansion and mod-
ernisation of its port. It was in the course of this de-
velopment that the Speicherstadt was built. Over the
next two decades, Hamburg grew to become one of
the top ports in the world, with its volume of goods
handled exceeded only by London and New York.

Hamburg’s accession to the German Customs Un-
ion resulted in the building of the Speicherstadt, an
urban development project which resulted not only
in a whole district being torn down, and more than
16,000 people previously living there being driven

away. It also marked the break with a tradition, ac-
cording to which living, doing business and office
activities took place under the same roof. In other
words, these spheres of life were increasingly seg-
regated, a trend that began when bourgeois citizens
started moving to new exclusive locations on the
Aussenalster (main part of the Alster Lake) around
1850. One of the consequences was the creation of
mono-functional districts for service industries.

The developments described were given additional ur-
gency by the cholera epidemic of 1892 which claimed
approximately 8,600 lives. In its wake, the Hamburg
Senate decided to redevelop and modernise large
parts of the city centre. It systematically bought up
land, had most of the buildings on the acquired plots
demolished and, after having adopted a comprehen-
sive urban restructuring programme, put the estates
back on the market. Nearly 50,000 inhabitants were
affected by these rehabilitation measures.

As a result, part of the Neustadt district saw the start
of major rehabilitation and construction work, and the
Monckebergstrasse, a completely new street with side
streets, was also created. However, the measures did
not stop there. Directly opposite the Speicherstadt, in
the southeast part of the Altstadt (old town), the Kon-
torhaus (office) district was built. During the first phase
of modernisation in the western part of the Neustadt,
most of the new buildings still combined residential
and commercial use. By contrast, the buildings erected
in the southeast part of the Altstadt were nearly ex
clusively office buildings. Much like in the case of the
Speicherstadt development, most of the former inhab-
itants were driven away from the district.

As early as 1907 by creating Monckebergstrasse,
a connection was established between the railway
station and the city hall. New office and commercial
buildings were built on Ménckebergstrasse. As a re-
sult of WW | and its aftermath, large parts of the Kon-
torhaus district development project to the south of
Maonckebergstrasse were only realised in the 1920s
and 1930s. Development continued after WWV II.
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Within a time span of a few decades at the end of
the 19th and the beginning of the 20th century, Ham-
burg's city centre changed from a pre-industrial town
into a modern city with mono-functional districts ex
clusively serving the economic needs of a metropolis,
more particularly those of global trade and the inter
national port. Two of these new mono-functional dis-
tricts have been preserved to this day. There are close
spatial and functional interconnections between them
and they share an overarching historical and economic
importance for the City of Hamburg as well as for the
development of its port and trading activities. The two
districts south of Hamburg's Altstadt (old city) are:

» Hamburg's Speicherstadt — a city of warehou-
ses designed and built for the importation and
exportation of goods which were handled and
processed in the port; and, north of the Cus-
toms Canal,

» The Kontorhaus district consisting of the of-
fices of companies connected with the port
and with shipping.

The following chapters set out to explain the histori-

cal background to and development of these two dis-
tricts and their buildings.
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2.b.1  The history and development of
Hamburg’s Speicherstadt and its
buildings

2.b.1.1 Overview

Hamburg's Speicherstadt was built by the Hamburg
Free Port Warehouse Association (HFLG), mostly un-
der the aegis of Franz Andreas Meyer as main plan-
ner and architect. It was erected in three construction
phases between 1885 and 1927 and for more than
100 years it served as the main warehouse and stor
age centre of the Hamburg port. The Speicherstadt
originally consisted of 17 large complexes, which
were primarily used for storage, but also as offices.
They also served other specific purposes. These
complexes were called “blocks” (Blocke) and were
assigned letters. However, the letters A, B, C, J, K,
M, N, Q do not always designate entire blocks, but
can also refer to individual block segments (where
this is the case, several letters separated by slash-
es are used to refer to the entire block, e.g. A/B/C).
The letters | and F were not used. Letters Y and Z
were reserved for the fourth construction phase on
Ericusspitze which was never realised. In addition
to the warehouse blocks there were purpose-built
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Abb. 126. Stiibtijcher Freihafenjpeidherbezirk.

Fig. 80:  Speicherstadt, plan of site with denomination of the blocks



buildings such as the Boiler House, the Central Pow-
er House, the two administration buildings of the
Hamburg Free Port Warehouse Association (HFLG)
and the customs clearance and administration build-
ings. The Customs Canal and the Binnenhafen (in-
ner port) were lined with large sheds filled with the
goods destined for transport up the River Elbe by
so-called Oberlander Kahne (inland vessels).

The first construction phase was completed as
early as 15 October 1888, when the free port was
officially opened. It covered two thirds of the Spei-
cherstadt area and consisted of blocks A through
O. The second phase, from 1891 until 1896, en-
compassed blocks P and Q/R. The third construc-
tion phase included blocks S through X. It lasted
from 1899 till 1927 but most of the construction
was complete by 1912. The eastern half of block
W was an exception: It was built after WW | (1925-
1927). It is likely that plans for the fourth construc-
tion phase had been conceived of by 1914, but
their implementation was thwarted by WW | and
the economic crises that ensued during the Wei-
mar Republic. The Ericusspitze in the south-east
part of the Speicherstadt has therefore never been
built on.

In addition to the warehouse blocks, the Speicherstadt
also encompassed a number of individual buildings,
such as the Boiler House and the customs buildings.

2.b.1.2 Historical background

During the second half of the 19th century, Ham-
burg was subject to considerable political pres-
sure: Prussia had annexed both Schleswig-Hol-
stein and the Kingdom of Hanover which now
made it Hamburg's direct neighbour and inter-
locutor. Hamburg joined the North German Fed-
eration (Norddeutscher Bund) and became part of
the German Empire in 1871. To begin with, this
had a positive impact on the Free and Hanseat-
ic City: A treaty with Prussia on the transfer of
certain waterway and port management rights
(Kéhlbrandvertrag) permitted the modernisation
of the port and the extension of port facilities on
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the islands in the River Elbe (the Sandtorhafen
was built in 1866 making use of the southern city
moat; it was Hamburg's first artificial port basin).
In another development, the linking up of the
three hitherto unconnected railway lines in Ham-
burg after 1866 made the city the most impor-
tant traffic and transport hub in Germany’s north.
However, the protectionist measures introduced
by Otto von Bismarck at the end of the 1870s to
protect the German economy from foreign im-
ports threatened Hamburg's privileged position
in customs terms and had the potential of harm-
ing Hamburg's foreign trade. Hamburg contested
this threat and a compromise was found which al-
lowed Hamburg to convert its harbour into a free
port.

Hamburg saw to it that this status quo was en-
shrined in the constitution when the German
Empire was founded in 1871. This meant that
Hamburg continued to be free to decide when
it would join the Customs Union. However, the
privileged position of the city state increasingly
conflicted with Bismarck's political ambitions and
threatened to isolate Hamburg. In 1881, the Sen-
ate therefore felt obliged to accept an accession
treaty which determined that Hamburg would join
the Customs Union by October 1888. The exact
date of the accession was left open. Hamburg's
business community was unwilling to forgo the
possibility of handling imported goods duty-free,
and likewise of storing and upgrading them or,
where applicable, processing them. Therefore,
the port area in its then boundaries plus future
extensions was fenced off and check points
were erected on land. On water, floating barriers
marked the entry to the free port. Customs were
only due on those goods that left the free port
zone for consumption in Germany, while goods
in transit destined for other countries were not
subject to customs. To prevent delays in cargo
handling, vessels in the free port were also ex-
empted from customs checks. Hamburg secured
the sovereign right of administering the customs
affairs of its port.
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2.b.1.3 The Speicherstadt development

The master plan

By 1882, a technical master plan had been drawn
up for the free port and the buildings required in
the context of the accession to the Customs Un-
ion. The project was masterminded by two leading
civil servants from the Parliamentary Consultative
Committee for City Development (Baudeputation),
namely Chief Engineer Franz Andreas Meyer and
Christian Nehls, who was Director of Hydraulic
Engineering and Construction and worked in the
Department of Port and River Engineering (Strom-
und Hafenbau). Christian Nehls was responsible
for the projects on the south side of the River Elbe,
i.e. the port for sailing vessels, the Moldauhafen
and the Saalehafen, while Franz Andreas Meyer
was responsible for those on the north side, i.e.
the Speicherstadt, the Customs Canal and Nor
derelbbriicke bridge, as well as for a number of
smaller projects.

The master plan provided for a distinction be-
tween two types of goods handling: on the one
hand, the fast type to be performed directly on the
quays where seagoing vessels with a big draught
could moor. On these quays there were long rows
of large one-storey sheds designed for the sorting
of goods, their distribution and onward transporta-
tion (from vessel to shed to lorry or rail). On the
other hand, the handling of goods for longerterm
storage and processing for which vast storage ca-
pacities in multi-storey warehouses were needed.
They were built alongside the narrow canals which
could be navigated only by barges. This type of
goods handling necessitated a two-stage loading
and unloading process, something which seemed
acceptable in the case of goods which did not
need fast transhipping but which instead required
great care when stored so they would not spoil.
For many decades, the strict functional division
between these two different types of port activi-
ties gave the port of Hamburg the necessary flex-
ibility for growth. This contributed significantly to
the success of Hamburg's port.

Fig. 81:  Brookinseln and Sandtorhafen before building
the Speicherstadt

After a prolonged political debate, a decision was
taken on where best to place the new condensed
complex of warehouses. Mindful of the fact that
trading companies and the stock exchange were
keen to have the Speicherstadt close by, the
southernmost part of the city centre was chosen:
the Brookinseln (Brook islands), which form a
narrow strip of islands in an east-westerly direc-
tion and which border on the Sandtorhafen in the
south. The Sandtorhafen was the most modern
part of the port at the time. In 1883, demolition
started in the western part of the district up to
Kannengiesserbricke. The existing canals were
straightened and dredged so they were navigable
at all times, independently of the tide. The first
construction phase of the Speicherstadt started
in 1885 and was completed in 1888. With the pro-
gress of demolition towards the eastern part of
the Brookinseln the second (1891-1896) and third
part (1899-1912) of the Speicherstadt were built.
The only later addition was the eastern section of
warehouse block W, which was not built before
1927 i.e. at a time when the first office buildings
in the Kontorhausviertel were being erected, also
in a similarly progressive style.

With the exception of the Ericusspitze, the for-
mer topography of the Speicherstadt area, dating
back from the 17th and 18th, century was eradi-
cated. At Ericusspitze there are a few traces of
the old Valkenborgh fortifications (1615 — 1625).
The southern port basins coincide partly with the
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Fig. 82:  Above: Plan of the Brookinseln before the demolition of the existing building development in 1883, below: with
transformation owing to the construction of the Speicherstadt and with coloured indication of the projected and
the realized construction phases: red, 1885-88, blue 1891-96, green, 1899-1927 The purple-coloured blocks on

the Ericusspitze have not been realized.

former city moat. The Niederhafen (lower port)
and Dovenfleet canal were merged to form the
wider Customs Canal. In other words, Hamburg's
ambition to secure a successful future for itself
as a port city took precedence over the preserva-
tion of heritage buildings which were sacrificed
almost in their totality. The eviction of 16,000
people from their homes can hardly be reconciled
with our modern idea of human dignity. The re-
percussions of the Speicherstadt development
for Hamburg's townscape and for other new
housing estates have been extensively debated:
The building of the Speicherstadt was a morally
and socially questionable act that had no regard
for the people affected. At the same time, it was
an admirable and far-sighted initiative in terms of
its positive implications for trade and commerce.
It was also a major technical and organizational
achievement.

Preparing for the Free Port

To prepare for the accession to the Customs Union,
more construction was needed. Here only a few of the
most important measures: the enclosure of the free
port area by erecting a fence around it and the build-
ing of customs check points; the construction of a port
for sailing vessels on the Kleiner Grasbrook island so
that they would no longer have to moor outside the
Niederhafen near the Neustadt district; the construc-
tion of the Customs Canal north of the Speicherstadt
so that inland vessels could sail past the free port on its
northern side; and the construction of Norderelbbrlicke
to take some of the load of through-traffic off the future
free port.

To prepare the port facilities and, where needed, the
city's infrastructure for accession to the Customs
Union, the Hamburg Senate and the German Empire
agreed upon a comprehensive development pro-
gramme. The imperial government contributed 40
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million marks toward the investment cost, which the
senate was free to employ at its discretion within the
context of the construction measures that had been
contractually agreed upon. In 1881, it was estimated
that this sum would cover half the cost, but only a
year later the estimate had risen to a maximum of
123 million marks. Of this, 54.5 million were ear
marked for the purchase of plots of land necessary
to build the Speicherstadt and the Customs Canal.
The cost of the actual building of the Speicherstadt
was not included. This part of the investment was to
be shouldered by the Hamburg Free Port Warehouse
Association (HFLG), a joint stock company yet to be
established. In other words, the capital had to be col-
lected from private investors.

The owners and users of the Speicherstadt

On 7 March 1885, the Hamburg Free Port Ware-
house Association (HFLG) was founded to fund
the building of the Speicherstadt. However, the
property on which the latter was to be built con-
tinued to be state-owned. It was leased to HFLG
subject to the condition that the city receives a
share in the proceeds. Also, the city was author-
ised to successively acquire all of the shares in
the HFLG joint stock company. This objective was
not achieved prior to 1928, but the HFLG acted as
a de facto state-owned enterprise right from the
start. For instance, it was obliged to submit cost
estimates, quotes and development plans to the
Senate. The HFLG was not even able to indepen-
dently fix the rents it charged. In 1935, the HFLG
was merged with the Administrative Agency for
Quays (Staatliche Kaiverwaltung) and in 1939 it
was renamed the Hamburg Port and Warehouse
plc (HHLA). In 2005, its name was changed yet
again to Hamburg Port and Logistics plc. Before
the initial public offering in 2007, the HHLA was
split into two separate enterprises, namely one
for port logistics and the other for real estate. The
Speicherstadt belongs to the latter. The shares in
the real estate enterprise remained the property
of the city. In other words, the Speicherstadt has
practically never changed hands.

There was a political consensus according to which
the Speicherstadt should not become subject to pri-
vate interests, neither during its construction nor in
terms of how it was managed. But because Ham-
burg'’s political leadership considered it inexpedient
to ignore the specific needs and requirements of
certain sectors of industry or of individual compa-
nies, private investors were given the opportunity
to invest in their own warehouses. This offer was
only taken up by three enterprises, though: two
wine traders, namely Jebens and Lorenz-Meyer,
and Hanssen & Studt who invested in their own pri-
vate coffee warehouse on St. Annenufer.

The city also acted as an investor: It had the Boiler
House and the so-called state-owned warehouse
(Staatsspeicher) built, which made a lot of sense as
these buildings were intended for special uses with
a partially public character. The state-owned ware-
house on Kehrwieder street housed a post office
and a customs clearance station; the one on Sand-
torkai accommodated the machine hall. The technical
facilities were leased to begin with and later, in 1899,
sold to HFLG. The state-owned warehouse on Kehr-
wieder street and the three privately owned ones
were later also sold to HFLG and HHLA respectively.

Few of the warehouses were managed by HFLG direct-
ly. Instead, they were leased to independent storage
managers and quality surveyors, the Quartiersleute, as
they are still called to this day. The Quartiersleute took
in imported goods on consignment, took samples from
them and upgraded them. Thus, they acted as interme-
diaries, a phenomenon typical of the trading activities
in the port of Hamburg at the time. The Quartiersleute
did business with foreign trade customers, but were
also entrusted with raw materials by producers.

There are official documents to show that the
Quartiersleute have been around in Hamburg since
1693. In those early days, they were commissioned to
go from warehouse to warehouse and carry out any
tasks that might be required of them by merchants.
Later they set up their own permanent storage busi-
nesses, a process that was helped by the building of the
Speicherstadt. To begin with, the HFLG took a sceptical



view of the Quartiersleute, but in hindsight it can be said
that it was the continuity provided by them that ensured
the success of the Speicherstadt: This continuity meant
that merchants could rely on the Quartiersleute as their
on-site contacts with the necessary expertise regarding
their precious commaodities, and who could be trusted
to store and process them correctly.

Coffee traders, among them numerous agents and bro-
kers, also wanted their own offices and storage spaces.
They were given block segment N and parts of block O
which, however, remained the property of HFLG. Block
O also came to house the Coffee Exchange which was
established in 1887 It was the third forward trade com-
modity exchange for unprocessed coffee in the world
after New York and Le Havre. The commodity exchange
boosted the coffee trade in Hamburg and made the city
one of the most important trading locations for this com-
modity.

Preparing the ground for the Speicherstadt project
and the organization of the building site

Demolition of the existing buildings on the Brookinseln
started on Kehrwieder on 1 November 1883. By the end
of 1887 the entire area up to what now is St. Annen
street was cleared. In other words, those plots of land
where the second construction phase was going to start
in 1891 were already being prepared.

Fig. 83:  Demolition works on the Brookinseln around
1884
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The project was driven forward under great pres-
sure of time, which is why the building of new in-
frastructure was commenced with as soon as a
new piece of land became available. The area was
divided into lots. This offered the advantage of
being able to start work on pieces of new infra-
structure on one plot while demolition was still on-
going on the neighbouring ones. However, it also
meant that work flows had to be carefully coordi-
nated and planned in advance. Another challenge
was to simultaneously elevate the area to a flood-
safe level.

The contracts signed with builders, developers
and producers contained clauses to the effect that
fines were payable if deadlines were not met. This
had the desired effect of contracts being fulfilled
to the letter. The efficacy of this regime was un-
equivocally demonstrated when the iron skeletons
were built: The individual elements, such as lat-
ticed support pillars and segments of riveted ceil-
ing joists were supplied ready for assembly by iron
producers based in the Ruhr district and in DUs-
seldorf. To use modern jargon, the building of the
Speicherstadt was a very early example of just-in-
time-production.

2.b.1.4 Creating the necessary infrastructure

a)The waterways

Traditionally, transport by water within the port
of Hamburg was mostly by barge, the so-called
Schuten. To allow them to access the Speicherstadt,
three 20 to 25 m wide canals were built. The main
canal extended over the entire length of the Spei-
cherstadt from the Kehrwiederspitze in the west to
the Oberhafen in the east. Parallel to it, WWandrahms-
fleet canal was built, providing access only to the
warehouses of the second and third construction
phases. Kleines Fleet canal connects the two. The
main canal was not named as such, but its designa-
tions match the respective streets that run parallel to
it: Kehrwiederfleet, Brooksfleet, St. Annenfleet and
Hollandischbrookfleet.
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At the inauguration of the Speicherstadt in 1888,
the canals were not yet complete, but only ex
tended from the Kehrwiederspitze to St.Annen.
The remainder was only finished during the third
construction phase, which is why Brooksfleet ca-
nal takes a southward bend at St. Annenbrlcke,
where it converges with an unnamed stretch of
canal, crosses underneath Brooktorkai and finally
converges with the Brooktorhafen. In contrast, the
western part of Wandrahmsfleet canal ends sud-
denly at a dam.

While the first construction phase of the Speicherstadt
was taking place, the Customs Canal was being
widened. This was achieved by merging Muhlen-
fleet and its continuation to the east, Dovenfleet,
so that they together formed one 45 m wide wa-
terway, instead of the earlier two which had widths
of only 10 to 15 metres each. The Customs Canal
primarily served the purpose of channelling inland
vessels past the free port. Also, this was the place
where goods to be transported on to destinations
up the River Elbe were transhipped from barges to
so-called Oberlander Kahne. They took care of hin-
terland connections all the way to what today con-
stitutes the Czech Republic. That is why the quays
on the free port side of the Customs Canal were
lined with large sheds where the goods were made
available for loading and unloading. These sheds
were one-storey structures with iron frameworks
and infill brickwork of red brick.

In the west, the Customs Canal converges with
the Binnenhafen which is part of the waterway
infrastructure of the Speicherstadt. This port basin
was basically left in its original condition, which
presumably dates back to the 16th century, i.e. it
mostly kept its rather irregular shape. However, its
southern embankment was straightened to ren-
der a continuous stretch of quay, the continuation
of which was the Customs Canal. The Oberlander
Kahne were also loaded and unloaded here. At the
same time, the Binnenhafen and the Customs Ca-
nal delimitated the free port zone, which is why
there were customs buildings at both locations.

Fig. 84:  Brooksfleet with Schuten (special little barges),
1937

The outer quay walls on the Brookinseln were built
during the hours of low tide, i.e. work progress had to
be timed to coincide with the tidal rhythm. \Work on
the quay walls of the interior canals, by contrast, could
be carried out in protected sections closed off by cof-
ferdams. All of the quay walls were given a red brick
facing. In those parts where they were not built on,
the top edge of the quay walls was made of blocks of
granite. Inserted into the quay walls were steel casings
with vertical mooring bitts for vessels. There were two
or even three of these on top of one another, because
the River Elbe is a tidal watercourse where the differ
ence in water level can be considerable.

b) Streets

With the exception of the streets on the quays in
the Sandtorhafen and later in the Brooktorhafen,
the entire street network in the Speicherstadt
had to be built from scratch. Three streets were
built in an east-westerly direction which, wherev-
er possible, ran parallel to the canals. This mostly
produced regular floor plans for the construction
of the warehouse blocks. However, due to the
topography of the islands, this was not possible
on some parts of the Brookinseln. The three long
streets in an east-westerly direction were inter-
sected by seven smaller ones with a north-south-
erly orientation, as well as the bridges linking the
Speicherstadt with the city.



Fig. 85:  Bei St. Annen street at the Speicherstadt,
around 1936

Most of the streets were narrow and no distinc-
tions were made for expected traffic volumes. The
only exceptions were Sandtorkai, Bei St. Annen
and, from 1909, Poggenmiuhle, which constituted
the main access routes to and from the Speicher
stadt: They were wider and also catered to through-
traffic in the direction of the port basins on Grosser
Grasbrook and the railway freight station which was
situated in the south-east part of the Speicherstadt.
Because of their small widths, Kibbelsteg and Kehr-
wiedersteg, by contrast, were one-way streets.
This meant that traffic in the north-south direction
was concentrated in the area of the first construc-
tion phase, i.e. on Auf dem Sande. The streets are
consistently covered with rows of granite cobbles.

Alongside carriageways sidewalks were built eve-
rywhere in the Speicherstadt. They were also cob-
bled and separated from the carriageway by granite
kerbstones. The warehouses in the Speicherstadt
do not have loading platforms, meaning that side-
walks were also used as work areas for goods to
be lifted to or lowered down from the upper ware-
house storeys. The set-off sidewalks ensured that
horse-drawn drays parking next to warehouse
fronts when loading and unloading would not get
too close to the facades and damage them. In the
1950s, the warehouse blocks were equipped with
delivery shafts leading down into basements and
covered with steel hatches. This meant that side-
walks could not be used when the hatches were
open.

c)The bridges

The Speicherstadt development meant that not only
streets and canals had to be newly built, but also all
of the bridges connecting it with the city centre. Only
the old bridge Wandrahmsbriicke in the Oberhafen,
built in 1859, remained in place for many years be-
fore being replaced in 1909.

The bridge designs were by Franz Andreas Meyer
and his successors Eduard Vermehren and Friedrich
Sperber. Before WWI, no less than 19 bridges were
been built. The figure is even higher, namely 22, if
those providing access to and from Ericusspitze
are included. No warehouses were built on the Eri-
cusspitze.

The dimensions of the Speicherstadt project and all
the related construction measures were such that it
could only succeed if there was a certain amount of
standardisation regarding the types of construction
and design used. This explains why nearly all of the
Speicherstadt bridges were arched bridges made of
riveted profiled iron with a low lying carriageway.

Fig. 86:  Grosse Wandrahmsbrtcke, around 1915
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Fig. 87:  Brooksbriicke with Hammonia and Germania, around 1900

The bridges built during the first and second con-
struction phases, including Wandbereiterbrlcke,
were all designed by Franz Andreas Meyer. They
feature lavishly designed wrought-iron railings. The
bridges built later, by contrast, are equipped with
simple railings consisting of horizontal and vertical
round bars.

The Brooksbriicke, Jungfernbriicke (both built in
1886/87) and Grosse Wandrahmsbricke (1907-1909)
bridges span the Customs Canal. While their con-
struction design is basically the same as that of the
other Speicherstadt bridges, they were given promi-
nence by adding towers and gate buildings at their
ends. These additions are reminiscent of medieval
fortifications, thereby completing the image of a
“city of warehouses” In concert with the Customs
Canal waters, these bridges constitute a powerful
mise-en-scene of the free port boundaries.

In addition, Brooksbriicke was adorned with two
sculptures at its northern end. This was the place
where the symbolic keystone was laid by Emperor

Wilhelm Il on 29 October 1888 when Hamburg's
accession to the Customs Union officially entered
into force. A plague commemorating the act was
set in the south-west bridge tower. The sculptures
created on the occasion of the ceremonial open-
ing by Aloys Denoth represent Hammonia and
Germania, personifying Hamburg and the German
Empire.

The fourth bridge across the Customs Canal, Korn-
hausbrlcke (1887/88), is the only one that has a
different design: The carriageway of this bridge is
suspended by tie rods from iron trusses that rest
on four granite plinths. There is no gate on this
bridge. Instead, Kornhausbricke is adorned with
four larger-than life sculptures of red sandstone
on plinths, showing Christopher Columbus and
Vasco da Gama on the north side (sculptured by
Carl Boerner and Hermann Husaeus respectively)
and Thomas Cook and Ferdinand Magellan on the
south side (the sculptors of these figures are un-
known). The sculptures were created in 1903.



The bridge abutments were given a brickwork fac-
ing and are richly ornamented with cut stone details,
such as consoles, balustrades and imitated cut stone
work at the edges. Inserted into some of the abut-
ments are stairways leading to the water. At Kan-
nengiesserortbricke and Kornhausbriicke these
stairways provide access to public toilets. The cut
stone window and door frames were designed in a
way that blends in with the overall appearance of the
bridge constructions. At St. Annenbrlicke the stair
ways were combined with the Manned Fire Alarm
Station of the Speicherstadt.

d) Railway tracks

There was disagreement about whether the ware-
house blocks should be connected to the railway net-
work. The proximity of the shunting yard on Brook-
torkai made this a realistic enough option, but only
blocks J, K, L and M, as well as the Boiler House were
in fact connected. The tracks were integrated into the
cobbled street surfaces. Connecting the other blocks
must also have been seriously considered, because
the ground floors of all blocks were elevated to the
level of railway platforms. A further indication of this
is the fact that the radius of Neuerwegsbrtcke at the
point where it links up with Pickhubenbricke is such
that railway tracks could have been laid there later.
These tracks would have established a connection
with Kehrwieder in the direction of Brook.

2.b.1.5 The building of the Speicherstadt

The architects of the Speicherstadt

Building the Speicherstadt was an outstanding
achievement in terms of the technical, urban planning
and architectural challenges it presented. This achieve-
ment was mainly credited to Chief Engineer Franz An-
dreas Meyer, who was considered its “creator” and
already held in high esteem during his lifetime.

In reality, Franz Andreas Meyer only drew up the
plans for the publicly funded part of the Speicher
stadt, namely the bridges, the two state-owned
warehouses and the buildings housing technical
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and operational facilities. However, it is fair to as-
sume that the specific qualities of the Speicher
stadt are quite inconceivable without his influence.

As early as 1880, Franz Andreas
Meyer was involved in the pre-
planning activities required in the
context of Hamburg's accession
to the Customs Union. Conse-
quently, the early draft designs
for the warehouses were not pro-
duced by the construction division
of HFLG, but by the engineers of Fig. 88: Franz
the Parliamentary Consultative Andreas Meyer
Committee for City Development

(Baudeputation). Also during the later planning and
construction stages, all project plans and designs
had to be presented to and reviewed by him per
sonally. When he died, his deputy for many years,
Eduard Vermehren, took over the post of chief en-
gineer, thereby giving the further development of
the Speicherstadt a measure of continuity. Frie-
drich Sperber, who succeeded Eduard Vermehren
in 1907 found it difficult to add his own note to the
Speicherstadt, as its construction had largely been
completed by then.

Both Meyer and Vermehren were educated at the
Hanover Polytechnic which was later to become the
Technical University of Hanover. For decades, the
teachings of Conrad Wilhelm Hase dominated there.
When he designed the individual warehouse blocks,
Meyer took particular care to make sure that his
mentor’s design principles were rigorously adhered
to. Meyer found a congenial colleague in Georg Thie-
len who had also studied in Hanover. Thielen was the
architect responsible for most of the warehouses of
the first construction phase, as well as block P from
the second phase (see also below).

Conrad Wilhelm Hase was guided by red brick
Gothic. Meyer not only chose this specific style,
but his favourite design tool was fairfaced ma-
sonry. Consequently, in the Speicherstadt there are
hardly any explicitly Gothic motifs, such as pointed
arches or cross-rib vaults. However, it was essen-
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tial for him that the facades be exclusively made of
bricks and similar materials. One of the premises
of Hase's quasi-modular design was that all struc-
tural and ornamental elements should consistently
be derived from the format of the bricks. This was
a characteristic feature of the “Hanover School” The
art historian Cornelius Gurlitt expressed this back
in 1899 when he described developments in the
German arts during the 19th century by saying that
“he (Hase) elevated the dimensions of bricks to the
status of a principle; in his draft designs, the height
of the joints between brick courses determined all
vertical measurements; the brick measurements
took precedence over any ornamentation design
and structure [...]"

With the exception of the state-owned buildings
and the three privately operated warehouses, the
responsibility for the planning and building of the
Speicherstadt rested with the HFLG, although the
engineers of the Baudeputation had a say and acted
as supervisors of the project. The HFLG had a con-
struction division of its own, run by chief engineer
Heinrich Hagn. In the period leading up to the com-
pletion of the first construction phase, it employed
15 engineers, 24 architects and 23 building supervi-
sors. However, for many years the HFLG was not
in charge of the design of facades and the outer
appearance of the warehouses: It was responsible
mainly for the construction, floor plans, the techni-
cal facilities and equipment of the blocks. As for the
outer design, independent architects were either
directly commissioned or selected through compe-
titions. The first blocks where HFLG designed the
facades were block X (1908 — 1912) and the eastern
half of block W (1925 - 1927).

In this context, Georg Thielen occupies a pre-em-
inent position. It is likely that he was personally
sponsored by Franz Andreas Meyer, for whom he
had worked in the Baudeputation. With the excep-
tion of blocks B, N and O and the two state-owned
warehouses, Thielen designed all of the blocks of
the first construction phase. He also designed block
P in the second construction phase. Like Meyer,
Thielen had studied in Hanover and was a repre-

sentative of the Hanover School (cf. above). The
Speicherstadt owes its homogeneous overall ap-
pearance to Thielen's plans and designs, which, it
can be surmised, were greatly inspired by Meyer.
The two architects must have developed an excep-
tionally congenial cooperation. This is evidenced by
the harmonious unity formed by block D, which was
designed by Thielen, and the state-owned ware-
house next to it designed by Meyer: While the two
contiguous buildings have their individual designs,
they merge perfectly to form a harmonious unit.

The design of the Speicherstadt was also heav-
ily influenced by the architects Hanssen & Meer
wein, to whose designs blocks N, O, Q, R, U and
V, as well as the two HFLG administration buildings
were built. They were not entirely free in their de-
sign work, though, as they had to cooperate with
other architects: When designing blocks N and O,
part of which was the first HFLG administration
building, they had to consult with Stammann & Zin-
now. When working on the second administration
building for HFLG in block U, they had to cooper-
ate with Johannes Grotjan. Bernhard Georg Hans-
sen and Wilhelm Emil Meerwein knew each other
from their time at Karlsruhe University. However,
despite being educated in southern Germany, the
neo-Gothic brick architecture was not alien to them,
as is evident in the quay shed constructed by them
in Brooktorhafen (1878 — 1879): It clearly anticipates
some of the characteristic features of the Speicher
stadt architecture.

Hanssen & Meerwein and the other architects
they cooperated with, i.e. Johannes Grotjan, Hugo
Stammann and Gustav Zinnow, were among the
seven "“town hall building masters” who, simul-
taneously with the construction of the Speicher-
stadt, worked on the new city hall for Hamburg
(1886 — 1897). They were established architects —
quite unlike Georg Thielen who was only 30 years
old in 1885. Bernhard Hanssen was privileged to
have a brother, Adolph Hanssen, who was one of
the owners of the coffee trading company Hans-
sen & Studt. This put him in contact with leading
members of the business community. It was hard-



ly a coincidence, therefore, that Hanssen & Meer-
wein were shortlisted in the competition for the
building of blocks N and O. As mentioned above,
these warehouses were designed for use by the
coffee traders. The warehouse privately operated
by Hanssen & Studt (today block R 3) was also
built by Hanssen & Meerwein.

The architects Gustav Schrader and company played
an important role during the third construction phase.
They had so far only made the plans for the rather
small warehouse privately operated by Jebens and
company. Together with the warehouse for Lorenz-
Meyer, built to designs by Puttfacken & Janda, this
warehouse was called block B. Gustav Schrader died
long before the end of the century, so that the de-
signs for blocks S, T and W (its western half) were
probably the work of his son, Albert Schrader, and
his partner Ernst Balzer. They continued to trade un-
der the well-established name of the father. There
are few documents and biographical data on these
three architects, who primarily worked in the con-
struction of industrial and commercial buildings.
They designed some of Hamburg’'s major factory
buildings of the period.

2.b.1.6 The historic Speicherstadt buildings:
design, construction, technical
equipment and installations

When drawing up the plans for the Speicher
stadt, Franz Andreas Meyer, Chief Engineer in the
Baudeputation, took over some of the warehouse
infrastructure concepts with a long-standing tradi-
tion in Hamburg: Storage in the new Speicherstadt
warehouses was going to be on several levels, to
and from which goods would be lifted and lowered
with the help of winches, a technology that had been
around for centuries. The load ropes were attached
to the top parts of the warehouse block facades.
Each storage space was equipped with hinged or
sliding wooden loading doors on both the water and
land sides. They are called Luken (hatches). These
loading doors were arranged in vertical axes termi-
nating in gables at the roof level. The winch derricks
were protected by coppercovered pediments.
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Overall, though, the commonalities between the old
warehouses and their modes of operation and the new
Speicherstadt were outweighed by the differences:
The new Speicherstadt warehouses were modern con-
structions equipped with innovative technical systems
such as electrical lighting and hydraulically-operated
drives for winches and platform lifts. In addition, fire
precautions were improved vis-a-vis the old type of
warehouse buildings. Also, the new warehouse blocks
had efficiency-oriented floor plans, which render the
Speicherstadt architecture almost proto-modern.

The buildings of the first construction phase cover
an area of some 250,000 m2. In order to cope with
the sheer volume of construction within the three
years that remained until accession to the Cus-
toms Union, the builders had to use pre-fabricated
construction modules. They needed to standardise
floor plans and introduce standardised components
and operation modes. In all this, while considera-
tions of economy were strictly observed, no com-
promises were made when it came to craftsman-
ship and the technical quality and sturdiness of
buildings. Only economical use was made of glazed
and special bricks and ashlar elements. In view of
such rigid requirements, the diversity and hetero-
geneity of design of the warehouses is remarkable,
although the same building materials are shared by
most of them - as are the structures and decorative
elements.

a) Skeleton constructions

The entire Speicherstadt was built on wooden foun-
dation piles which were driven into the ground by
steam-operated pile-driving machines. The piles
used were mostly 12 m long conifer logs. Several
parallel rows of piles were driven into those ground
sections where the outer and fire walls were to be
erected. Support pillars inside the skeleton construc-
tions were provided with foundations consisting of
groups of between 13 and 26 piles, depending on
the load bearing capacity required. The pillars do not
rest directly on the piles, though. Instead, the loads
are distributed via clinker brick columns and granite
and iron slabs located beneath the basements.
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Fig. 89:  Plan, view and ground plan of block L,
September 1887
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Fig. 90:  Section through warehouse J with supporting
pillar and beam construction, September 1885

All warehouse blocks are skeleton constructions,
but their specifics changed over time as better fire
protection became available. Nearly all of the iron
skeletons from the first construction phase, namely
blocks A through O (1885-88), plus block P (1891/92)
from the second phase, feature riveted latticed sup-
port pillars, plus ceiling joists and double-t-profiled
longitudinal beams. Many of these elements were
pre-fabricated and delivered to the construction site
where, for the most part, they were assembled in-
dependently of the outer walls. Blocks N and O are
exceptions in that, instead of latticed support pil-
lars, they rest on a combination of four l-shaped

profiles. Block B is built on cast iron pillars. In con-
trast, most of the ceilings in the buildings from the
first construction phase were made of wood.

On 20 April 1891, a fire broke out in the state-
owned warehouse on Sandtorkai. The part of the
building used by Hanssen & Studt was completely
destroyed because the filigree latticed pillars buck-
led as a result of the intense heat of the fire. Conse-
quently, the new warehouse built for them used oak
pillars and conifer joists and beams. What might ap-
pear to be a paradox is in fact a sensible fire precau-
tion: When exposed to heat and fire, the properties
of wood are much more favourable that those of
bare iron. The next generation of warehouse blocks,
i.e. blocks Q, R, S, T and U, built between 1894 and
1902, were also constructed as wooden skeletons.
However, some of the ceilings in these warehouses
were fireproof. They alternated with wooden ceil-
ings and served as fire barriers.

Over time, the sourcing of quality logs on world
markets was getting more and more difficult —
some timber was already being imported from
Canada. This is why in blocks W and V (built in
1903-04 and 1905-07 respectively) cast iron pillars
were used, now coated with an insulating layer of
cork or plaster or clad with sheet metal. In block X
(1908-1912) iron pillars were used again, this time
encased in concrete. In blocks W, V and X the ceil-
ings were also made of concrete. These so-called
“Koenensche Voutendecken” were a pre-cursor to
reinforced concrete ceilings. The eastern half of
block W (1925-27) was consistently constructed as
a steel skeleton.

b) Floor plans

When drawing up the plans for the warehouse
blocks, economics and fire protection played a
major role. All warehouse blocks were divided
into fire sections by fire walls which were sig-
nificantly higher than the warehouse roofs so as
to prevent a fire in one section spreading to the
next. In the warehouses from the first construc-
tion phase, the sizes of these sections vary con-



siderably, some of them having an extension of
up to 800 m2. In the later blocks, fire sections
were standardised and measure approximately
400 m2. This reduced the extent of potential dam-
age.

Staircases were integrated with shafts for the pipes
of the hydraulic winch drive system so as to prevent
built-in fixtures and other building infrastructure get-
ting in the way of flexible uses of the large storage
spaces. The perimeter walls of these warehouse core
zones also functioned as fire walls. All interior points
of access were equipped with fire doors. In the early
days of the Speicherstadt project, emergency escape
routes were not considered necessary. Block P (1892)
was the first to be built with emergency staircases.

In an effort to save space when designing emergen-
cy exits, the architects of block Q and R (1896-96)
introduced “Westphalen Towers’ i.e. rounded tower
bays with spiral stairways located exclusively on the
water side of warehouses. They were partially inte-
grated into the floor spaces. Every two fire sections
shared one Westphalen Tower, which, together with
iron balconies, provided external access. These pic-
turesque Westphalen Towers are particularly charac-
teristic of the warehouses built during the third con-
struction phase: They were crowned with conical or
pyramid-shaped rooftops. The name “Westphalen”
derives from Adolf Libert Westphalen, then Ham-
burg’s Chief Fire Safety Officer (Branddirektor) who
had studied architecture and proposed the idea.

c) Technical infrastructure, installations and other
facilities in the Speicherstadt

When the warehouses were built, particular attention
was paid to their technical facilities. The Speicherstadt
was Hamburg's first large urban development to be
comprehensively fitted out with electrical lighting. The
decision in favour of electrical lighting was taken with
fire protection considerations in mind: The petroleum
and gas lamps still customary in the 1880s not only
presented a major fire hazard, there was even the
danger of explosion. Also, all bridges in the Speicher
stadt and the quays on the Customs Canal and in the
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Binnenhafen were furnished with carbon arc lamps.
The brightly lit quays, it was hoped, would allow for
better control of the free port and customs border.

The decision to electrify the Speicherstadt clearly
placed Hamburg among the cities pioneering this new
technology. This is evident when we remind ourselves
of the fact that the first central power station in the
US did not commence operations until 4 September
1882: This was the Edison Electric llluminating Com-
pany of New York in Pearl Street which initially only
served 59 customers. Around this time the decision
was taken in Hamburg to electrically illuminate all of
the warehouses blocks in the Speicherstadt, including
parts of the street space.

Electrification of the winches was not an option at the
beginning of the 1880s, as electrical motors did not
yet have sufficient output to lift loads of up to 750
kilogrammes, the maximum load the winches were
designed for. Instead, a hydraulically powered system
was installed that operated on the basis of pressur
ised water supplied to all warehouses by a central sta-
tion. The winches, which functioned as inverse pulleys
were placed in pedimented winch bays at roof level.

The warehouse basements were fitted with hydrau-
lic platform lifts installed in additional basement hatch
openings on the street side. In the first and second
construction phases these basement hatches were
combined with the main entrances, thus forming dou-
ble portals.

When several winches were operated at the same
time, a severe loss of pressure in the hydraulic sys-
tem would have resulted. To prevent this, so-called
“accumulators” were installed. These were quite in-
conspicuous as they were integrated into the ensem-
ble of the warehouse blocks, e.g. in the towers of the
Boiler House or of Jungernbriicke. More accumula-
tors were placed in the first floor of the Central Power
House. When the Speicherstadt was nearly complete
there was a pipe network of some 14.2 km in length,
which supplied hydraulic power to 333 hoists. At the
same time, there were another 202 manually oper
ated hoists.
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d) Technical operations buildings

The electrical generators for the illumination of the
Speicherstadt and the pumps for the hydraulic drive
system were placed in the so-called Central Power
House. To begin with, the hydraulic system also pow-
ered many of the machines inside the warehouses,
such as the coffee bean screener. The Central Power
House was initially located in the state-owned ware-
house on Sandtorkai. Only later was it given a build-
ing of its own. After parts of the state-owned ware-
house burnt down and collapsed in April 1891, the
upper storage storeys were not rebuilt. Those parts
of the warehouse which had survived and the ma-
chine hall were integrated into a new building that is
now part of block M.

Via a tunnel the Central Power House was con-
nected to the neighbouring Boiler House by two in-

0

Fig. 91:  Central Power House and Boiler House, around 1890

dependent steam mains. The Boiler House started
operating with five flue boilers. In 1898-99, a further
four were added. The coal that powered the boilers
was shipped to Brooksfleet by barges from where it
was transported to a low-lying casemate by way of a
crane way. The casemate was situated beneath the
sidewalk on Sandtorkai, so that the coal was simply
gravitation-fed from the coal bunkers directly to the
stoke holes of the boilers.

Over time more and more companies needed elec-
trical power for their machinery, so that the demand
for electricity exceeded the levels originally planned
for. Therefore, a second, city gas driven genera-
tor was built and started operating in 1901. It was
integrated into the ground floor of the eastern end
of block U. This “machine hall” was distinguishable
from the outside only by its large windows, for the
rest it blended in with the warehouse structure.
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Fig. 92:  Steam Boiler Complex in the Central Power Fig. 93:  Block N/O with first administration building of
House, around 1890 the HFLG around 1890

e) The design of the historic blocks

All blocks from the first construction phase plus block
P from the second had the same structure. The wa-
ter and land side facades were very similar in design:
They had one or two ground-floors-turned-base-lev-
els with large windows for the offices of storage and
trading companies, but were also used for storage.
There were three or four upper storeys designed ex-
clusively for storage, which is why they had smaller
windows. All blocks were built with hipped, steep-
pitched roofs, the large surface areas of which were
given a rhythmic structure by the gables of winch
bays. In most blocks the vertical loading door axes
extended from the ground floor to the pedimented
winch bays, thus conferring an architectural unity on
the three heterogeneous zones of the facades. Cer
tain exposed parts of the blocks, such as their ends
were given prominence through gables and towers.
This created a powerful visual effect, ensuring that
the Speicherstadt could be seen from a distance.

Blocks N, O and H feature some modifications of this
structural set-up. Blocks N and O were reserved for
coffee trading companies. Their three lowest storeys
were exclusively used as office space, which is why
these storeys had large windows throughout. The
three upper storeys were for storage only, as was
hinted at by the change in window size and the exist-

ence of loading doors (there were no loading doors Fig. 95:  Jungfernbriicke and blocks P Q, O and H,
around 1900

on office floors).
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Because of its trapezoid floor plan, block H was par-
ticularly suitable for use as office space. However, it
did not offer much storage space, which is why it has
loading doors only in the interior court facade. There
are large windows on all storeys of block H.

Blocks Q and R from the second construction
phase and blocks S, T, U, V, (the western half of)
block W plus block X from the third phase were de-
signed in this way. However, contrasting with the
consistent use of steep-pitched roofs in the afore-
mentioned blocks, these warehouses were built

Fig. 96: Block S, second administration building of the
HFLG, blocks U andV, around 1910

Fig. 97:  Block W, view from southeast, showing West
phalen Towers, around 1930

with flat gable roofs. This offered the advantage
of being able to increase the number of standard
storeys from five to seven. On their water side,
these blocks were built with Westphalen Towers:
Rounded bay towers containing spiral stairways
which served as emergency escape routes.

All facades were given red brick facings with lav-
ish decoration in the shape of friezes, cornices,
dripstones, blind arches, bays, consoles, shallow
risalto projections and tower bays, as interpreted
by the Hanover School. Additional ornamentation
included the upper storey window axes receding
from the front of the compact masonry. The differ-
ent facade layers created a powerful relief effect.
There were decorative strips made of coloured or-
namental bricks, some of them glazed, or made
of clinkers. In a few cases, small wall sections
were tiled or given a facing of dark green glass
bricks. These decorative elements accentuated
the fair-faced red brick facades and made the Spei-
cherstadt warehouses the treasure chest of Ham-
burg’s merchants, containing their most precious
wares. Except for the administration buildings of
the HFLG, cut stone was not a widely-used mate-
rial in the Speicherstadt: It was only employed for
certain exposed parts of buildings such as their en-
trance portals. Thus, the choice of material reflects
the different status of buildings arising from their
different functions.

The two administration blocks of the HFLG were
directly attached to blocks O and U respectively.
They were thus fully integrated into the block struc-
ture of the Speicherstadt. However, their facades
are ennobled by prestigious structural effects and
decorative elements of sandstone. Whereas the
first administration building had been designed
in ways that adhered to the neo-Gothic character
of block O, in the second administration building
these decorative elements were executed as a
mix of Renaissance and late Gothic styles. Since
both administration buildings were built as end-ad-
ditions to existing blocks, they were free to unfold
their full potential on three sides which gave them
more presence in the Speicherstadt than their rel-
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Fig. 98:  Blocks A/B/C and J/K with historical customs sheds on the customs canal, around 1900

atively small size warranted. This prominence was
further enhanced by their richly diversified roofs,
consisting of gables, tower bays, pedimented bays
and small transverse gables.

The building of block X (1908-1912) and the eastern
half of block W (1925-1927) marked the advent of
Modernism in the Speicherstadt. At the eaves, block
X was decorated with historicising arched friezes,
but abstract geometrical shapes were chosen for
the remaining surfaces, which was in line with the
general trend in German architecture towards more
sober designs. This was becoming the dominant
trend in German architecture from around 1910. In
the upper storeys of the western half of block W and
a large part of block X, the masonry was unstruc-
tured and there were no accentuations, e.g. in the
shape of coloured decorative strips. The eastern
half of block W is clearly different from the earlier
warehouse blocks in that it has very expressive pil-
lared facades made of dark red clinker and its design
shapes are more austere. But even here, some of

the characteristic motifs of earlier blocks, such as the
loading door axes, the Westphalen Towers and the
distinctive design of the bases of buildings versus
upper storage storeys were repeated.

f) The historic customs buildings

For functional reasons and because ownership
structures were not the same everywhere, some
buildings in the Speicherstadt were not part of the
block structure. This is particularly true of the cus-
toms buildings on the Customs Canal and in the
Binnenhafen. Until 2003, their south front delimitat-
ed the free port boundary. Originally, the customs
buildings and large sheds, which handled the tran-
shipment of goods to inland vessels (Oberlander
Kéhne), formed nearly uninterrupted rows of single-
or two storey buildings on both sides of the canal.
As a result, the part of the Speicherstadt that points
in the direction of the city centre has an almost her
metic character.
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Depending on their respective functions, the cus-
toms buildings fall into three categories: They
served control, customs clearance or administra-
tive purposes. In some buildings these three dif-
ferent uses were combined. The control stations
monitored traffic between the free port area and
the city centre, which is why they were positioned
at the bridges across the Customs Canal. They took
the shape of gates or towers at the ends of those
bridges (cf. above). At Kornhausbriicke and Nieder
baumbrlcke, which did not have any gates, sepa-
rate control stations were built. Their neo-Gothic
brick facades are clear instances of submission to
the overall architectural characteristics of the Spei-
cherstadt.

In contrast, the customs clearance buildings primarily
served the purpose of controlling horse-drawn drays
leaving the free port. Sometimes whole drays would
be completely unloaded in order that the goods on
them could be inspected and weighed. This is why
the ground floors of these buildings held large halls
which could be accessed via loading platforms and
loading doors. One such hall was integrated in the
state-owned warehouse on Kehrwieder street. This
building, which was also used by the customs au-
thorities, received a two-storey extension with a
lean-to roof at the gable.

On Kehrwieder street, two comparatively simple
buildings were erected, of which one was a half-tim-
bered, the other a massive masonry construction.
This is where customs documents were received and
customs paid. It is likely that they were conceived of
as temporary buildings right from the start: In the
course of the third construction phase, the St. Annen
Customs Head Office was built on Alter Wandrahm
(1899 - 1900), later extended by the Customs Main
Payment Office (1908 — 1912). From then on most
of the customs administration and clearance activi-
ties were carried out between Kornhausbrlcke und
Grosse Wandrahmsbrlcke where traffic was easier
to handle than at Brooksbricke.

On Alter Wandrahm, four very similar individual build-
ings were erected, three of which housed customs

clearance halls on their ground floors and administra-
tion offices in the upper storeys. The fourth building
complex exclusively served administrative purposes.
This group of buildings was designed by the archi-
tects of the Baudeputation, more particularly by its
Department of Hydraulic Engineering and Construc-
tion, and had the lavish design typical of the Hanover
School. It was an expression of Hamburg's assertion
as a sovereign city state: As explained above, within
the free port, the city state did in fact have a claim
to sovereignty.

g) The Winch Operators’ House and the Manned
Fire Alarm Station

The Manned Fire Alarm Station on St. Annen-
briicke and the so-called Winch Operators’ House
on Dienerreihe were also individual buildings. The
latter contained the official apartments for the tech-
nicians responsible for maintaining and repairing the
hydraulic winches, but also a garage and workshop on
the ground floor. This compact building with a hipped
roof, a clock turret and bays was built on a peninsula
between Wandrahmsfleet und Hollandischbrookfleet.
It is an exposed building which explains its sophisti-
cated design elements, such as decorative strips of
glazed green bricks and cut stone structures, all of
which accentuate the neo-Gothic brick facades.

Because of its very exposed position, the small one-
storey neo-Gothic gable roof building housing the
Manned Fire Alarm Station was also given a more ex-
quisite design than could have been expected from its
function: It sits on round pillars made of granite and
overlooks Hollandischbrookfleet.

2.b.1.7 Wartime destruction and reconstruction

a) Description of damages

The Speicherstadt was the target of repeated air
raids during WW [I. Of all the Speicherstadt build-
ings, those built during the first and second con-
structing phases were damaged most severely.
This was partly the result of their iron skeleton
constructions which proved less fire resistant.



Fig. 99:
only facades received; red: completely destroyed

In contrast, those blocks which had consist-
ently been compartmentalised into sections by
fire walls were superior in this regard, because
serious damage in one section tended to affect
only the respective part of the building, leaving
neighbouring blocks nearly or completely intact.
In the warehouse sections that were hit, often
only parts of facades collapsed. Some were even
left completely intact.

Blocks N, Q, S, V and X suffered hardly any dam-
age. In block W one fire section was severely
damaged, but the facade remained intact. In
block U, the damage caused was also relatively
minor, and its original facades have all been pre-
served. Blocks D, E, H and P have also largely
been preserved in their historic condition. In the
case of blocks G, R 2 and L, destruction claimed
about half of the original buildings. Of blocks M
and R 3, at least the land side facades were saved
and integrated into new buildings resembling the
older ones in style. The eastern sections of block
O containing the administration building of the
HFLG were hardly damaged, and what limited
damage there was could easily be remedied dur-
ing reconstruction.
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Damage map of the Speicherstadt after 1945, black: undestroyed or minor damage; grey: severe damage, partly

Blocks A/B/C, J/K and T were so badly hit that, ex-
cept for the foundations of block T, nothing remains
of the historic fabric of these buildings. The destruc-
tion of blocks A/B/C and J/K meant that all of the
historic buildings to the west of Kehrwiedersteg
were lost.

Not only buildings were hit during the war: The
Speicherstadt bridges also suffered: Kibbelsteg
was completely destroyed and on both Brooks-
bricke and Jungfernbriicke the gates at the bridge
ends were damaged.

The wooden pile foundations, by contrast, were
not severely damaged during WW Il so that, like
the quay walls, they could be used again when
reconstruction started.

b) Reconstruction between 1947-1967

Reconstruction of the Speicherstadt after WW Il was
primarily the work of the independent architect VWerner
Kallmorgen. He was keen to see the original overall ap-
pearance of the Speicherstadt re-established. The HHLA
carried out part of the reconstruction work to their own
designs, but they respected Kallmorgen's approach.
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Fig. 100: Damage at block L (left) and at block D (right), 1944

Blocks D, E, H, L, P and U were partly damaged, but
faithfully restored, with the exception of the roof sec-
tions: Here it was particularly the winch bays which
were simplified. The east gables of blocks D and P
were reconstructed using modern shapes.

In the case of block D, this seemed particularly justi-
fied, as this part of the building had been directly at-
tached to one of the customs buildings, the ruins of
which were torn down so that there was a gap. In con-
trast, block P collapsed entirely. In 1947, it was given
a new gable using bricks from the rubble heaps. They
were laboriously retrieved from the debris of buildings
destroyed by the air raids and stripped of their cement
and plaster residues. The design of block P includes
dome-shaped windows of the type also found in the
historic warehouses. Thus, block P comes across as
paraphrasing the characteristic Speicherstadt motifs.
At the same time, this block was to serve as a model
for the general reconstruction effort.

While there was also extensive damage in block M
and the former warehouse R 3, large parts of their
facades on the street side were saved. The water
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side fronts were given a new design, but their winch
bays and loading doors resemble those of the historic
warehouses.

Where the interior structures of warehouses were
irreversibly damaged, they were reconstructed as
reinforced concrete skeletons. During reconstruc-
tion, the architects let themselves be guided by the
original dimensions and measurements. The building
cores containing staircases and other means of ac-
cess were also preserved in many buildings and were
integrated into reconstruction efforts.

A completely different solution had to be found for
blocks A/B/C, J/K, for the eastern fire sections of block
G, the eastern part of block R, the two westernmost
thirds of block O and for block T. They had been so
severely damaged as to leave only ruins. These were
torn down and only the old foundations were used in
the reconstruction.

A customs clearance building was erected in the lo-
cation of the former block A/B/C on the Niederbaum-
brliicken bridges in the 1950s, part of which has only
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Fig. 103: Preserved staircase at block G, 2012

Fig. 102: Repaired block P with new eastern gable,
around 2010

Fig. 104: Block G with new building at the estém fire

section, 2012 Fig. 105: New building block T, 2011
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Fig. 106: Block O from northeast with pedestrian bridge to the new Coffee Exchange (right)

one storey while the rest has two. A new warehouse
built to designs by Werner Kallmorgen in 1963 re-
placed what had been left of the old block K.

The other destroyed or damaged blocks were re-
placed by office buildings. The eastern section of
block G was rebuilt in two parts. Directly attached
to the western blocks in the Speicherstadt, a new
office building was erected. Further to the east
there is an individual building that now houses the
coffee exchange which was formerly accommodat-
ed in block O.

Werner Kallmorgen developed a new contempo-
rary type of grid facade for the new office buildings
of block T, the eastern section of block R and the
western part of block G, both of which were newly
built. However, while they were modern in design,
they featured some of the characteristics of the
historic warehouses, such as almost uninterrupted
red brick facings and detailed craftsmanship, taking
the shape of brick-on-edge rowlock lintels, and thus
retained a traditionalist air. The precision masonry
employed in all facade details and developed on
the basis of standardised bricks is a result of the
aesthetics of the Hanover School with respect to
building materials. Much like in the new facade of

block P the dome-shaped windows of blocks R and
T echo elements from the historic Speicherstadt ar-
chitecture.

The new coffee exchange, built to designs by Kall-
morgen, Schramm & Elingius in 1955-56, departs
from the approach described above in terms of
the architectural language and the materials used.
The coffee exchange consists of the trading floor
proper, an office unit and an annex. The concrete
skeleton facades of the trading floor unit and the
annex are emphasised by a covering made of
sandstone. The trading floor has a slightly domed
and barrel-vaulted roof, while the other parts of
the building have flat roofs. The trading floor has
a suspended noise-insulating ceiling made of
wooden bars and undulates in the (same) rhythm
as the vaults. The east flank wall is dominated by
a coloured glass window showing coffee pick-
ers at work. It was made by the glaziers Kuball
& company. The west flank wall features several
world clocks indicating the local times of various
locations. Beneath the trading floor there was a
parking facility, while the upper storey houses a
bank branch office.



Block O, which used to house the coffee exchange,
is today made up of several parts: The eastern part
has been preserved in its picturesque historic de-
sign. It used to be the first administration building
of the HFLG. After the war, the warehouse directly
adjacent to it was reconstructed faithfully to the
historic building. The office building to the west, by
contrast, has a skeleton facade built to designs by
Werner Kallmorgen. It is made of dark grey rein-
forced concrete, the parapets (up to window height)
of which have infill panels of red brick. Later, Kall-
morgen built another warehouse block which was
demolished in 2003 to make room for a multi-storey
car park designed by the Hamburg-based architects
Gerkan, Mark und Partner. This new building also
imitates the historic warehouse architecture by em-
ploying the same brick material, through its cubi-
cal shape and its semblances of winch bays. Over
the years, block O has developed into a particularly
significant ensemble with a special quality deriving
from the tension between and combination of very
heterogeneous elements from the different phases
during which it was built

The new office unit of block O was connected with
the new coffee exchange via a glassed-in foot bridge
made of steel that spanned Brooksfleet. It was also
connected to the offices in block H via Pickhuben
street. Another foot bridge was built between the
office building part of block G and block H. The cor
ridors of block H also provided access to the Coffee
Exchange.

The historic bridges that survived the war underwent
some modifications in the post-war period. The war
damaged gates at the bridge ends of Brooksbrlicke
and Jungfernbriicke were lost in the 1950s when
the carriageways were raised to provide for more
clearance height for vessels in the Customs Canal.
At the same time, the large sheds on the Customs
Canal and in the Binnenhafen were removed. They
had simply become superfluous, because inland ves-
sels sailing up the River Elbe had long since started
to moor in the Saalehafen and the Moldauhafen. By
1962, St. Annenbriicke, Kehrwiedersteg and Grosse
Wandrahmsbriicke had been replaced by new bridges.
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The replacement of the Grosse Wandrahmsbriicke
meant that the last remaining bridge gate on the
Customs Canal was also lost.

2.b.1.8 Development of the Speicherstadt from
1945 until the present

After the end of WW I, it took more than 15 years
before the Speicherstadt was fully functional
again. Yet it never regained its pre-war impor
tance. This was not so much the consequence of
war time damage but had to do with the general
problems facing the port economy soon after the
war: The Cold War and the formation of the two
rival political blocks increasingly affected Ham-
burg: Until 1939, the city and its port were geo-
graphically well placed, with good connections to
the eastern part of Central Europe, but the po-
litical and economic division of Europe relegated
the city to a marginal position. This had dramatic
consequences for the port: In the record year of
1928, 29.6 million tons of goods were handled by
the Hamburg port. This figure was not reached
again for more than three decades. It was eventu-
ally topped in 1960 with 31 million tons. Of these,
a considerable part involved bulk handling, more
particularly the handling of mineral oils and petro-
leum products.

This explains why the decision was taken in the
1950s not to reconstruct blocks A/B/C and J. In
fact, the speed with which the reconstruction
programme for the Speicherstadt was being im-
plemented was generally reduced so that it was
not completed before 1967 which was the year in
which block T was finished. Some of the severely
damaged warehouse blocks or parts of blocks
were converted into office buildings in the course
of reconstruction. Thus, when reconstruction ef-
forts ended, the Speicherstadt's storage space
was actually smaller than before WW II. However,
the lion’s share of the storage space continued to
be used for storage so that the Speicherstadt still
had a claim to being the largest cohesive ware-
house complex in the world.
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Fig. 107: New buildings on the western tip of the Speicherstadt, around 2010

In the course of the 1980s it became clear that the
Speicherstadt could no longer compete with the rest
of the warehouse infrastructure in the port of Ham-
burg. More and more of the Quartiersleute moved
to modern single-storey warehouses or gave up their
businesses. At the same time, the trade in oriental
carpets, which had hitherto played only a minor role,
increased steadily: Not counting basements and at-
tics, around 60% of the leased storage space ended
up being taken up by oriental carpet traders, which for
a while made Hamburg the second most important
carpet trading location worldwide. However, since the
year 2000 this trade sector has also been shrinking.

Fig. 108: Conversed block U

The ends of the 20th and the beginning of the 21st
century have seen dramatic changes affecting the
Speicherstadt. In the 1990s, the area west of Kehr
wiedersteg was administratively separated from
the free port area, the rest of the Speicherstadt
followed in 2003. New buildings were erected to
the west of Kehrwiedersteg and south of Am Sand-
torkai and Brooktorkai respectively. Most of them
are office complexes which communicate with
the neighbouring HafenCity to the south. This area
is not included in the present nomination for the
Speicherstadt World Heritage Site. It is defined as
a buffer zone.

The development described also had consequences
for building activities and urban planning in the rest
of the Speicherstadt. More and more storage floors
have been converted into office space. There are
some new restaurants and retail shops. Each year,
numerous cultural activities and entertainment of-
ferings attract millions of tourists and visitors. Only
few of the warehouses have been converted into
apartments, as the Speicherstadt is not flood-safe:
Many buildings are at risk of inundation in storm
floods, when they cannot be reached by rescue ve-
hicles.



To preserve the unique character of the Speicher
stadt, a comprehensive development concept has
been drawn up in recent years. It has been agreed
upon by all competent authorities, institutions and
the owners.

The conversion of individual warehouse blocks is al-
ways subject to approval by the heritage protection
bodies which are consulted to ensure that as much
as possible of the historic fabric of the buildings is
preserved. As a rule, no alterations made to the out-
er appearance will be accepted. The interiors of the
old warehouses are also still mostly characterised
by their original iron skeleton constructions, as well
as their wooden and cast iron pillars. Where repairs
or additions are required, these are normally exe-
cuted in a way that sets them off from the historic
part of buildings, e.g. through the use of different
materials or structures, so that the modifications
can be “traced” In some cases, interference with
the fabric of buildings is inevitable when sanitation
infrastructure or means of access have to be up-
graded, e.g. by installing lifts. Blocks D, P Q, R, S,
W and the western halves of block U have already
been revitalised in this manner.

Block U can be regarded as a model for handling
such construction measures and modifications:
When converting this warehouse into an office
block, the Department for Heritage Preservation
and the architects Gerkan, Marg and Partners close-
ly cooperated to preserve the historic skeleton con-
struction, the original means of access and other
central interior fixtures. In the process, block U was
merged with the former (second) administration
building of the HFLG to form the headquarters of
HHLA (2000 — 2002). At the same time, the atrium
between the former HFLG building and block U was
turned into a reception hall with a glass roof. This
created central and barrierfree access to the offic-
es in block U. The reception hall was equipped with
a lift tower made of glass and steel.

In summary, the Speicherstadt has lost some of its
historic buildings and parts of warehouse blocks.
Still, this unique urban ensemble, with its outstand-
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ing architecture, has largely been salvaged and
preserved to the present day. This was achieved
through its careful upkeep, a gentle and conscien-
tious approach to reconstruction that accounted for
its historic warehouse buildings and by ensuring
high architectural quality standards when adding
new buildings in the post-war era. To this day, the
historical function of the Speicherstadt and its im-
portance for the port of Hamburg as an international
trading hub for unprocessed coffee is still evident.
Because of the many phases of its construction and
its complex history during the German Empire, it
speaks eloquently of Hamburg's changeable fate
over the centuries.

2.b.2  History and development of
the Kontorhaus district and its
individual buildings

2.b.2.1 Historical background

In the wake of the devastating cholera epidemic
of 1892, the Senate decided to rehabilitate large
areas of the old city of Hamburg and its new ur
ban district (Neustadt). The first area to be tackled
was the Neustadt.

Since the redevelopment area in the old city
was very extensive, the project was carried out
in several phases. First, the area to the north of
Steinstrasse was redeveloped. This involved the
construction of the around 750-m-long Md&ncke-
bergstrasse (1908-13), which was reserved ex-
clusively for offices and retail outlets. The next
area to be tackled was the south-eastern part of
Hamburg's old city, between Steinstrasse and
Messberg streets, the area of the present Kon-
torhaus district.

The south of the Kontorhaus district borders on the
Speicherstadt and is only separated from it by the
Customs Canal. Grosse Wandrahmsbrtcke, which
was replaced by a footbridge in 1962, originally
provided a direct connection between the two
ensembles. The Kontorhaus district's favourable
location, with good transport links, was a decis-
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ive factor in its success. It was primarily used by
companies involved in trade and shipping, which
benefitted from the district’s proximity to the eas-
tern part of the free port: The Kontorhaus district
is within walking distance of the warehouses of
the Speicherstadt.

The Kontorhaus (office) district derives its name
from the fact that the majority of its buildings are
office buildings, something that had not originally
been planned: After some houses were demolished
on Niedernstrasse in 1913, an urban design compe-
tition was launched in 1914 which provided for the
erection of only a small number of office buildings.
The bid presented by Distel & Grubitz received par
ticular attention and appreciation. It proposed a de-
velopment on Fischertwiete which already hinted at
the later outlines of the Chilehaus, although Distel
& Grubitz' design had an obtuse rather than a sharp
tip. Even at the time, there was criticism that the
demand for apartments could be satisfied elsewhe-
re in Hamburg. This was the prevailing view after
WW 1.

If the original plans had been carried out the who-
le area between Steinstrasse and Messberg would
have been cleared by 1917 but due to WW | and the
ensuing housing shortage, demolition took much
longer. In fact, it dragged on into the 1930s.

The Kontorhaus district was constructed at a time
of political and economic upheaval. The first buil-
dings were erected during the inflation years,
when there was a chronic shortage of capital.
However, soon after the end of the war, Hamburg's
port and trade again benefitted from the German
economy’s strong focus on exports, particularly
since the continuing devaluation of the German
currency gave German exports a competitive
advantage. The port was able to recover quickly
after the hyperinflation of 1923. In fact, by 1928
the record handling and transhipment volumes
of the year 1913 had been surpassed. However,
the Depression saw a dramatic decline in German
foreign trade: between 1929 and 1931 it dropped
by 44%. The port continued to be affected by the

Fig. 109: Prizewinning urban development design for the
Kontorhaus district made in 1914 by Distel and
Grubitz

economic downturn until 1939, while Germany'’s
political and economic isolation under Nazi rule
further exacerbated the situation.

Progress on the construction of the Kontorhaus dis-
trict reflects this historical context. The Chilehaus,
Messberghof and Miramar-Haus were built during
the period of high inflation (all 1922-24). After the
end of the inflation period, the following buildings
were constructed: the Montanhof (1924/25), Haus
Gllden Gerd (1924/25), the Post Office Building on
Niedernstrasse (1924-26), the Mohlenhof (1927/28),
the first two sections of the Sprinkenhof (1927-30),
Haus Hubertus (1930/31) and the Rodewaldthaus
(1930/31). The Bartholomay-Haus (1937/38), the
Pressehaus (1938/39) and the third section of the
Sprinkenhof (1939-43) were constructed during
the Nazi period. The two relatively small residential
complexes on Steinstrasse (1935/36 and 1936/37
respectively) were a special case. They were plan-
ned soon after the Great Depression of the 1930s,
when there was clearly no demand for more office
space.

After World War Il, any undeveloped plots were again
used for new office buildings.
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Fig. 111: Redevelopment area eastern old town, 1912
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Fig. 112:  Aerial view of the Kontorhaus district around 1930

2.b.2.2 The infrastructure of the Kontorhaus
district

Once the original buildings had been demolished, the
road network was improved and extended. Some of
the existing streets, such as Niedernstrasse, Moh-
lenhofstrasse and Fischertwiete, were simply wide-
ned and straightened. However, others were com-
pletely re-designed, including the Altstadter Strasse,
the central Burchardplatz and Burchardstrasse, which
cut diagonally across the entire district, and formerly
led to Bergedorfer Strasse, which no longer exists
today. It was this radical redesign of the original
road infrastructure that produced the oblique-angled
plots, which so challenged the architects’ creativity.
The Chilehaus is a particularly good example of the
outcome. The plan put forward by the engineers of
the Baudeputation as early as 1904 was finally adop-
ted and implemented in 1912.

Fritz Schumacher was made Head of the Construc-
tion and Engineering Agency (Hochbauamt) in 1909
and Senior Director of Engineering and Construction

(Oberbaudirektor) in 1923, i.e. too late to correct the
plans but for a few exceptions: It was at his initiative
that Burchardstrasse was widened from 17 to 23.5
m and Burchardplatz was significantly enlarged. The
larger dimensioning of Burchardplatz, however, also
had to do with the fact that the residential buildings
which were originally to have been built there would
have been much lower. For the high-rise, nine storey
office blocks, the formerly narrow street and square
would have provided too little space. In addition, the
eastern end of Burchardstrasse was opened up and
made into a square in order to give more prominence
to the Chilehaus.

The streets in the Kontorhaus district are consistent-
ly covered with large granite cobble setts which are
arranged in rows with the gaps between them filled
with tar. The original kerbstones are also made of
granite. In fact, most of the network of streets in the
Kontorhaus district has been preserved to this day.

At the time, trees were a rare sight in Hamburg's city
centre streets. Neither were there any fountains,



Fig. 113: Plans for the Kontorhaus district 1912

monuments or other decorative features, with the
exception of the square in front of the Messberg.
As a result, the Burchardplatz and the south-eas-
tern end of Burchardstrasse, which is like a square,
are still used as car parks today. However, it was
precisely this austere design, which has only been
softened over the last 20 years by the addition of
trees and plants, which gave the Kontorhaus district
its particular character. Thanks to this, the Kontor
haus buildings could completely dominate the ur
ban space.

2.b.2.3 The architectural characteristics of the
Kontorhaus district

The Kontorhaus district is striking in its architectu-
ral consistency. The buildings constructed before
1931 are predominantly large-scale edifices which
in some cases fill entire blocks. They have clin-
ker facades, white lattice windows, flat roofs and
stepped-back upper storeys. The buildings from
the Nazi period follow the same pattern, except
that they have pitched roofs, apart from the Pres-
sehaus which, when it was rebuilt after World War
I, was also given stepped-back upper storeys.

The stepped-back upper storeys were one of the
central demands made by the Building Commissi-
on (Baupflegekommission). After WW |, stepped-
back upper storeys began to replace the pitched
roofs that had been common before. The maxi-
mum eaves height of buildings in the city centre
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Fig. 114: Chilehaus and Messberg with Messberg
fountain in 1936

was still 24 m, equivalent to six full storeys. All
upper floors were now stepped back in a regular
fashion, while their number was not fixed, but was
decided upon depending on the specific require-
ments made by the city or the Building Commissi-
on. Even deviations from the maximum number of
full storeys were tolerated, e.g. in the case of the
Chilehaus, parts of which have up to eight such
full storeys plus additional stepped-back ones. This
made the Chilehaus one of the first German high-
rise buildings.

The design of the clinker facades was something
Fritz Schumacher especially focussed on. He had
tried in vain to argue in favour of a uniform red
brick design for the office blocks on the newly
built Monckebergstrasse. His attempt had failed
partly because fairfaced masonry, i.e. masonry with-
out any structural elements, such as stucco or cut
stones, was considered inappropriate for prestigious
buildings at the time. It only became acceptable and
widespread for ambitious architectural projects in
the years immediately prior to WWV Il. This was partly
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Fig. 115: Aerial view of the Kontorhaus district

thanks to Fritz Hoger and Oskar Gerson whose de-
signs significantly shaped the Kontorhaus district.

After WW |, the preferred building material in Ham-
burg was red clinker brick. These bricks were baked
at very high temperatures, i.e. they sintered and
developed iridescent surfaces in bluish and brown-
ish hues. To create a rustic effect, builders preferred
using low quality bricks, the surfaces of which had
warped during baking and which contained small
particle inclusions. The preference for clinker bricks
was an expression of the desire to both to return to
local building traditions and to soften the impression
that modern architecture was all about barrenness.
This the builders hoped to achieve by using colourful
and structurally varied bricks.

2.b.2.4 The core zone of the Kontorhaus district

The Chilehaus, Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and
Mohlenhof form the core zone of the district.
They stand out from the other buildings because
of the exceptional quality of their architecture.

These buildings, which were constructed bet-
ween 1922 and 1930, i.e. during the Weimar Re-
public — with the exception of the third section
of the Sprinkenhof, which was only completed in
1943 -are among the most significant office block
designs of the period. These edifices broke new
ground not only in qualitative, but also in quanti-
tative terms: The Chilehaus provided 36,000 m2
of gross floor space; the Sprinkenhof, which for a
time was one of the largest office buildings in Eu-
rope, had as much as 52,000 m2. Even the Mess-
berghof managed 18,200 m2in 1924. In compari-
son, the Mohlenhof, with 7800 m?2, was merely a
medium-sized office building by the standards of
the time in Hamburg.

By the end of the 19th century, Hamburg's Kontor
haus architecture had reached a very high con-
ceptual and technical level and high design stan-
dards. These were pre-requisites for coping with
the sheer volume of building involved in erecting
the Kontorhaus district.



The development of the Hamburg Kontorhaus

The term Kontorhaus became popular around the
turn of the century and was quite common by
1910. It denoted office buildings which were pri-
marily rented by shipping companies, wholesal-
ers, exporting companies and the many brokers
and agents involved in the export trade at the
time, all of whom were closely connected with
shipping and, obviously, trade. But there were
also architects, engineers, industry sales reps, law
firms and doctors’ practices in the Kontorhauser.
Some of them were built by large companies for
their own purposes. If they did not need all of the
office space they would rent some of it out to
third parties.

When the large Kontorhduser were built, the exact of-
fice space needed by the small companies to which
they were later leased was as yet unknown. There
were also large administrative agencies with known
numbers of staff, clearly defined departments and,
consequently, defined space requirements. To cater
to the needs of both the former and the latter, the
Kontorhduser were conceived of in a way that al-
lowed maximum flexibility as regards the division of
office space on individual floors. They were therefore
erected using iron skeleton constructions, in later
year's reinforced steel concrete skeletons. Staircas-
es, lifts and sanitary facilities were concentrated in
the cores of buildings to prevent load bearing walls
getting in the way of a flexible use of floor space.

Further elements that added to the flexible use of the
Kontorhauser were the so-called Paternoster eleva-
tors which became almost a must. They not only pro-
vided easy access to the upper storeys, but turned
these into much sought-after rental office space. In
addition to the Paternoster elevators, large buildings
were also equipped with conventional single cabin
lifts for people and separate ones for goods. Already
around 1900, the Kontorhduser also featured other
highly modern installations, such as central heating,
electrical lighting, telephone lines and running tap
water. The entrance halls of the Kontorhduser were
elegantly designed.
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As of the end of the 19th century, the Kontorhau-
ser were characterised by special design features:
In keeping with their skeleton constructions, the fa-
cades were given grid structures: There were prima-
ry pillars which corresponded to vertical constructive
elements and secondary ones that filled the spaces
between them. There is a parallel here with the Ber
lin department store architecture, e.g. the designs by
Alfred Messel. However, the Kontorhauser differed
from the Berlin department stores in that the facade
structures of the former had a functional justification:
The closer the pillars were to one another in the fa-
cade, the more dividing walls could be built on the in-
side connecting with these parts of the facade. This
meant extra flexibility of use.

The Kontorhaus architecture in Hamburg was virtu-
ally unparalleled in Germany and the rest of conti-
nental Europe, a fact which was already recognised
at the time. In 1914, for example, the Deutsche
BauhUtte magazine wrote: “"The demands on this
commercial city present the private construction
industry [in Hamburg] with an extraordinary task,
the likes of which are otherwise only seen in Lon-
don and in the major cities of the United States
— to construct office buildings.” The United States
clearly provided the more relevant models, though,
and it was particularly the Chicago School that set
standards. This is evidenced by the popularity of
bay windows in Hamburg before 1914. Especially
the later draft plans for the Chilehaus with its fa-
cades structured by series of pillars, for example,
seem to have been directly inspired by Louis Sul-
livan's design for the Wainwright Building in St.
Louis (1890/91). However, Hamburg's architects
were keen to create their own types of Kontorhaus
and make them stand out as the products of inde-
pendent development thinking. That explains why
there are only few historical documents that link
the Kontorhauser to other examples of Kontorhau-
ser that might have served as models.

During the second half of the 1920s, the Kontorhaus
architecture started tending towards more sober de-
signs. This was in keeping with the general trends
towards a reduction of decorative elements and the



136 |

departure from skeleton facades influencing archi-
tecture at the time. The Sprinkenhof was a trendset-
ter: At the insistence of the Building Commission
and contrary to the original design, it was given a
punctuated facade throughout (cf. below). However,
the Sprinkenhof was still a skeleton construction and
the architects continued to be guided by the meas-
ures and dimensions of skeleton facades.

The architects of the Chilehaus, Messberghof,
Sprinkenhof and Mohlenhof

Fritz Hoger, the creator of the Chilehaus and, in coop-
eration with Hans and Oskar Gerson, of the Sprinken-
hof, is one of the most renowned German architects
of the 20th century, whose work has attracted sig-
nificant international interest. Like Hans und Oskar
Gerson, Hoger belonged to the generation of reform-
ers who, in the years just before World War |, started
to breathe new life into architecture without rejecting
tradition. The result was a regional version of Modern-
ism, the soberness of which was softened by con-
ventional structural elements, by traditional and often
traditionally crafted materials, and by sparse decora-
tion. Brickwork was the order of the day, particularly
clinker bricks.

In Hoger's case, this trend towards soberness was
particularly evident in his Kontorhaus designs, which
increasingly sought to achieve a harmony of line, cul-
minating in the verticalism of the Chilehaus. In the
Rappolthaus on Mdnckebergstrasse (1911/12), Hoger
still structured the facades in the way described
above, i.e. by putting in primary and secondary pil-
lars. But in the Kiépperhaus (1912/13), such a distinc-
tion was no longer made. Instead, the facades of the
Klopperhaus were replaced by sturdy clinker pillars of
uniform width, between which bay windows emulat-
ing the examples from Chicago were inserted. WWhen
Hoger built the Slomanhaus (1921/22), he anticipated
some characteristic features of the Chilehaus, such
as facades structured by series of wall pillars and
stepped-back upper storeys.

Hoger primarily justified this uniformity with economic
reasons, as he explained in 1925 in the Zentralblatt der

Bauverwaltung magazine: “The only correct choice for
a building which, after completion, will be leased by
the square centimetre, and for which maximum free-
dom is required when dividing the space into rooms,
is the single rhythmic pattern. A double pattern or any
irregularity on the fronts of the buildings, regardless
of whether it is the result of errors in construction
or misunderstood architecture, is an irreparable mis-
take!”” However, there were also aesthetic reasons.
The facades were more severe, more uniform, and
above all more dynamic as a result, corresponding to
the expressionist style of decoration which became
fashionable at the beginning of the 1920s.

Contrary to Hoger, the Gerson brothers had not gath-
ered any experience in the building of Kontorhduser
before WW |. They did business under the name of
Hans & Oskar Gerson, but in 1920 a third brother,
Ernst, joined the company. However, the name of
the company was not changed. The specialty of the
Gerson brothers was the construction of sumptuous
detached villas. Notwithstanding, in the early 1920s
they managed to attract a great deal of attention with
their successful Expressionist Kontorhduser, the Thal-
ia-Hof (1921/22) and the Messberghof (1922/24). They
were also responsible for the first two sections of the
Sprinkenhof. Together with the Chilehaus, the designs
of the Sprinkenhof met with a great deal of interest in
the 1920s, not only in Germany, but worldwide. They
were to characterise much of Weimar Republic archi-
tecture.

Rudolf Klophaus, August Schoch and Ernst zu Putlitz,
who designed the Mohlenhof, formed another group
of successful Hamburg architects who were famous
beyond the region because of their publications. The
firm was established by Klophaus and Schoch in 1920.
Putlitz joined first as an employee and became a part-
ner in 1927 It was probably against the backdrop of
the downturn in the building industry during the De-
pression that Klophaus decided in 1932 to go it alone.
In the coming years he was able to fill the few remain-
ing gaps in the Kontorhaus district: In addition to the
buildings on Steinstrasse mentioned above, the Bar
tholomayhaus, the Pressehaus and a small housing
complex were built to his designs.



The Chilehaus

The Chilehaus, a major work by Fritz Hoger, was built
between 1922 and 1924. It was commissioned by
Henry Brarens Sloman, who owned saltpetre mines
in Chile, and therefore had a ready supply of foreign
currency, which is why he was able to construct the
building during the inflation years. Only parts of the
planning history can be pieced together retrospective-
ly, since the majority of Hoger's archive was destroyed
by fire in an air raid. Designs were also submitted by
Hans and Oskar Gerson and by Puls & Richter, who
competed with Hoger for the commission.

The idea of spanning Fischertwiete alley, which splits
the plot in two, featured in Hoger's design from the
outset, whereas the building’s distinctive silhouette
and the characteristic structure of the facades only
emerged gradually. This is suggested by the only one
of Hoger's draft designs to have survived, which is
dated 19 January 1922 and has been preserved as
part of the building’s official documentation archive.
It shows a view of the northern facade, which, be-
cause of its square corner pillars, oriel windows and
historically inspired forms on the gateway to Fischer
twiete is reminiscent of the Rappolthaus also de-
signed by Hoger. The only hints of the Chilehaus final
appearance in this early sketch were its stepped-
back upper storeys.

Other documents from the official documentation,
particularly a map that has survived, allow glimpses
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of the genesis of the draft design. It contains the
following reference: “..including the required agree-
ments and decisions regarding plots of land, legal
clauses and the traditional district boundaries etc.”
This entry in the documentation does not carry any
date. The map shows how intensely Hoger studied
the shape of the plot: Originally, the triangular plot
had an obtuse tip to the east of Fischertwiete. Slo-
man had to purchase the adjoining property so that

the Chilehaus could be built with a pointed tip.

The elegant, S-shaped, curved line of the facade on
Pumpen street required further changes to the build-
ing outlines defined by the city authorities: Originally,
this facade of the Chilehaus should have continued
straight in a north-easterly direction and would have
been at an obtuse angle with the central section of
the building on Fischertwiete. If Hoger had complied
with this requirement the Chilehaus would probably
have looked like an oversized piece of gateau.

Before building could begin, an exemption had
to be obtained from the authorities because the
building code had originally earmarked the two
plots of land for housing. A compromise was
found, whereby Sloman was given permission to
build his Kontorhaus, but the two sections of the
Chilehaus east of Fischertwiete had to be reserved
for residential use, at least temporarily. In 1923,
i.e. during the German hyperinflation, Sloman paid a
one-off amount of 2 billion marks to have that condi-
tion rescinded: The city reduced the number of apart-

Fig. 116: Wooden model of the Chilehaus, produced according to Hogers' designs in 1922 with updates during the const-

ruction period
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Fig. 117: Chilehaus in 1924, reproduction of a photograph by Dransfeld Brothers

ments to 30. They had to be rented out for at least spond to the design of the building as it was actually
another 10 years. built. Exceptions were the number and design of the

stepped-back upper storeys which were modified vis-
The earliest complete set of Hogers plans that has a-vis this plan. Also, the Chilehaus was originally going

been survived dates from 1922. They largely corre- to have its own boiler house and a coal bunker facility



in the western part of the interior courtyard. This idea
was given up in favour of a solution which connected
the building to the district heating system.

How Hoger managed to create these comprehensive
plans, which were almost ready for implementation,
in a time span of only one month, remains an open
question. However, one should not attach too much
importance to the draft design dated January 1922.
It probably only served as the basis for negotiations
with the city authorities, who had in any case not yet
granted him the building permit for office space on
the two plots, referred to above. Consequently, the
1922 documents should be regarded merely as illus-
tration material designed to clarify matters of princi-
ple, such as the determination of the construction
volume, the spanning of Fischertwiete and the exact
shape and number of the stepped-back upper sto-
reys. For this purpose, any preliminary and even out-
dated draft would have sufficed. It is likely that Hoger
had long since started working on the new plans ac-
cording to which the building was finally erected.

Alongside the shape of the main structure of the
building, Hoger was particularly concerned with fa-
cade details. It is well worth noting that he seems
to have reined in his sometimes overexuberant im-
agination when it came to the use of clinker bricks:
In fact, he restrained himself to one single structural
motif. In front of the wall pillars, buttress-like sup-
ports jut out at an angle of 45 degrees from the
building so that they look like tapered ridges. When
viewed from a particular angle, they appear to be so
close together that the windows are no longer vis-
ible, and the facades appear to be homogeneous,
uniform brick surfaces. Or, as Hoger himself put it
in 1925 in the Zentralblatt der Bauverwaltung: “The
main feature of the Chilehaus' aesthetic quality is its
single, rhythmic pattern. The many windows on the
facades cause the building to lose its solidity, but the
single, repeated pattern restores the facades to tran-
quil surfaces, which, in their uniformity, again reveal
the monumental main structure of the building.

The Chilehaus did not sustain any substantial damage
during World War Il and, with the exception of the loss
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Fig. 118: Chilehaus with Fischertwiete after modifica-
tions taking place in 1990-93

of a few minor features in the entrance area of gate B
and the terracotta decoration on gate C to the south, it
has remained virtually unchanged. Only the shop win-
dows are no longer the original ones and were recent-
ly replaced by windows designed as a free interpreta-
tion of the originals in the context of a modernisation
of the entire complex (1990-93). The project was car
ried out by the architects WGK Planungsgesellschaft
mbH in line with heritage protection guidelines. At the
same time, Fischertwiete alley was pedestrianized,
and the original paving replaced by granite slabs.

The Messberghof

The Messberghof was constructed between 1922
and 1924 to designs by Hans and Oskar Gerson.
The history of how the plans were conceived are
obscured by the fact that these architects were the
victims of racial discrimination under the Nazi re-
gime and had to emigrate from Germany. Their origi-
nal documents were lost. Albert Ballin, whom the
Messberghof had originally been named after, was
also outlawed. The Ballinhaus was renamed in 1938
because Ballin who, as its director until 1914, had
made Hapag one of the leading shipping companies
of the world, was a Jew.

The Messberghof was constructed by a limited liability
corporation, the Ballinhaus GmbH, formed by a group
of firms. In order to be able to fund the project in
times of high inflation, an unusual approach was cho-
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Fig. 119: Messberghof in 1936

sen: After completion, the ownership of the building
charged with a mortgage would be transferred to the
city of Hamburg, which would lease it to Ballinhaus
GmbH for the duration of 30 years, with an option to
extend the lease contract by another 20 years. As it
turned out, the option was exercised by the company.

In contrast to its neighbour, the Chilehaus, the Mess-
berghof has smooth, nearly unstructured facades,
which are largely without decoration. The focus is on
the workmanship in the technically demanding brick-
work, which lends the building its particular quality. It
is the puristic material aesthetics that generally char
acterise the designs of Hans and Oskar Gerson. They
formulated their design creed in an article about
clinker brickwork which appeared in the Tonindustrie-
Zeitung in 1925: “The interplay between the many
slightly varying bricks with their different hues and
the dissimilar joins between them gives the surface
its distinctive aesthetic appeal. We find it so appeal-
ing that, as a rule, we do not try to enliven the sur
faces with anything else and, where possible, avoid
fragmenting the structures [of the buildings].”

In World War Il, the Messberghof sustained only
relatively minor damage. The roof and part of the
stepped-back storeys on Pumpen street were de-
stroyed in an air raid in 1945 and rebuilt in a simplified
design soon after the end of the war. The building
was given a flat roof, which contrasted oddly with
the original tower rising straight out of it. In another
change, two large shop windows were fitted into the

Fig. 121: Messberghof after the redevelopment, 2012

ground floor of the western facade. The sandstone
sculptures by Ludwig Kunstmann, which had been
attached to the pillars of the main facade, were re-
moved in 1968 because of severe weather damage
and were then misplaced, so that it was no longer
possible to reconstruct them. Otherwise, the Mess-
berghof remained in its original condition.

All of the detrimental changes were remedied by the
architects Schweger & Partner as part of a project to
modernise the building in line with heritage protec-
tion guidelines (1995/96). The original curvature of
the roof area was restored, with a conscious deci-
sion made to use modern structures and materials
such as titanium zinc sheeting. The lost sculptures
were replaced in 1997 by abstract bronze statues by
Lothar Fischer.
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Fig. 122: Model of the Sprinkenhof
The Sprinkenhof

The greater part of the Sprinkenhof was a joint pro-
ject by Fritz Hoger and Hans and Oskar Gerson, who
were together responsible for the first two phases of
its construction, from 1927 to 1928 and from 1929 to
1930 respectively. The third section of the building,
which was constructed between 1939 and 1943, was
designed by Hoger alone. With the exception of the
third phase, we will never know the relative contri-
butions of each of the architects to the plans. Only
the spiral staircases in the main stairwells of the first
two sections of the building can be safely attributed to
Hans and Oskar Gerson, who had already designed a
similar staircase for the Messberghof.

The Sprinkenhof building was commissioned by the
public limited company Geschéaftshaus Altstadt AG
which was formed jointly by the developer Philipp
Holzmann AG and Friedrich Holst. In 1935, the City of
Hamburg took over the complex and later renamed
the plc “Sprinkenhof AG"” Soon after plans for a third
construction phase were apparently drafted: Hoger's
first draft designs — those that have survived — are
dated 1936.

As indicated above, there is only scant documenta-
tion on the history of how the Sprinkenhof plans were
conceived. In 1926, an investors' competition for the
plot was organised. It appears that a conglomerate of
companies including Holzmann and Holst made a bid
on the basis of a project elaborated by Hoger and the
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Gerson brothers. Another bid came from Klophaus &
Schoch, but there are only photographs to document
it. It is not known whom Klophaus & Schoch were
commissioned by.

Much like with the Chilehaus, the irregular shape of
the plot on which the Sprinkenhof was to be erect-
ed presented certain challenges. The situation was
further complicated by the fact that it was divided
by Springeltwiete. Hbéger's archive contains draft
designs which already feature the double portals
so characteristic of the Sprinkenhof opening out on
Springeltwiete. It is unlikely that the double portal
was a demand made by the city authorities, as the
plans by Klophaus & Schoch show only a single
portal. A common element of both designs is the
vertically structured skeleton facade. Klophaus &
Schoch preferred a very substantial pillared facade
with compact, windowless building edges. The fa-
cade design proposed by Hoger is much more deli-
cate, in contrast, and can be compared to that of
the Chilehaus.

The next planning stages were influenced by the
Building Commission, a body composed of rep-
resentatives from diverse authorities, architects
and interested members of the general public. For
those areas of the city deemed worthy of particular
protection, any projected new buildings or changes
to existing ones or extensions had to be submitted
to this body and its
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Fig. 123: Aerial view with Sprinkenhof, around 1930

opinion heard. The Building Commission demanded
that the Sprinkenhof be given smooth facades so as
to prevent it from competing for attention with the
Chilehaus which had by then won general acclaim.

The architects had to completely redesign the com-
plex, and this probably contributed to a clearer differ
entiation of the three construction phases. There were
pragmatic reasons for this: Dividing the Sprinkenhof
into the central section and the two lateral extensions
made it easier to execute the building work in succes-
sive stages. The two extensions had to follow street
lines which were partly curved, while the central sec-
tion had a cube-shaped main structure. As mentioned
above, in Hoger's earlier draft design, the central sec-
tion receded behind the line formed by the two lateral
extensions, but was higher so that all three sections
seemed to converge.

The intervention by the Building Commission meant
that the architects were faced with the particular chal-
lenge of having to decide how to design two (very
large) punctuated and regularly structured facades
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with a horizontal extension of 29 axes each and nine
or eight storeys respectively. Their solution was to
structure the facades by inserting purely ornamental
diagonal clinker brick projections which intersect with
one another at regular intervals form rhomboid pat-
terns. In turn, each rhomboid forms a frame around
a window or one of the rounded terracotta reliefs
designed by Ludwig Kunstmann, which are evenly
distributed over the entire outside surface. Inciden-
tally, this decorative pattern covers the outside of the
whole of the first section of the building, including the
built-over interior part on Springeltwiete and the front
walls which, however, were hidden by the extensions.

This decorative facade pattern was closely modelled
on the Scherk perfume factory in Berlin (1926/27)
where Hoger had used similar ornamental elements,
albeit without the rounded reliefs. However, Hans
and Oskar Gerson claimed authorship of this idea.
In a letter to the editors of the periodical Wasmuths
Monatshefte flr Baukunst, which was published
in 1929, they referred to a soldiers’ memorial in the
main graveyard in Ohlsdorf, which was going to have a



cube-shaped main structure with rhomboid patterns.
However, the memorial was never realised.

The facades of the second section of the Sprinken-
hof remained largely unadorned. Only the end-of-row
buildings were decorated with gold-plated bricks and
three-dimensional clinker projections, something the
architects had tried out on the staircase facades in the
interior courtyard of the first section of the building.
The two other units on Burchardstrasse, in contrast,
feature plain punctuated facades with rounded edges.
The horizontal lines of the stepped-back upper storeys
lend this part of the Sprinkenhof a dynamic air. “New
Objectivity” was not only typical of Hoger. It was the
predominant trend at the end of the 1920s as is evi-
denced by many competition bids, draft designs and
actual constructions, such as e.g. the Central Co-op
Building (Zentrale des Konsumvereins) in Leipzig-Plag-
witz (1929-32).

In contrast, the facades of the third section of
Sprinkenhof were again lavishly decorated with rhom-
boid motifs clearly imitating those of the Scherk facto-
ry in Berlin, although they come across as less three-
dimensional. Not only in this instance did Hoéger's
designs demonstrate a certain amount of conserva-
tism: This was also a general trait of his work after the
Nazis had come to power. He returned to the Expres-
sionism of the inflation years and did not much yield
to the new architectural doctrines. Generally speak-
ing, though, he displayed a certain affinity to the pow-
ers that be. There are only two sculptures preserved
that seem to reflect the aesthetics of the Nazi period:
the two athletic sand stone nudes by Ludwig Kunst-
mann, one of a hero and the other of a heroine. They
adorn the main entrance on Johanniswall to this day.

Throughout, the Sprinkenhof was planned as an of-
fice building with a skeleton structure of reinforced
concrete and centralised service and access cores.
However, to begin with only the unit on Burchard-
strasse was used as office space, while the rest of
the first section was split up into apartments. Most
of them were two-room flats with kitchen, larder and
water closet. There were no bathrooms because the
installation necessary would have made later conver
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Fig. 124: Redeveloped inner courtyard of the Sprinken
hof in 2012

sion into offices more difficult. By offering part of the
space in the Sprinkenhof for residential use, at least
on a temporary basis, the investors benefitted from
state subsidies available after 1924 due to the intro-
duction of a tax on housing (Hauszinssteuer).

The second section of the Sprinkenhof, more par-
ticularly the unit on Burchardstrasse, also came to
be used for residential purposes, while the section
on Altstadter Strasse was rented out to the police.
They used it for administration purposes and es-
tablished a police station there. The third section
of the Sprinkenhof was the only one to be exclu-
sively used as office space and for storage from
the start. This mixed use, which involved public
institutions, apparently made it easier to manage
and let the building during the Great Depression,
triggered by the collapse of the stock market in
September 1929.

During the air raids of WW I, part of the third sec-
tion of the Sprinkenhof burned down. The second
section also sustained damage, but it was only the
western staircase on Burchardstrasse and neigh-
bouring rooms that were affected. Because of the
sturdy reinforced concrete skeleton constructions
and the fact that the facades were left largely intact,
it was not difficult to repair the damaged parts. To-
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Fig. 125: Mohlenhof around 1929

day, except for the two staircases in the second
and third sections, which were reconstructed in a
simplified manner, the effects of the bombing can
hardly be seen.

The first and second sections of the Sprinkenhof
were rehabilitated and modernised by Kleffel, Kéhn-
holdt and Partners (2000-2003) in line with heritage
protection guidelines. The modernisation comprised
the closure of the driveway to the car park in the base-
ment on Springeltwiete to make room for the central
airconditioning unit and the building of a glass roof
over the car park in the interior courtyard of the sec-
ond section of the Sprinkenhof.

The Mohlenhof

The Mohlenhof was built in the years 1927 and 1928.
The design was by Klophaus, Schoch & zu Putlitz.
The Mohlenhof was commissioned by the Mohlen-
hof-Gesellschaft mbH, a limited company founded
by the developer Paul Hammers.

There are hardly any documents on the history of
how the plans for the Mohlenhof were conceived
either (cf. above under Chilehaus). The draft designs
are dated August 1927 The original designs provided
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Fig. 126: Mohlenhof around 1981

for a skeleton facade complete with the Expression-
ist triangular motifs fashionable at the time, but this
had to be reversed at the instigation of the Building
Commission. It insisted on a facade that was as neu-
tral as possible, due in part to the proximity of the
Chilehaus. In its reasoning, the Building Commission
categorically stated that “through the structural ele-
ments [of the planned typel, in particular through its
pillars and its window walls arranged at an angle, the
building would blemish the overall appearance of the
square” This verdict of the Building Commission co-
incided with the judgement of Fritz Schumacher who
rejected the idea of vertically structured facades for
buildings in close proximity to the Chilehaus.

Instead, the building was given punctuated facades
structured by series of pillars with narrow windows.
There were hardly any other structural or decorative
elements. The only exceptions are the ground-floors-
turned-base-levels lined with artificial stone and the
two frieze-like decorative strips adorning the end-of-
row building on Burchardplatz. They continue as par
apets on the stepped-back upper storeys. This made
the Mohlenhof one of the early office buildings to
exemplify the trend towards sober designs, a trend
that characterised the general evolution of German
architecture during the second half of the 1920s.
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The Mohlenhof did not sustain any serious damage
during WW Il and, as a result, has largely been pre-
served in its historic condition, including numerous
original Art Deco elements in the interior. Modifica-
tions primarily concerned the ground floor facades.
During the 1950s, the two shop doors on the east
side were given segmental arches instead of the
original straight lintels. The south side of the Mohlen-
hof was also partly changed, which is why Alk Frie-
drichsen restored it in 2012 in a way that closely re-
sembles the historic south side of the building.

Fig. 127. South-eastern facade of the Mohlenhof after the redevelopment, 2012
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3 Justification for Inscription

3.a.1 Brief synthesis

Driven by the idea of economic liberalism and
colonialism, boosted by industrialisation, new
technologies, the division of labour and more ex-
tensive production, and facilitated by more rapid
transport possibilities, globalisation of business
and trade started to take off during the 19th cen-
tury. This development did not just have a major
impact on the global economy, but also brought
about a change in the urban development of the
world’s port and trading cities.

Germany profited especially from these devel-
opments, for within just four decades, from the
establishment of the German Empire in 1871 to
World War |, it rose to second place in the global
league of industrialised nations, surpassed only
by the USA. At the same time, the volume of Ger-
man commercial shipping on the world’s seas
grew tenfold.

One key reason for this development was the
enormous increase in transport capacities and
transport speed as well as the expansion of rail-
ways and ports. These developments were fur
ther boosted by the boom in the shipbuilding in-
dustry, which produced new steamers which now
ruled the seven seas.

As a port and trading city, Hamburg enjoyed a
considerable share in this development. Thanks
to the far-sighted actions of the city's leaders, it
was not just able to assert its clearly pre-eminent
position in Germany but also became the most
important port in continental Europe. This devel-
opment was given a new impetus by the city’'s
full incorporation into the German Customs Un-
ion in 1888 and the consequent expansion and
modernisation of the port, during which the Spei-
cherstadt was created. Within just two decades,
Hamburg joined the leading group of global ports,
and ultimately more goods were handled and
transhipped on the Norderelbe section of the Riv-
er Elbe than anywhere else, apart from London
and New York.
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In parallel to this development, Hamburg's city cen-
tre underwent a systematic process of transforma-
tion during the late 19th and early 20th centuries.
Instead of the original mixed residential and indus-
trial districts, mono-functional districts came into
existence, dedicated exclusively to the business
needs of the city, trade and international port of
Hamburg. Two of these districts, closely connected
both spatially and functionally, and of great histori-
cal and economic importance to the port and trading
city of Hamburg, were created in the southern part
of Hamburg's old town and have been preserved
there to this day:

» The Speicherstadt, as a central warehous-
ing complex for the goods handled and tran-
shipped at the port and

» The Kontorhaus district with the offices of
businesses dependent on the port and ship-
ping industries, which was built directly ad-
joining the Speicherstadt, north of the Cus-
toms Canal.

These two mono-functional districts, preserved in-
tact in close proximity to each other, uniquely docu-
ment the process of creating the modern city, an
idea which gained ground during the late 19th and
early 20th centuries in the world's metropolises.
The scale and the high standard of conceptual,
functional and design quality of the buildings in both
districts make clear the significance of international
trade for Hamburg as well as the status enjoyed at
the time by Hamburg's port and its foreign trade,
even in an international context.

Hamburg’s Speicherstadt

Hamburg's Speicherstadt, which was built in three
construction phases between 1885 and 1927 dam-
aged in World War I, faithfully rebuilt following its
historic lines and carefully extended during the post-
World War Il years, stands out not just for its scale,
the high quality of its architecture, design and func-
tional qualities, and its cohesiveness, but also for the
modernity of its construction and furnishings and the
logistical achievements involved in its creation.
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With 15 out of 17 original large-scale blocks still
standing today, plus a series of functional and pur
pose-built structures and customs administration
buildings, extending over 1.1 km with a total use-
able area of 300,000 m?, the Speicherstadt consti-
tutes the largest cohesive and integral warehouse
ensemble in the world. Furthermore, it is provided
with a dense network of cobbled streets, canals,
port basins, bridges and railway tracks, connecting
it to the port and city centre. Not least, through the
technologies and materials used, it offers a unique
example of maritime industrial architecture typical
of European Historicism, which is simultaneously
visually pleasing, impressive and fit for purpose; it
is thus of major significance as architectural herit-
age, even from an international perspective.

While its dimensions, high quality and functional
design are outstanding, the logistical achieve-
ments involved in the construction of the Spei-
cherstadt should also be highlighted. In terms of
the area developed, two thirds of it were complet-
ed in the short period between 1885 and 1888.
From November 1883 onwards the site had to be
cleared of existing development and completely
restructured, and a new infrastructure of water
ways, quays, roads, bridges and railway tracks
created. This task could only be accomplished by
starting to construct the infrastructure as soon as
a sizeable section of the site was available for this
purpose. The construction site was divided into
lots, and this had the advantage that infrastruc-
ture construction could begin in one part of the
site while demolition work was still going on in an-
other. On the other hand, however, this approach
meant that meticulous preparation and co-ordina-
tion of work was required. The efficiency of this
system was clearly demonstrated when it came to
the construction of the blocks’ iron skeletons, in
which individual parts such as riveted lattice pillars
or sections of joist, also riveted, were delivered to
Hamburg ready to assemble, by iron manufactur-
ers in DUsseldorf and the Ruhr area. The construc-
tion of the Speicherstadt thereby took on the char
acteristics of what we would now call just-in-time
production with prefabricated components.

The specific requirements made on warehouse
architecture brought functional elements to the
fore when the warehouse blocks were designed.
In conjunction with the brickwork, employed to full
advantage in the style of the neo-Gothic “Hanover
School’ this makes the area an outstanding exam-
ple of the functional trends prevalent in architecture
in the final years of the 19th century. One of the
Speicherstadt’s characteristic features is the use of
skeleton frames, predominantly from prefabricated
iron elements but also using wood and iron pillars
encased in concrete. Their use meant that the struc-
tural load borne by the outside walls was greatly
reduced and they therefore serve mainly as protec-
tion against the elements. Another typical feature
of the Speicherstadt facades is their modular struc-
ture and their proportions which are derived from
the standardised brick size, following the tenets of
the “Hanover School”

This fundamental idea of functionality generally in-
fluenced the design of the Speicherstadt and of the
standardised floor plans, for which Franz Andreas
Meyer had come up with a template that was to be
adhered to in all warehouse buildings.

In this way, at the end of the 19th century, the larg-
est and most modern logistics centre of its time
was created, with its numerous warehouses and
its specially designed functional urban structure
consisting of streets, waterways and railway con-
nections. It provided generously-sized storage ar
eas consistently equipped with innovative technol-
ogy such as electric light and hydraulically-powered
winches. Pressurised water and electricity were
provided by the Speicherstadt’'s own power plant.
Thanks to the way they were built, the warehouses
provided a stable internal climate, allowing sensi-
tive goods to be stored without additional heating
or cooling.

This inherently modern character of the Speicher
stadt was recognised by the architect Werner Kall-
morgen at the end of the 1940s and was reflected
in the reconstruction of those parts of the district
which had been damaged during WW II.



Fig. 128: The Hamburg Speicherstadt in 2010

The homogenous appearance maintained by the
Speicherstadt to this day is due first and foremost
to the brick facing used on all the warehouse
blocks and to their uniform structure, all their eaves
being at a similar height. Yet this did not create a
schematic and austere warehouse complex but a
highly adorned and varied ensemble predominated
by neo-Gothic architectural forms which creates
an intensely urban impression — an effect further
reinforced by its exposed position on a group of
islands on the edge of the city centre. Its evident-
ly prestigious position makes the Speicherstadt
the architectural showpiece of the port of Ham-
burg and this feature, as well as its dimensions,
endows it with a special status when compared
to warehouse complexes in other port cities, both
national and international.

The Kontorhaus district

The construction of the Speicherstadt enabled the
strict functional separation of the port into areas
used for rapid transhipment of goods and other ar
eas used exclusively for storage — a functional split
which kept the port fit for use over many decades
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and allowed it to expand. In conjunction with the
comprehensive urban rehabilitation measures in
the wake of the 1892 cholera epidemic, the con-
struction of the Speicherstadt also hastened the
tertiarization of the neighbouring southern part of
the old town. This culminated in the construction,
mainly in the 1920s and 1930s, of the Kontorhaus
district, which bordered the Speicherstadt to the
north of the Customs Canal. As the first dedicated
office district on the European continent, it can be
seen as distilling previous experiences of the plan-
ning and design of office buildings, as well as mark-
ing the shift of focus in continental Europe from a
secondary to a predominantly tertiary economy.

Like the Speicherstadt, the Kontorhaus district, dat-
ing back to the 1920s, 1930s and 1950s, is char
acterised by a considerable degree of homogene-
ity that can be experienced to this day. It has been
preserved largely intact and scarcely altered by
war damage. And, like the Speicherstadt, the Kon-
torhaus district is an ensemble of extraordinary di-
mensions: Some of its large-scale buildings with
clinker facades and expressionist and sober shapes
fill entire blocks. The office buildings in the core
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Fig. 129: Ground plan of the Chilehaus, fifth floor

area of the Kontorhaus district - the Chilehaus, the
Messberghof, the Sprinkenhof and the Mohlenhof
- set the bar for the development of office architec-
ture in Europe at the time.

There was a particular focus on flexible floor plans,
meaning that load-bearing inner walls were to be
avoided as far as possible. Therefore, the office build-
ings were constructed as skeleton structures, with
infrastructure and sanitary facilities put together in
compact core sections. One of the distinguishing
features of Hamburg's Kontorhaus tradition was the
demand for a high standard of design, expressed
in artistic adornment and carefully designed and of-
ten lavishly detailed clinker facades, as well as in
the imposing hallways and staircases, the design
of which sometimes bordered on ostentation. Mod-
ern building infrastructure and access technologies
such as Paternoster elevators were another expres-
sion of this high standard.

The buildings of the core area, the Chilehaus, Mess-
berghof, Sprinkenhof and Mohlenhof, which consti-
tute an urban ensemble, really stand out in terms of
quality. Comparable design standards could only be
found in the USA at the time. Generally, office block
architecture at that time was still characterised by
the Beaux-Arts style or other historicised forms
throughout the world. By contrast, Hamburg's
buildings already displayed modern clinker facades
in expressionist shapes which, in the Chilehaus and
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the Sprinkenhof, achieved a degree of virtuosity
in terms of design and craftsmanship which could
hardly be surpassed. The Messberghof was largely
built without decoration and facade structure so that
little remained on view apart from two-dimensional
clinker brickwork The Messberghof was one of the
first buildings in the world to prepare the ground
for the New Objectivity movement. The Mohlen-
hof, with its relatively bare, flat facades can in fact
already be classified as an example of New Ob-
jectivity. Thereby, the buildings in the core area of
the Kontorhaus district are, even when comparing
them with others at the international level, clearly
amongst the most significant office buildings of the
1920s. What is more, as works of important archi-
tects, they are also of high artistic merit.

The Chilehaus, Messberghof and Sprinkenhof,
which had a lasting influence on contemporary Ger
man architecture, having been portrayed in numer-
ous publications, were also featured in leading in-
ternational architecture journals and represented at
international exhibitions. With ten storeys apiece,
the Chilehaus and Messberghof count as two of the
earliest high rise buildings in Germany and indeed
in Europe.

The Chilehaus, which does not go unmentioned by
any textbook on 20th century architecture and which
has met with considerable international acclaim, is
moreover a key work of Modernism, with its strik-



ing shape and the characteristic detail of its facades.
With its expressionist clinker facades, culminating in
the eastern tip of the building, it peerlessly embodies
the second strand of Modernism which developed
in Germany in the 1920s in parallel to the Bauhaus
and related trends and is today subsumed under the
term "Expressionism” However, Fritz Hoger did not
only wish to create a novel architectural style when
he designed the Chilehaus, but set out to design an
office building with an efficiency-oriented, i.e. cost-
saving floor plan, in relation to which even the fa-
cade structures were taking second priority. This is a
genuinely modern approach.

The same applies, with some divergences, to the
Sprinkenhof, designed by Fritz Hoger and Hans and
Oskar Gerson. To prevent the large unstructured
facades of the huge cube-shaped first section of
the building from becoming monotonous to look
at, they were adorned with some purely decora-
tive elements extended over all the facades like
diamond-shaped lattice-work. In essence, though,
the building also is an efficiency-oriented, rein-
forced concrete construction, to whose axial di-
mensions all other details, including the arrange-
ment of the rows of windows, are subordinate.

The particular appeal of this design comes to the
fore when it is seen in relation to the Chilehaus.
The facades of the latter have a dynamic struc-
ture, with the staccato arrangement of the close-
ly-set pillars and sharp-edged clinker patterns, to
which the Sprinkenhof responds with its compact,
apparently static structures and two-dimensional
punctuated facades. The fact that, despite its
pared-down character, the Sprinkenhof manages
to hold its own against the Chilehaus in design
terms is evidence of the mastery of Fritz Hoger
and the Gerson brothers when using clinker as a
building material, employed here with outstand-
ing precision of design and craftsmanship.

The Gerson brothers chose an entirely different
path when designing the Messberghof, which
to a large extent was devoid of decorations
and structural elements, so that the final result
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amounted to little more than two-dimensional clink-
er brickwork. On the one hand this can be inter
preted as a reaction to the visual language of the
Chilehaus, against which the Messberghof was
intended to stand out. On the other hand it is also
clear, however, that both the Messberghof and
the Chilehaus were intended to be offshoots of
Modernism. Even from an international perspec-
tive, the Messberghof was among the first build-
ings to pave the way towards New Objectivity.
The expressionist decorations, splintered and re-
sembling tracery, are restricted to the surrounds
of the two main entrances. In conjunction with
the triangular portals and the buttresses towering
above on the edges of the building, they lend a
Gothic aspect to the architecture.

Klophaus, Schoch and zu Putliz moved along com-
parable lines in their design for the Mohlenhof.
Facing the Burchardplatz, and dominating the
west side of the square with its tower-like front,
the Mohlenhof embodies a new stage in the de-
velopment of office architecture. It epitomises the
trend of the period towards sober designs, with
its severe cubic structure, the high-rise elevation
of the end-of-row building, the flat roofs and the
sequence of facades with narrow, high rectangu-
lar windows arranged in strips. There are sparse
focal points, just the ledge which runs around the
building above the base level and the two rows of
decoration on the end-of-row building which con-
tinues as balustrades around the stepped back
storeys. There is also a sculpture of Mercury by
Richard Kudéhl over the main entrance; like the fac-
ing on the base level of the building, this is made
of tuff stone.

The fact that these individual, heterogeneous buil-
dings formed a harmonious and homogeneous who-
le is thanks to the Building Commission, which was
established in 1912, and which had to be consulted
on all plans for new buildings including any altera-
tions and extensions to existing buildings in those
parts of the city which were deemed to be particu-
larly worthy of protection. In the Kontorhaus district,
the influence of the Building Commission is clearly
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expressed in the uniform facing of the buildings with
clinker, the stepped-back upper storeys and the flat
roofs. What is more, the Building Commission ur
ged that the Sprinkenhof and Mohlenhof be builtin a
more restrained style so that they would not detract
from the Chilehaus which was highly prized even at
the time. So much so that the city’s then Director
of Engineering and Construction, Fritz Schumacher,
created the open area to the east of the Chilehaus
precisely to ensure that the spectacular pointed tip
of that building could be properly appreciated. The
fact that there was a body overseeing the design of
an entire city centre district was something unique
at the time, unparalleled even at international level.

Together these two mono-functional and comple-
mentary districts document the ideal of a modern
city with functional zoning. They provide a record
of city formation on a scale and with a degree of
concentration which is unique in the world. This pro-
cess of city formation began in the world's metrop-
olises towards the end of the 19th century and the
early 20th century, was taken up in more and more
city centres across the world, and led to functional
segregation, with the residential population and
other users being ousted by the expanding tertiary
sector. With the construction of the Speicherstadt
and Kontorhaus district, this separation was effect-
ed more radically in Hamburg than in virtually any
other comparable city, apart from the metropolises
in the USA. Elsewhere historical buildings have fre-
qguently been altered or lost or their surroundings
have undergone major change and are now char
acterised by numerous new buildings. As a result,
in other metropolises there are few clear signs left
of the early development of these mono-functional
districts, which therefore cannot effectively docu-
ment early city formation. In Hamburg, by contrast,
the two districts have preserved their integrity, with
their original historic design virtually unaltered.

The Speicherstadt and the Kontorhaus district re-
flect developments in European architecture at its
best in terms of quality of design, more particular
ly the Historicism period in the late 19th century
and the Modernist movement which started after

World War |. Thanks to the clarity of their design
and function, and the outstanding quality of their
architecture and urban planning, they bear unique
witness to these periods. Their authenticity should
also be highlighted; this is due in no small meas-
ure to the farsightedness of their design. Until well
into the 1990s the Speicherstadt was able to fulfil
its original purpose, with no need for subsequent
building alterations to the original blocks, and the
Kontorhaus district offers office space which is still
considered to be of particularly high value today; in
this way the quartet of Kontorhaus buildings, the
Chilehaus, the Messberghof, the Sprinkenhof and
the Mohlenhof, continue to be “living monuments”

The Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district —
Symbolic buildings of an international port

city

In addition to the qualities mentioned earlier, both
districts, the Speicherstadt and the Kontorhaus dis-
trict, are endowed with great symbolic significance,
which still has an effect today. Both bear witness
to the traditions of the Hanseatic city and to the
self-image of its business people, who gave expres-
sion, through these two urban symbols, to their
role in global trade, their economic strength and, of
course, their wealth.

Above and beyond its purpose as a storage cen-
tre, the Speicherstadt comes across as a “City of
Warehouses” and thus manifests itself as a signifi-
cant ensemble. It has become a symbol not just for
Hamburg's port industry and external trade but also
for the completion of Germany'’s political and eco-
nomic union at the end of the 19th century, which
was seen as the beginning of a new epoch. Yet the
Speicherstadt was also an expression of the city's
determination to remain economically self-reliant
after Hamburg's full integration into the Customs
Union by, among other things, retaining its free port.

This symbolic significance is made clear, for exam-
ple, in the dignified ceremony to mark the city's
accession to the Customs Union, on 29 October
1888, for which the Speicherstadt, decked out with



garlands and flags, served as a backdrop. On that
day, Hamburg's accession to the Customs Union
was symbolically sealed when Emperor Wilhelm |l
ordered the so-called "keystone” — in actual fact
a memorial plague — to be fitted into the western
tower of Brooksbrlicke. This solemn ceremony
symbolically completed the unification of the Ger
man Empire, a point underscored by the presence
of Bismarck and Moltke, General Chiefs of Staff in
the Franco-German War of 1870-1871; like the Em-
peror, they too struck the newly placed memorial
plague three times with a silver foreman’s ham-
mer.

In the “City of the Future as the Speicherstadt
was entitled even during the planning stage, the
intention was not just to create warehouses for
goods but also to showcase the economic strength
of the city state of Hamburg and its business com-
munity.

This intention was made clear by the choice of the
location for the Speicherstadt demanded by the
Hamburg business community; its proximity to
the city centre was not just chosen for functional
reasons but on sensory and aesthetic grounds
as well. Its position near the centre enabled the
architecture of the Speicherstadt to make an im-
pression on the city centre lying across the Bin-
nenhafen (inland port) and the Customs Canal.
This effect was further heightened by the demo-
lition of existing buildings on the north side of
the Customs Canal and the building of the new,
broad Kaistrasse. Seen from Kaistrasse when
travelling on the Ringbahn (circle line), the unen-
cumbered view of the Speicherstadt must have
offered an almost film-like impression: The nu-
merous towers of the Speicherstadt, higher than
their purpose required, and imposing even from
a distance, also served to further the expression
of Hanseatic prestige. Reference to the tradition,
history and economic strength of the Hanseatic
cities is underscored by the use of brick as a
building material and by the predominantly neo-
Gothic architectural forms — still adhered to even
during reconstruction work after WW II.
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The impression from a distance is not the only way
in which the significance of the Speicherstadt is
conveyed. The elaboratev architectural design, par
ticularly the detailed shapes which, when seen from
close by, sparkle and shine, make the Speicherstadt
resemble a treasure chest, displaying the wealth and
economic strength of the Hanseatic City of Hamburg
and its business community. The decorative ele-
ments include, among others, green-glazed tiles and
dark green glass stones which look like inlaid jewels.

Fig. 130: Speicherstadt detail form

Similar symbolic significance can be claimed by the
Kontorhaus district. The Kontorhaus architecture has
traditionally attached particular importance to iden-
tifying elements such as artistic ornamentation, im-
posing design of facades, hallways and staircases,
and individual building names, which often ended
in “-hof” (court), as in the case of the Sprinken-
hof, Messberghof or Mohlenhof, thereby keeping
alive memories of the old merchants’ courts. Such
features were of particular importance in the case
of buildings constructed at a time of crisis, char
acterised by political and economic instability. The
buildings constructed in the Kontorhaus district in
the 1920s, particularly the Chilehaus, Messberg-
hof, Sprinkenhof and Mohlenhof, with their artistic
design, their sculptural elements, in some cases
highly lavish, and their imposing entrance halls
and staircases, demonstrate the determination of
the business community not to resign themselves
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Fig. 131: Chilehaus, stair landing entrance “A”

to circumstances, following the defeat suffered in
World War | and the hyperinflation of 1923, experi-
enced as a collective trauma, but to tackle the task
of rebuilding the economy in a spirit of optimism.

The entrance halls and stairways had a particular
role to play in this respect, since they stood open to
all visitors as semi-public spaces and thereby con-
stituted an office building'’s visiting card. They raised
the profile of businesses established in the build-
ings, endowed them with prestige and represented
their importance and status at the same time. Using
materials such as natural stone, ceramic tiles or, as
in the western entrance of the Chilehaus, unglazed,
sculpted terracotta, the extravagance of the design
sometimes bordered on the ostentatious. The Mess-
berghof’ hall has walls clad in travertine and gilded
banisters and doors, complemented by pillars and
supporting structures of bush-hammered exposed
concrete, unusual furnishings and an overall interior
design which reaches its high point in an impressive

—

spiral staircase climbing up through all ten floors.
There are similar staircases in the Sprinkenhof, also
running up through all the floors, providing an over
whelming experience of space.

Whilst grappling with complex urban planning is-
sues and the requirements placed on a modern of-
fice block, Fritz Hoger also managed to design in
the Chilehaus a striking and globally unique build-
ing, whose symbolic character made it epitomise
an epoch. The symbolic dimension taken on by the
Chilehaus, and its renown, are largely attributable
to several photographs of its eastern tip taken from
far below by the Dransfeld brothers, using a spe-
cial lens. These shots swiftly went around the en-
tire world and caused a tremendous stir. Most of
the eulogies, but also critical articles, were written
by people who had not personally experienced the
building, but had only seen these pictures of it. In
this way the influence and appreciation of the Chile-
haus also became the story of the way it was stage-



managed and received. The metaphorical language
of striving upwards, with the steep Gothic architec-
tural lines, dates back to this time. And the compari-
son with a ship, with the prow of an ocean liner, was
made time and time again.

Soon after its completion, the Chilehaus became
a symbol of the Free and Hanseatic City of Ham-
burg as “gateway to the world’ embodying the sig-
nificance of international trade for Hamburg and the
significance of Hamburg for international trade. It
was used as a popular symbol as early as 1925 by
the German Tourist Board in its advertising abroad,
and taken up as a theme by visual artists on count-
less occasions. In this way the Chilehaus became
the most frequently depicted building of the 1920s
in Germany.

The high profile and symbolic power of both ensem-
bles, the Speicherstadt and the Kontorhaus district,
and in particular the latter's core area, consisting
of the Chilehaus, Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and
Mohlenhof, remain intact to this day. Even now,
their designs continue to hold considerable fascina-
tion for the local population, the property owners
and international visitors alike.

For the population of Hamburg, the two ensembles
still today embody the pride felt in their modern pros-
perous “city republic’ and above all they are places
which identify the city they belong to. They are
cherished with great affection and a high degree of
continuity by the property owners, who in the Spei-
cherstadt have been the same for more than 100
years. The owners feel they have a special obligation
to preserve the Speicherstadt and the buildings of
the Kontorhaus district in a way which is compatible
with heritage protection. These locations never fail
to feature in tourist information brochures, and they
are popular as picturesque backdrops for innumer
able feature films, TV series, and advertising broad-
casts. For both German and international tourists,
the Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus districts are still
the highlights of their visit and the key landmarks of
the city of Hamburg.
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Fig. 132: The Chilehaus in touristic promotion, poster
by the , Reichszentrale fir Deutschen Reise-
vekehr” from 1925, designed by Wily Dzubas

3.a.2  Criteria under which inscription is
proposed

(i) a masterpiece of human creativity

The Chilehaus, constructed by Fritz Hoger between
1922 and 1924, and which no standard work of refer
ence on 20th century architecture fails to mention,
is considered to be an iconic work of expressionism
in architecture. Its significance as such derives both
from the characteristic detail of its brick facades and
its striking shape - the way it spans Fischertwiete,
its curved, S-shaped facade on the Messberg side,
and above all, its eastern tip, which brings to mind
the prow of a ship.

Furthermore, by making use of the construction
possibilities offered by reinforced concrete, and
combining these with traditional brickwork, Hoger
developed in the Chilehaus a modern, trendsetting
building structure. With virtuoso design and crafts-
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Fig. 133: Chilehaus



manship which could hardly be surpassed, he cre-
ated a modern style of brick office building archi-
tecture, the like of which the world had never seen.
Hoger used both the considerable mirroring and
reflective effect of the irregularly fired clinker bricks
and the close sequence of the pillars, required by the
internal floor plan, for the artistic design of the fa-
cades. On the inside, the building allowed for a flex-
ible division of space, vital for a modern rented office
building, which could be adapted to fit the needs of
different users. In oblique view, the close sequence
of pillars provides the impression of a smooth, ap-
parently windowless expanse of wall, which height-
ens the monumental feel of the building. The brick
piers projecting from the facade at a 45°-angle follow
their own internal rhythm, with a rotation of every
7th course of bricks, so that when closely observed
from an angle, a diagonal pattern can be seen on the
wall of pillars.

In addition to its artistic wall design, the building
boasts ceramic facade decorations by the sculptor
Richard Kuohl, who also created the terracotta adorn-
ment of the imposing entrance areas and staircases.

(ii) to exhibit an important interchange of
human values, over a space of time
or within a cultural area of the world,
on developments in architecture or
technology, monumental arts, town-
planning or landscape design

Fig. 135: Chilehaus, entrance hall "A” with interior by
Richard Kuohl
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Fig. 134: Chilehaus, southern Facade

The considerable cultural-historical importance of
the Speicherstadt and the Kontorhaus districts,
particularly the latter’'s core area consisting of the
Chilehaus, Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and Mohlen-
hof, lies in their functional complementarity and
close proximity — with the warehouses for imported
goods being situated on one side of the Customs
Canal and the trading offices on the other - they doc-
ument changes in urban planning, architecture and
technology and functional changes arising from the
major expansion of international trade in the second
half of the 19th century. Such changes were caused
by industrialisation in general and globalisation of
business in particular - a process which even then
was taking shape ever more clearly. These develop-
ments have been reflected in and indeed epitomised
by the Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district.

The above statement applies above all to urban
planning processes. The two mono-functional but
functionally complementary districts, on a scale
and with degree of concentration which is unique
in the world, document both the ideal of a modern
city with functional zones and the concept of city
formation. This idea emerged in the late 19th and
early 20th centuries, was taken up in more and more
city centres across the world, and led to a functional
segregation and the ousting of the residential popu-
lation and other users by the expanding tertiary sec-
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Fig. 136: Aerial view of the Speicherstadt and the Kontorhaus district

tor. With the construction of the Speicherstadt and
the Kontorhaus district, this separation was effected
innHamburg more radically than in any comparable
city, apart from some US metropolises. Elsewhere
historic buildings have frequently been altered or
lost, and as a result there are few clear signs left
of the early development of these mono-functional
districts, which therefore cannot effectively docu-
ment early city formation. In Hamburg, by contrast,
two mono-functional districts have been preserved
intact, right next to each other, with their original his-
toric design virtually unaltered.

(iii) a unique or at least exceptional
testimony to a cultural tradition or to
a civilisation which is living or has
disappeared

Thanks to their scale, the quality of their design,
their materials and their architectural forms, both
the Speicherstadt and the Kontorhaus district, in
particular the latter’s core area consisting of the
Chilehaus, Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and Mohlen-
hof, bear exceptional testimony to the building

tradition of Hamburg as a Hanseatic port city. At
the same time the two ensembles reflect the self-
image of its business community and the latter’s
adaptability which ensured Hamburg's success.
The business community of Hamburg abandoned
the hitherto usual layout of warehouse, office and
residence all under one roof in favour of a model of
functional separation which offered a greater prom-
ise of success, and moreover, in their new building
works they came up with a convincing and plausi-
ble way of showcasing their economic strength and
independence, as well as their role in global trade.

(iv) to be an outstanding example of a
type of building, architectural or
technological ensemble or landscape
which illustrates (a) significant
stage(s) in human history

The two mono-functional but functionally com-
plementary districts, the Speicherstadt and the
Kontorhaus district (particularly the latter's core
area consisting of the Chilehaus, Messberghof,
Sprinkenhof and Mohlenhof) are in close proxim-



ity to each other. They are outstanding examples of
types of buildings and ensembles epitomising the
consequences of expanding world trade in the late
19th and early 20th centuries. Their detailed design
and their high-quality, functional construction, in the
guise of Historicism and Modernism respectively,
make them unique examples of maritime ware-
housing and modern office building ensembles of
the 1920s. In terms of their urban planning and ar
chitectural design, the two ensembles constitute
an amalgamation of the specific requirements im-
posed upon the construction, technical equipment
and functionally appropriate layout of warehouses
and office buildings respectively, thus creating a
synthesis of unusually high quality with a striking
visual character. This is expressed in the description
of the warehousing complex as a “City of Ware-
houses” and in the metaphor of the “bowpeak” in
the case of the Chilehaus, with its ship-like appear
ance.

The homogenous design and high standard of ar
chitectural design of both ensembles are the result
of careful supervision by the Hamburg's Building
Commission and the city’s engineering communi-
ty. This makes both ensembles historically unique,
since the planning of similar buildings and ensem-
bles elsewhere was left to the free play of market
forces and, as far as the warehouses in particular
were concerned, was dealt with as a matter of sim-
ple routine.

Hamburg's Speicherstadt, complete with its numer-
ous warehouses and special-purpose buildings as
well as its specific structure in terms of function,
construction and urban planning, with its cobbled
streets, waterways, bridges and railway connec-
tions, was created at the end of the 19th century
under the direction of Chief Engineer Franz Andreas
Meyer. It became the largest and most modern lo-
gistics centre of its time. Thanks to careful recon-
struction, today it is still the largest cohesive and
integrated ensemble of warehouses in the world,
despite the ravages of the last war. Furthermore, in
the technologies and materials used, it is a unique
expression of the most impressive and function-
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ally adjusted industrial architecture of the European
Historicist period and is thus of major international
importance in terms of its architectural history.

Hamburg's Speicherstadt does not just stand out for
its high level of architectural unity resulting from the
uniform design of red brick facades, predominantly
in the neo-Gothic forms of the “Hanover School’
and because of the consistent urban planning im-
plemented here, but also for its imposing character,
unusual for such a building project, and its evocative
setting. The high profile of the “City of Warehouses”
comes across most effectively thanks to its promi-
nent position directly opposite the old town, mak-
ing it an architectural showpiece for the international
port and trading post of Hamburg; this distinguishes
it from warehouse complexes of other port cities and
it is this feature, not just the size of the Speicherstadt,
which gives it such a special position both nationally
and internationally.

The following factors and features make the Speicher
stadt stand out from other comparable maritime
warehouse complexes: The painstaking functional,
technical and artistic design of the warehouse blocks
and the plethora of individually designed special-pur
pose buildings which complement and functionally
extend the warehouse ensemble; the modernity of
the historic construction and equipment which to a
large extent have been preserved; and the logistical
achievements involved in their creation.

The Kontorhaus district is characterised by both its
considerable homogeneity and its remarkable scale,
which can still be experienced today. As the first
dedicated office district on the European continent,
it showcases previous experience in office block de-
sign in a condensed form and illustrates the shift in
focus of economic activities in continental Europe
from the secondary to the tertiary sector. Its office
buildings, particularly the Chilehaus, Messberghof,
Sprinkenhof and Mohlenhof broke new ground in the
development of office building architecture and even
worldwide are amongst the most significant achieve-
ments of their kind post-World War |. The high quality
of their concepts and design was unrivalled at the
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time, except in the United States. While international
office block architecture of the time was still influ-
enced by the Beaux-Arts style and other forms of
Historicism, Hamburg's buildings already displayed
modern clinker facades in predominantly expression-
ist forms, whose virtuosity of design and craftsman-
ship culminated in the Chilehaus and Sprinkenhof.
The Messberghof, the decorative and structural fea-
tures of which are more restrained, was one of the
first buildings anywhere in the world to pave the way
for the New Objectivity movement. The Mohlen-
hof, with its relatively simple, smooth facades, can
be regarded as an early example of New Objectiv-
ity architecture. The buildings in the core area of the
Kontorhaus district are therefore amongst the most
significant office buildings of the 1920s worldwide.
What is more, as works of important architects, they
are also of high artistic merit.

Alongside their architectural forms, which were
modern compared with other contemporary office
buildings from around the world, Hamburg's office
buildings were also characterised by their ambitious
designs. This is expressed in the artistic decoration
of the buildings and the meticulously designed clink-
er facades, some of which display a wealth of detail,
as well as the sumptuous fitting-out of the hallways
and staircases, the lavishness of which in some cas-
es bordered on ostentation. It was considered par
ticularly important for Hamburg's office buildings to
have flexible floor plans, which is why they were first
constructed as skeleton frames, with access infra-
structure, e.g. Paternoster technology, and sanitary
facilities being grouped together in compact core
sections.

The Chilehaus, Messberghof and Sprinkenhof,
which were featured in numerous publications and
had a lasting influence on the German architecture
of the time, were also reviewed in leading interna-
tional architectural journals and represented at in-
ternational exhibitions. The Chilehaus, moreover, is
a symbolic building, not just for Hamburg but for
1920s Germany; it is a major oeuvre of expression-
ist architecture.

The high profile and symbolic power of both ensem-
bles, the Speicherstadt and the Kontorhaus district,
particularly the latter's core area consisting of the
Chilehaus, Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and Mohlen-
hof, remain to this day. Their original designs continue
to captivate international visitors and the local popu-
lation alike, as well as the property owners, who feel
they have a special obligation to preserve the Spei-
cherstadt and the buildings of the Kontorhaus district
in a way that is compatible with heritage protection.

3.a.3  Statement of integrity

According to paragraph 88 of the Guidelines for the
Implementation of the Convention Concerning the
Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage
of 1 February 2012, as amended, the analysis showed
that the requirements with regard to integrity are
fulfilled and that the nominated property includes all
elements necessary to express outstanding univer
sal value, is of appropriate size in order to reflect the
features and processes in a complete manner which
characterize the importance of the property, and does
is not impaired by negative effects caused by devel-
opment and/or neglect. The key parameters for integ-
rity as a qualifying condition of the Speicherstadt and
Kontorhaus district with Chilehaus to secure and
sustain their significance are as follows:

3.a.3.1 Wholeness

The ensemble comprises all the elements, features
and structures which are necessary to express its
exceptional universal value. The Speicherstadt and
Kontorhaus district are two mono-functional, mu-
tually complementary districts which document in
unique concentration and scale the change from a
mixed-use city to a modern city with functional zon-
ing, which became established in the late 19th and
early 20th century.

The major characteristics are: districts which have been
maintained as an integral whole, in direct neighbour
hood to one another, each built for mono-functional
use, whereby the form and design of the buildings and
structures show this use and the time of their creation.



1) The Speicherstadt is a unique example of a
maritime warehouse complex of the late 19th
century, with a large number of warehouse
buildings and its associated infrastructure

2) The Kontorhaus district features striking mod-
ern office buildings of the 1920s and 1930s

The Speicherstadt also comprises all the elements
and structures which express its significance as the
largest unified warehouse ensemble and world’s
most advanced logistics centre in the late 19th cen-
tury. lts major characteristics are its numerous sev-
en-to-eight storey warehouses and functional build-
ings, designed uniformly facing onto the waterways,
identifiable in their use as warehouses due to their
window formats, loading hatches and winch units,
and their floor plans and construction forms. The
functional operations are evident from their specific
structure with waterways, quays, bridges, paved
roads and railway tracks.

The Kontorhaus district, in particular the buildings of
its core zone comprising Chilehaus, Messberghof,
Sprinkenhof and Mohlenhof, comprise all the ele-
ments and structures which show its significance for
the development of modern office architecture of
the 1920s and 1930s. The major characteristics are:
mainly large-scale, in some cases whole-block office
buildings with frame construction and sophisticated
styled clinker brick facades in expressionist and func-
tional architectural forms, with flat roofs and set-back
upper storeys, and flexible floor plans.

3.a.3.2 Adequate size

The ensemble Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district
with Chilehaus is of adequate size to reflect com-
pletely the characteristics and processes which ac-
count for its significance.

The area of the nominated property Hamburg Spei-
cherstadt is until today with 15 of the original 17
large-format blocks and a series of functional and
special-purpose buildings and its infrastructure (nu-
merous canals, bridges, paved roads, quay walls),
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with a circumference of 20.9 ha and a total net floor
space of 300,000 m?, the largest continuous, unified
warehouse ensemble in the world.

The area of the nominated property Kontorhaus dis-
trict, which is dominated by Chilehaus, Messberg-
hof, Sprinkenhof and Mohlenhof, has a circumfer-
ence of 5.1 ha. It is dominated by Chilehaus, which
provides 36,000 m2 of gross floor area for office use.
Sprinkenhof takes as Chilehaus an entire block and
includes approximately 52,000 m?, the Messberghof
about 21,200 m2 and 7800 m?2 of Mohlenhof gross
floor area.

3.a.3.3 Intactness

The Hamburg ensemble Speicherstadt and Kon-
torhaus district with Chilehaus meets the require-
ments for intactness, because it is not impaired by
negative effects of development and/or neglect.

The Hamburg ensemble comprises two mono-func-
tional districts in direct neighbourhood to one anoth-
er, which have been preserved in almost unchanged
historical form and design, documenting the change
from a mixed-use urban environment to the modern
city with functional zoning, which became estab-
lished in the late 19th and early 20th century.

Despite the damage in the Second World War and
the successive change in use of the blocks in the
course of the last one and a half decades, the Spei-
cherstadt has retained its historic character, and
exhibits a high degree of intactness. That applies
to brick as the material, to the architectural forms,
and to the external appearance of the buildings, and
also to large parts of their historic construction and
their historic pile foundations. The original function
of the Speicherstadt as the warehouse centre of the
Port of Hamburg has remained readable. Apart from
two buildings in the west that were completely de-
stroyed, most of the buildings which were damaged
in the war were reconstructed, in a manner ranging
from careful detailed restoration to free addition. In
many cases the only sign of reconstruction of the
upper sections of the warehouses is that there are
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slight differences in the colour of the bricks. The
few replacement buildings within the Speicherstadt
systematically embody post-war modernity — una-
dorned, cubically shaped building structures, which
blend into their surroundings due to use of brick ma-
terials. In this form, the Speicherstadt has remained
in good structural shape right up to the present, in
almost undisturbed form. That is a consequence of
the manner of building and construction, and the use
of brick as the material, and the uninterrupted use
and continuous maintenance of the buildings.

The whole of the historic infrastructure of the
Speicherstadt has also been preserved, with wa-
terways, quays, bridges, paved streets and rail-
way tracks.

The Hamburg Kontorhaus district around Messberg
is still characterised today by largely uninterrupted
original buildings of the 1920s, 1930s and 1950s, with
very little impairment from war damage, largely pre-
served unchanged in its form and design; it includes
in particular Chilehaus, Messberghof, Sprinkenhof
and Mohlenhof. The buildings have been renovated
in the past decades in a manner appropriate to this
heritage, and have been extremely well maintained.

3.a.4  Statement of authenticity

The draft statement in respect of the outstanding
universal value according to paragraph 82 of the
Guidelines for the Implementation of the Conven-
tion Concerning the Protection of the World Cul-
tural and Natural Heritage of 1 February 2012, as
amended, confirms that the property meets the
requirements in terms of authenticity. The key pa-
rameters for authenticity as a qualifying condition
of the Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district with
Chilehaus to convey its significance over time are
as follows:

3.a.4.1 Form and design
The form and design of the Hamburg Speicher

stadt were determined by their high degree of ar-
chitectural and urban planning concentration, the

ambitious link between architectural design of
the buildings and their technical facilities, the ef-
fective composition of their prestigious red-brick
construction in Neo-Gothic architectural forms
from the Hanover School, and by their functional
and aesthetic structure made up of streets, wa-
terways and bridges, giving it an incomparable
look as a “warehouse city” — an effect which was
further reinforced by their prominent position on
a group of islands at the edge of the city centre.

Despite the damage in the Second World War
and the successive change in use of the blocks
in the course of the last one and a half decades,
the Speicherstadt has retained its historic char-
acter, and exhibits a high degree of authenticity
in terms of form and design. That applies largely
both to the architectural forms and to the histori-
cal structures.

Most of the buildings which were damaged in
the war were restored, in a manner ranging from
careful detailed reconstruction to free addition.
In many cases the only sign of reconstruction
of the upper sections of the warehouses is that
there are slight differences in the colour of the
bricks. The few replacement buildings within the
Speicherstadt systematically embody post-war
modernity — unadorned, cubically shaped build-
ing structures, which blend into their surround-
ings due to use of brick materials and due to their
dimensions.

While office building architecture of the 1920s
and 1930s was characterised internationally by
the Beaux Arts style and other use of historic
forms, the progressive office buildings of the
Hamburg Kontorhaus district already featured
modern clinker brick facades in expressionist
and functional architectural forms which achieved
almost unsurpassable virtuosity in their design
and workmanship, specifically in Chilehaus and
Sprinkenhof. They were also characterised by am-
bitious design aims, expressed both in the artistic
decoration of the buildings and in the prestigious
decoration in their entrance halls and staircases.



Major design features of Chilehaus, a key building
in modern architecture and an icon of expression-
ism, were the characteristic details of its brick fa-
cades and the significant form, spanning Fischer
twiete, and the S-shaped facade on Messberg,
and above all the eastern tip, which is reminis-
cent of a ship’s prow.

The Hamburg Kontorhaus district is still charac-
terised today by largely uninterrupted original
buildings, with very little impairment from war
damage, largely preserved unchanged in form
and design.

3.a.4.2 Material and substance

Despite the damage in the Second World War,
and successive changes in use of the blocks in
the last one and a half decades, the Speicher
stadt has a high degree of authenticity in terms
of material and substance. That applies both to
the brick material, including the shaped bricks
and other decorative elements, and to large pro-
portions of it historic iron-and-timber construction
and its original pile foundations. The historic struc-
tures of the waterways, quays, bridges, paved
streets and railway tracks are likewise maintained
in their historical substance, including what are
in some cases highly decorative detail shapes
on the bridges and quays. Wherever they were
damaged, they have been repaired or restored in
simplified form.

In terms of material and substance, the Kon-
torhaus district with Chilehaus is characterised by
systematic use of reinforced concrete construc-
tion in combination with carefully designed, in
some cases very complex detailing of the clinker
brick facades, and the use of artistic decorative
elements on the building, the prestigious deco-
ration of the entrance halls and staircases, and
modern methods of access to the upper floors via
paternoster lifts. The buildings of the Kontorhaus
district have remained largely unchanged in terms
of material and substance.
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3.a.4.3 Use and function

The original function of the Speicherstadt as the
warehouse centre of the Port of Hamburg has
been retained in parts and, where not retained, it
has at least remained readable. At present about
96,000 m2 of the total net space of about 300,000
mZ2 are used as storage spaces. About one third of
the remaining buildings have now been converted
for other purposes, while maintaining their archi-
tectural and visual character.

The commercial and office buildings of the Ham-
burg Kontorhaus district continue to serve their
original purposes.

3.a.4.4 Location and setting

These two mutually complementary mono-func-
tional districts have been maintained in close spatial
and functional connection, in the southern area of
Hamburg's old town (Altstadt), located by the River
Elbe. They are unique in their concentration and
size, documenting the change from a mixed-use
urban environment to the modern city with func-
tional zoning, which became established in the late
19th and early 20th century — on the one hand the
Speicherstadt as the warehouse complex for goods
imported via the Port of Hamburg, and on the other
hand the Kontorhaus district with the offices of the
companies depending on the port and shipping. The
position of the two ensembles is unchanged within
the urban fabric.

3.a.5  Protection and management
requirements

The area submitted for nomination as a World Her-
itage site is protected in its entirety by Hamburg's
Heritage Protection Act. Also, the immediate sur-
roundings of the Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus
district heritage assets are protected by Section
8 of the Hamburg Heritage Protection Act to the
extent that they are classified as being of forma-
tive significance for its appearance or continued
existence.
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As set out in Section 4, paragraph 1, the Hamburg Her
itage Protection Act (last amended on 5. April 2013)
serves the purpose of providing statutory protection
for listed individual buildings, ensembles, garden and
archaeological monuments. The same applies to move-
able heritage assets for which a decree recognizing
their protection status has become final, i.e. it cannot
be appealed.

In order to ensure maximum compatibility between the
Hamburg Heritage Protection Act and the \World Herit-
age Convention, the nominated property has been de-
fined such that it lies within the boundaries of the listed
area already protected by the Hamburg Heritage Pro-
tection Act. This will provide for a maximum degree of
congruence between the existing regional legal instru-
ments and the objectives mentioned above. Sections
103 and 104 of the Operational Guidelines demand the
establishment of a buffer zone around the nominated
property. This requirement has been complied with.
The buffer zone is a significant contribution to the in-
tegrity of the nominated property in that it ensures that
the visual experience of the site is not lost. The buffer
zone comprises the areas immediately surrounding
the site and was defined using either manifest spatial
boundaries or carefully selecting physical boundaries,
i.e. its definition was guided by the legal provisions of
the Hamburg Heritage Protection Act. The act provides
for the protection of the immediate surroundings of a
heritage asset if they are of formative significance for
its appearance or continued existence.

In addition, the Regional Ministry of Urban Develop-
ment and Environment (BSU) and HHLA have elabo-
rated a Development Concept for the Speicherstadt.
This was approved by the Hamburg Senate in April
2012 and taken note of by the Hamburg Parliament
(Blrgerschaft).

At the same time, the Development Concept for the
Speicherstadt aims at identifying areas with a poten-
tial for modifications and additions while guaranteeing
the existing characteristics of the district by taking ac-
count of its historical heritage and bearing in mind its
nomination as a \World Heritage site. The Development
Concept defines the criteria and spells out the techni-

cal and legal framework necessary. A separate concept
has been elaborated for public spaces in the Speicher
stadt that addresses at traffic and design issues.

The Development Concept contains comprehensive
information on the following aspects which, however,
are subject to permission to be granted by the heritage
protection authorities:

»  Current and future uses of Speicherstadt build-
ings and infrastructure (storage and trade, ser
vice industries, residential, cultural institutions)

»  Flood protection

»  Securing the wood pile foundations underneath
quay walls and warehouses

» Traffic (access, parking facilities, design of
streets and other public spaces, bridges)

»  Open spaces and design of open spaces

» lllumination

»  Flora and fauna in the Speicherstadt

In order to facilitate compliance with heritage require-
ments, particularly as regards the overall appearance
of the Speicherstadt, on 5 August 2008 the Hamburg
Senate approved an ordinance that contains rules spe-
cifically referring to the Speicherstadt. These provisions
are based on the existing historic buildings and infra-
structure and as such constitute an important tool for
the preservation of the overall appearance of this part
of the nominated property. They in no way prejudice
the general requirement that permission for any meas-
ure can only be granted if it complies with Hamburg's
Heritage Protection Act.

A management plan has been formulated to safeguard
the preservation and proper management of the en-
semble ,, Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district with
Chilehaus. The preservation and sustainable develop-
ment of the nominated property , Speicherstadt and
Kontorhaus district with Chilehaus” needs to be placed
on a broad footing. This is why the Management Plan
addresses the representatives of the nominated prop-
erty administration units and authorities, the owners,
residents, commercial and private tenants, those in-
volved in business or tourism and the public.



The objective of the Management Plan is to secure the
outstanding universal value of the nominated property,
its authenticity and its visual integrity. The Manage-
ment Plan serves as a strategic instrument for rec-
onciling this objective with a sustainable future devel-
opment of the nominated property. To this end, main
protection objectives and other key goals have been
defined, areas of potential conflict and synergies have
been identified, the work that needs to be done evalu-
ated and priority measures and projects agreed upon.

The Management Plan takes account of the fact that
the ensemble , Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus dis-
trict with Chilehaus” will be managed under market
economy conditions, as this is vital for the preserva-
tion of the large number of buildings. The Manage-
ment Plan addresses the interrelationship between
the nominated property and its urban surroundings
which have undergone significant changes in recent
years and will also continue to experience transfor
mations in the future.

The Management Plan consists of the following three
parts:

»  Part | — Description:

History and description of the site; proposed assess-
ment of the site’s significance; explanation of how the
nominated property has been defined; main protection
objectives and other key goals, as well as legal instru-
ments for the preservation and sustainable develop-
ment of the nominated property.

»  Part Il - Administration and management:
Details of administration and management; key objec-
tives for the development of the nominated property
and potential threats.

»  Part lll = The future of the nominated property:
Details of essential plans and the most relevant imple-

mentation pathways for the preservation and sustain-
able development of the nominated property.
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Since, in the case of Hamburg, the ensemble is in the
centre of the city where people live and work, and
since the area will continue to be managed under mar
ket economy conditions even after its potential inscrip-
tion on the UNESCO World Heritage List, the main
protection objectives and other key goals rest on three
separate pillars:

1. Preservation and conservation

Preserving the historic buildings, the characteristic
overall impact of the Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus en-
sembles and their typical appearance within the town-
scape.

2. ldentity and continuity

Maintaining or even increasing the quality of life of the
residents of Hamburg by safeguarding a unique tes-
timony to Hamburg's cultural and historical develop-
ment, which played a key role in establishing its iden-
tity.

3. Raising awareness and disseminating information

The long-term and sustainable safeguarding of the
Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus district.

The Department for Heritage Preservation will be
responsible for coordinating the management of the
nominated property. Should the nomination of the
“Speicherstadtand Kontorhausdistrict with Chilehaus”
for inscription on the UNESCO World Heritage List be
successful, the Regional Ministry of Culture intends
to appoint a World Heritage Coordinator, who will
be responsible within the Department for Heritage
Preservation for coordinating the management of the
nominated property. The World Heritage Coordinator’s
role is to facilitate communication with the regional
ministries, property owners and other stakeholders
listed below, and to liaise with national and interna-
tional institutions, so as to safeguard the quality of the
nominated property. In the event of overlapping inter-
ests, the World Heritage Coordinator will also play an
important role in conflict management.
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3.b  Comparative analysis

In the course of industrialisation and the incipient
globalisation of the world economy towards the end
of the 19th and at the beginning of the 20th centu-
ries, a process of city-building began in the world’s
metropolises which was taken up in more and more
city centres across the world. It led to functional seg-
regation, with the residential population and other
users being ousted by the expanding tertiary sector.

There were several events that both accelerated and
deepened this process in Hamburg. The first main
catalyst was the Big Fire (Grosser Brand) in 1842,
in the aftermath of which the hitherto medieval and
small-scale urban structure of the old part of town
(Altstadt) was adapted to and replaced according
to modern standards of urban development charac-
terised by orthogonal blocks of houses. This meant
that most of the people previously living in the af-
fected districts were driven away. Another important
catalyst was the abolition of the city gate regime
(Torsperre) in 1860, which meant that the city’s mer
chants and traders left the Altstadt to live permanent-
ly in the pleasant and green residential areas outside
the city, where before they had only had secondary
summer residences there. Up to that time they had
both worked and lived in the city.

The building of the Speicherstadt marks the transi-
tion from a town with mixed uses towards a mod-
ern city with mono-functional districts, a trend that
was rigorously promoted and implemented in Ham-
burg. 16,000 people were removed from the Brook
islands, where they had previously lived, to make
room for the Speicherstadt. Simultaneously, the
first Kontorhduser were erected, an additional fac-
tor that increasingly contributed to the ousting of the
residential population from the city centre. This de-
velopment was further accelerated when, after the
cholera epidemic of 1892, the old Alleyway district
(Gangeviertel), a region of poor neighbourhoods,
was cleared. Only few residential buildings were
erected in the Altstadt. In their stead, Kontorhauser
were built. As a consequence, the number of inhab-
itants in the city centre decreased from 171,000 in

1880 to only 68,600 in 1937 Of these, only 15,500
lived in the old town (Altstadt).

With the exception of London, this phenomenon was
virtually unknown in Europe at the time. Even in the
US, only the most central city districts of New York
and Chicago were dominated by the tertiary sector.
Office buildings were also being erected elsewhere,
but contrary to developments in Hamburg, the ter
tiary sector did not manage to displace the residen-
tial population. Rather, city centres elsewhere re-
tained their character as desegregated urban regions
with mixed residential and work-related uses.

Together, the two mono-functional but complemen-
tary districts, the Speicherstadt and the Kontorhaus
district, are therefore good examples of the ideal of
a modern city with functional zoning. They can serve
to document the city-formation processes that oc-
curred towards the end of the 19th century and the
beginning of the 20th century. However, the two
districts also boast exceptional qualities independ-
ent of one another. The following chapters set out to
provide evidence of this by comparing the Speicher
stadt and Kontorhaus districts with other historical
urban developments.

3.b.1  Hamburg's Speicherstadt — an
international comparison

Warehouses and sheds for the storage and transit
handling of goods were built in many places and for
various transport modes, but the following section
will only take a comparative look at those warehouse
complexes that developed between approximately
1880 and WW | in the context of industrialisation and
the expansion of shipping and trading activities in
sea port cities. Only they can provide adequate ref-
erence projects with which to compare Hamburg's
Speicherstadt.

Against the backdrop of industrialisation and the rap-
id acceleration and internationalisation of trade dur
ing the 19th century, new challenges arose for the



transhipment and handling of goods and their stor
age. This, in turn, required new rules and regulations
for customs clearance and storage. The new facilities
had to holistically address issues of transhipment,
storage, upgrading, customs processing and onward
transport. The storage of goods in state-owned or
privately operated warehouses was primarily moti-
vated by legal and customs reasons: Because free
ports were classified as extraterritorial enclaves, in
most cases customs were only payable on goods
that entered or left free ports.

3.b.1.1 Hamburg’s Speicherstadt

Hamburg's Speicherstadt developed in the context of
the establishment of the city's free port. With its nu-
merous warehouse and other functional buildings and
facilities, its specific functional, constructive and urban
set-up, which includes the street, waterway and rail-
way infrastructure, Hamburg's Speicherstadt was con-
sidered one of the largest and most modern logistics
centres of its time. As a result of the careful recon-
struction efforts and despite the destruction sustained
during WW I, it has been preserved as the largest co-
hesive and integral warehouse complex of warehouse
buildings in the world.

There are only few other examples of comparable
warehouse complexes: They either were of smaller
dimensions even at the time of their construction or
have not been preserved to nearly the same extent as
Hamburg's Speicherstadt.

Another characteristic feature of Hamburg's Speicher
stadt is its prestigious and lavish design: In terms
of urban development and architectural aspirations,
the Speicherstadt is an impressive complex. It truly
is a ,city of warehouses’ and as such was the archi-
tectural showpiece of Hamburg, a world trading hub
and world port city. When comparing it at the inter
national level, the Speicherstadt provides exceptional
testimony to the maritime architecture of the period.
It is this function as a showpiece, which is given extra
prominence through its proximity with the Altstadt,
that distinguishes Hamburg's Speicherstadt from the
warehouse complexes of other port cities and makes
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it unique both in German and international contexts,
not just but also because of its sheer size.

In the following, the exceptional value of Hamburg's
Speicherstadt will be demonstrated by comparing it
with other warehouse complexes built in other port
cities between 1800 and 1914.

3.b.1.2 Europe
3.b.1.2.1  Germany
» Bremen

Bremen (and later Bremerhaven) was Germany's
second most important port city and attempts
were also made there to find tailormade solu-
tions for new and specific warehousing require-
ments. Like elsewhere in Europe, in the initial
phase sheds and warehouses were built in the
city centre along a street that ran parallel to the
river banks. The warehouses were positioned
perpendicularly to the street. The Schlachte port
facilities and warehouses close to Bremen's city
centre, however, stopped being used as early as
the end of the 19th century.

After 1871, Bremen's port development lost mo-
mentum: Its growth rate in the transhipment of
goods transported by sea started to lag behind
that of Bremen’s big German rival, Hamburg,
but also behind those of Amsterdam, Rotterdam
and Antwerp. In other words, the city urgently
needed to act. In 1888 the decision was taken to
straighten the course of the River Weser and to
dredge it to allow vessels with deeper draught
to sail to Bremen. Also, a large new section was
added to the existing port further down river,
close to the old part of Bremen (Bremer Altstadt).
This port facility had three port basins and was
conceived of as a free port in three parts. They
were called Free Port | (the name was changed
to Europahafen in 1938) with warehouses | to X,
Free Port Il (renamed Uberseehafen in 1938) with
warehouses Xl to Xl and Industriehafen.
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The quay walls with (one-legged gantry) cranes
made it possible for large vessels to dock there
and have their cargo speedily transhipped to the
railway or horse-drawn drays. Transit sheds for
the short-term storage and sorting of goods soon
followed, as did the construction of a second
street with cranes and space for the railways and
horse-drawn drays. Eventually, warehouses were
also built for the long-term storage of goods (this
was termed the Bremen System).

During 1944 and 1945, large parts of the Europa-
hafen and the Uberseehafen of Bremen were de-
stroyed. They were quickly rebuilt after the war.
New state-of-the-art sheds and warehouses were
erected. Since the closure of the Uberseehafen
in 1999 and the dissolution of the free port zone,
the entire area of approximately 300 hectares has
been the subject of a major redevelopment pro-
ject which aims to convert it into a new district
called the Uberseestadt. The historic ground is
going to be converted into a new district for of-
fice and commercial, but also for residential uses.
Backfilling the former Uberseehafen has led to
the loss of the maritime connection of the two re-
maining four-storey warehouses Xl| and XIIl which
were built at the beginning of the 20th century.

In neighbouring Bremerhaven, Geestemdinde,
Vegesack and Oldenburg, the only port facilities
left are a few isolated and disused warehouses.
The situation in other German port cities on the
North or the Baltic Sea such as Emden, Wilhelms-
hafen, Kiel and Rostock is similar.

3.b.1.2.2 Great Britain

Foreign trade started gaining momentum and be-
came more focussed in Great Britain as early as
the 17th century, when coastal shipping increased
and the estuarial cities on the Tyne, Clyde, Mer-
sey, Humber, Tees and Thames rivers became
important sea ports. Increasing trade made it
necessary to build new facilities for the growing
handling and (intermediate) storage volumes. In
Great Britain, unlike in Hamburg, the new storage

and transhipment facilities and dock ports were
planned and built by private companies which
acted independently of one another and without
a master plan.

Dock ports could cope with large differences in
tidal levels, thus making loading and unloading
quicker and safer. The docks and the valuable
goods stored on their premises were protected
by high surrounding walls. Advances in port con-
struction technology and the increasing size of
vessels meant that docks grew in size over time.
While they only catered to small ships to begin
with, it soon became usual to conceive of large
dock complexes with integrated port basins,
warehouses and protective walls. Vessels had
to pass through tide locks to moor at the docks
where they could then be loaded and unloaded
at constant water levels. Customs formalities
were dealt with at the entry to the docks and the
operators employed their own police and secu-
rity forces. The dock companies had their own
administration which organised and funded the
construction and managed the operation of the
docks.

This model was adopted by many port cities
around the globe, but particularly in Europe: Nu-
merous dock ports, including large warehouse en-
sembles along the port basins, were built. How-
ever, hardly any traces of these are left. Where
warehouses have survived, they are usually iso-
lated buildings, and many of them have been sig-
nificantly altered.

» London

The building of docks in London commenced
around 1800. The first docks to be inaugurated
were those built by the West India Company on the
Isle of Dogs in 1802. To protect them from thieves,
they were surrounded by a 6.10 m high brick wall.
The dock complex consisted of two parallel basins:
one for importation and the other for exportation.
The dock for imports was enclosed with uninter-
rupted rows of five-storey warehouses designed by



the architect George Gwillt and his son. The dock
for export goods needed fewer buildings because
these goods were normally loaded on to the ves-
sels immediately upon arrival of the latter.

The docks built in London over the following 100
years followed largely the same pattern: After the
East India Docks were built in 1803, the London
Docks were built down river from London in Wapping
between 1799 and 1815. The St. Katharine Docks
were built near the city centre between 1827 and
1828 and were later merged with the London Docks.

The London Docks had a total size of 120,000 m?
and were subdivided into the West and East ba-
sins. The two basins were connected by the short
Tobacco Dock. These port facilities specialised in
the unloading of precious merchandise such as
ivory, spices, coffee, cocoa, wine and wool. El-
egant wine vaults and warehouses were built to
store wine and other products.

Fig. 137: Plan of Port of London Authority Docks west, 1921
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The Surrey Commercial Docks were built in Rother-
ite on the south bank of the River Thames starting
in 1696, but port construction gathered speed par
ticularly during the 19th century when docks were
also built in London's East End: The Royal Docks
were built between 1855 and 1921. They consisted
of three port basins, namely the Royal Albert Dock,
the Royal Victoria Dock and the King George V Dock.
Together, in the three basins the water extended
over a surface of 1 square kilometre. The surface
of the port area as a whole totalled 4.5 km2, which
made it the largest cohesive port in the world.

Very little is left of these numerous historic London
docks: Many were destroyed or severely damaged
during WW II. When containerisation set in, most of
the docks proved to be too small for large modern
vessels.

In 1981, the British Government under Prime Min-
ister Margaret Thatcher established the London
Docklands Development Corporation (LDDC), which
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Fig. 138: Plan of Port of London Authority Docks east, 1921

was given the task of managing urban development
in the eastern part of London's city centre, includ-
ing the Surrey Docks. The government bought up a
large part of the former port area and redeveloped
it within the framework of an overall London Dock-
lands urban development scheme. In the course of
the scheme, many docks were backfilled and built
on, e.g. parts of the West and East India Docks
and the Surrey Commercial Docks. The western
part of the London Dock area was also backfilled.
As of 1981, more than 1,000 private apartments
were erected around the old Tobacco Dock and the
Shadwell Basin. The only preserved building is the
Tobacco Dock warehouse, built around 1812. It is a
richly decorated building with numerous ornaments
made of brick and cast iron elements, and was con-
verted into a shopping mall in 1990.

The remaining warehouses next to other docks
were partly removed, e.g. at St. Katharine's Dock
where most of the historic warehouses were de-
molished or converted for other uses and signifi-
cantly altered.

LONDON AUTHORITY

The port basins of the Royal Docks were left largely
intact. However, not much remains of their original
infrastructure. Some of the historic warehouses
and cranes have been preserved.

In summary, of the various London Dock ensem-
bles there are only a few isolated warehouses or
warehouse complexes that have survived. Even
these have been significantly modified.

» Liverpool

In Liverpool dock ports were also the order of the
day. Integrated with artificial port basins and tide
locks, these port facilities were systematically ex-
tended because they simplified navigation on the
River Mersey, otherwise known for its difficult tid-
al differences and currents. By the middle of the
19th century, Liverpool had a complex network of
docks complete with tide locks, warehouses and,
later, railway connections.



Part of this network, the Albert Dock, officially
opened by Prince Consort Albert in 1846, has been
preserved. This imposing and uniform ensemble con-
stitutes a ,,port within a port” and includes a power
plant, the harbourmaster’s house and an administra-
tion building. The five-storey brick warehouses with
cast iron pillars frame the artificial rectangular port
basin. There are only two passages for vessels en-
tering and leaving the dock. As early as 1920, opera-
tions in the Albert Dock practically came to a halt and
the port basin started to silt up. In 1976 the dock was
listed. Restoration and conversion started in 1983.
Today, the complex houses museums, art exhibi-
tions (Tate Liverpool), restaurants, cafés and offices.
The Albert Dock is part of the larger World Heritage
site , Liverpool Maritime Mercantile City”

The Albert Dock can hardly be compared with
Hamburg's Speicherstadt as its dimensions are far
smaller, with a smaller number of warehouses.

The other warehouse monument that has been
preserved in Liverpool, the Stanley Dock Tobacco
Warehouse built in 1901, does not lend itself to a
comparison with Hamburg's Speicherstadt either:
It consists of only one building, although a very
sizeable one. At the time of its erection, the To-
bacco Warehouse brick building was the biggest
edifice in the world. After its temporary use as a
market, recent planning has earmarked it for con-
version into flats, offices and shops. The Tobacco
Warehouse has been empty since 1980.
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Fig. 139: Liverpool, Stanley Dock Tobacco Warehouse, 2008

Warehouse complexes have also been preserved
elsewhere in the United Kingdom, e.g. in the Scot-
tish sea port of Glasgow, the , Second City of the
Empire’ and along the Broomielaw Quay on the
River Clyde in Edinburgh/Port Leith. They have
been converted for other uses and never had the
dimensions of Hamburg's Speicherstadt. What is
more, after conversion and the related consider-
able alterations, they now come across as alien-
ated from their environment.

Fig. 140: Liverpool, Albert Docks
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3.b.1.2.3 Ireland

» Dublin

The docks in Dublin were modelled on those in
London and Liverpool. Their structure has been pre-
served in parts, while others were backfilled. How-
ever, no warehouse complexes have survived in the
dock area, but only individual warehouses such as
Stack A which was completed in 1821. It is a 152
m long and 49 m wide brick building, which was
built without any wood or other flammable material,
making it one of the first fireproof warehouse build-
ings. Stack A continued to be used as a warehouse
until the 1970s, but has since been converted and
is now used as a shopping mall and event location.

3.b.1.2.4 The Netherlands

» Amsterdam

In medieval Amsterdam merchants’ houses includ-
ed storage facilities and separate warehouses and
were built everywhere along the waterways and
canals of the city. Many of these warehouses and
storage facilities are now used as residential build-
ings.

The Entrepotdok warehouses, built in a complex
some two kilometres away from the city centre
after 1824 and unoccupied for many years, were
renovated and made available for alternative uses
beginning in 1984. The lower storeys are used
by companies while the upper storeys were con-
verted into apartments. The inner cores of parts of
the complex have been gutted to provide for more
natural light in the apartments. The first ones to be
occupied in 1984 were nos. 79 to 84. In the follow-
ing years, a total of 600 apartments were realised,
making the Entrepotdok the biggest converted
warehouse complex in Amsterdam.

A similar development occurred on the Prinsenei-
land (Westelijke Eilanden) islands with the ware-
houses there. From 1600 onwards, artificial islands
were established outside of the city centre to be

Fig. 141: Amsterdam, the Entrepotdok, which was con-
versed to flats, 2011

used for shipyards, commercial operations and
warehouses. Around 1820 there was a total of 120
warehouses on the Westelijke Eilanden. The four
storey, narrow but deep buildings, with gables fac-
ing the street, were hollowed out in the years after
1980 by inserting U-shaped atria, which afford more
light.

Another row of warehouse buildings exists in the
Eastern Docklands along the Ostelijke Handelskade
(Pakhuis Amsterdam) and on the Veemkade. The
facilities there, consisting of quays, portal cranes,
sheds for transit goods, warehouses and rail, road
and inland waterway connections for the onward
transport of incoming and outgoing goods, contin-
ued to satisfy modern cargo handling requirements
until the 1950s. In the meantime, many of the old
warehouses have been either demolished or con-
verted for residential purposes and many new build-
ings have been erected in the area.

In summary, there used to be a large number of
warehouse complexes in Amsterdam. Some of
them have been preserved to this day, but because
they have been radically altered, particularly for
housing, they can hardly be experienced as ware-
houses any longer. In other words, they cannot
really serve as a point of reference for Hamburg's
Speicherstadt.



Fig. 142: Warehouse buildings on the Prinseneiland, 2008

» Rotterdam — Entrepothaven

During the 19th century, the port of Rotterdam was
moved in several steps from the city centre on the
north bank of the River Maas to its south bank. The
building of the Nieuwe Waterweg in 1872 segregated
the city from the port.

In 1873, the Rotterdam Trading Company (RHV) start-
ed building the Entrepothaven warehouse complex
on the south bank of the River Maas. This project was
implemented independently of the later plans for
an extended port development zone and consisted
of three U-shaped 15m high fourstorey warehouse
buildings complete with quays, an entrance building
and a port basin. The main products stored in these
warehouses were coffee, tea, sugar and spices.

Until 1990, the Entrepothaven complex was used as
a port with storage facilities. Conversion started in
1993 and it is now home to the ,Exotic Festival Mar
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ket' apartments, offices, the city marina and supple-
mentary high-rise buildings. Cranes add to the mari-
time feel of the district. Of the total of three original
warehouses, only one has been preserved. It is a
large complex measuring 200 m by 36 m, which is
subdivided into five sections which are, in turn, sepa-
rated from one another by fire walls. An atrium was
inserted in the course of conversion which provides
for more natural light.
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.3.b.1.2.5 Finland
» Helsinki

It is Helsinki's geographical situation that has de-
termined much of its port development. Helsinki is
Finland’s most important port. However, cargo han-
dling has now been completely relocated to the new
port of Vuosari, so that the former port areas close to
the city centre have become available for new uses.
The only ships mooring there now are cruise ships
and ferries. The former cargo port of Katajanokka has
now been converted into an exclusive passenger
port.

One of the few historic warehouse buildings in the
historic port areas close to the city centre is the small
ensemble at the foot of the Uspenski Cathedral. It
consists of four two to three-storey brick buildings,
which were erected between 1867 and 1903. They
have been converted for new uses in line with herit-
age protection guidelines.

Close to the ferry port in Katajanokka, there is a two-
storey customs clearance brick building which was
built in 1901. It is now being used as exhibition space
and as a restaurant. Next to it is an imposing depot
with a neo-classical facade built in several phases. It
has been converted and now houses a hotel (Grand
Marina), but has kept its constructive design. Adja-
cent to the hotel is a two-storey brick building now
being used by the Finnish Film Foundation. There is
also a complex of two parallel warehouses (Wanha
Satama), consisting of two single-storey brick ware-
houses connected by a glass roof. They are used as
an administration centre. Their wooden load bearing
structures and cobble stone sidewalks have been
preserved.

3.b.1.2.6 Iltaly

» Trieste — Porto Vecchio

Between 1382 and 1918, Trieste was under Habs-

burg rule. Upon completion of the South Austrian
Railway (6sterreichische Sidbahn) between Vienna,

Graz, Laibach and Trieste, Porto Vecchio was expand-
ed and turned into a major trading location and tran-
sit port: In 1914, it was Europe’s fifth largest port.

After 1861, there were complex plans to further
extend Trieste’s port and make it Austria’s most im-
portant sea port, where all cargo handling and stor
age activities were to be optimised to suit Austrian
needs. There were also plans for a warehouse com-
plex in a free port zone. The intention was to rent
these warehouses out to traders and merchants
who would store their goods without having to pay
customs.

The first row of 16 single-storey warehouses with
gable roofs was erected in this area as early as 1861.
In 1868, construction of the other facilities started:
First, a 3.2 km long quay with five piers was built,
complete with a breakwater. Further to the east,
a fairly large complex of 15 warehouses, transit
sheds and other functional buildings were built par-
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Fig. 144:. Trieste, historical plan of the Porto Vecchio with
warehouse district (left)



allel to the shoreline. There were three streets run-
ning parallel to the shore, plus a rail connection that
provided access to the facilities. Between 1881 and
1909, three rows of two to fourstorey warehouses
were erected. They were up to 150 m long, their
facades structured by lateral and central shallow ri-
salto projections. Between them, on the western
side of the streets, galleries supported by slender
cast-iron pillars were inserted. The facades of these
plastered brick buildings were lavishly structured
with multi-layer pilaster strips and cornices. Natural
stone elements were also used. Transport to and
from the warehouses was by crane trolleys which
could be moved along the roofs of the buildings.

In addition to the warehouses there were hangar-
like transit sheds, office buildings, a cafeteria, a
customs clearance building and a hydrodynamic
power station complete with a large supply net-
work. The size of the latter was pioneering work:
Through a network of buried pipes the station
powered the entire port and the cranes with a
pressurised water system. The network had a to-
tal length of nearly 7 km. Trieste and Hamburg
were among the first ports to be equipped with
such hydrodynamic power systems. The historic
warehouses were later replaced by modern ware-
houses.

The importance of the old port of Trieste has de-
clined since the beginning of the 1970s. South of
Porto Vecchio, new port infrastructure was built
and the future of the old port is now uncertain:
For more than forty years now, a controversy sur-
rounding the free port status of Porto Vecchio has
effectively prevented any new uses and the build-
ings of the warehouse and storage complex have
largely fallen into disuse, i.e. they are rapidly de-
caying. Of the two and three-storey warehouses,
twelve still exist. Of the four-storey warehouses,
only three have been preserved. Many of the
other historic buildings also still exist, but a large
number of them is in a dilapidated state that gives
rise to concern. Maintenance work has not been
carried out because of unclear competences and
responsibilities. It is feared that many of the his-
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toric buildings in this major warehouse complex
will decay beyond repair.

The 244 m long warehouse no. 26 with a floor
space of 9,000 m2 has recently been turned into
a ,lighthouse project” and is being restored at
great expense and in line with heritage protection
guidelines. The power station is also being re-
stored. It was inaugurated in 1890 and has been
preserved with all of its technical equipment.

Fig. 145: Trieste, Porto Vecchio, warehouse district,
undeveloped warehouse 7

Fig. 146: Trieste, Porto Vecchio, warehouse district,
warehouse 26 after the redevelopment, 2011
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» Genoa

When the port was transferred from Genoa to Vol-
tri, the historic centre of Genoa suffered a period of
neglect. It was not before the anniversary celebra-
tions (Columbiane) in 1992 of Columbus’ discovery
of America and Genoa’s nomination as European
Capital of Culture in 2004, that the waterfront of
the city experienced a renaissance. However, the
entire port and shore area close to the city centre
was restructured in the process.

Only four warehouse buildings from the 17th cen-
tury (Millo) have been preserved and converted for
new uses. They were part of the free port and were
only partially destroyed when the elevated city mo-
torway (Sopraelevata) was built. The fourstorey
cotton warehouses (Magazzini del Cotone) are ar
ranged parallel to the shoreline and form a 400 m
long line of buildings with a double gable. They of-
fer a total floor space of 70,000 m2. As of 1995,
the cotton warehouse has been converted for new
uses such as office space, a culture and event area
and a conference centre to designs by the architect
Ranzo Piano. Most of the facades were preserved,
but in the course of their conversion the ware-
houses were completely gutted and equipped with
a steel construction and cap roofs to allow for the
new uses. The original cantilevered balconies were

Fig. 147: Genoa, the conversed Cotton Warehouses
(Magazzini del Cotone), 2009

replaced by steel constructions. The warehouses
were connected to one another by steel bridges
belonging to the multi-storey car park behind the
historic buildings.

A few isolated warehouses have been preserved
near the Ponte Parodi. They have also been given
over to new uses. The two-gable three-storey ware-
house complex there now houses the Nautical and
Logistics Institute.

3.b.1.2.7 Croatia

» Rijeka (Fiume)

Until 1924, Rijeka was the most important port of
the Austro-Hungarian Empire. Some of the ware-
houses in the former free port complex have sur
vived. After 1867 Rijeka (Fiume) became the main
port for Hungarian wine exports via rail to Trieste
and Vienna. There were also rail connections to
Laibach/Ljubljana and Budapest. A new port, com-
plete with protection wall, quays and warehouses
was built in several stages: By WW [, 22 four-storey
warehouses with cantilevered balconies, with base-
ments covering part of the area, had been built. The
warehouses, with ceiling heights between 3.50 m
and 4.50 m, were erected as reinforced concrete
constructions.

More than 50% of the warehouses and a large
part of the port infrastructure were destroyed dur
ing WW II. Because of new requirements for cargo
handling and because buildings were either torn
down or converted for other uses, only a few iso-
lated warehouses remain in the formerly extensive
complex in Rijeka.

3.b.1.2.8 Spain

» Barcelona

The warehouses that used to exist in Port Vell and
along the Moll de Fusta in Barcelona have been

completely demolished in the course of restructur
ing and development programmes. One of the few



remaining warehouses is the Palau de Mar which
was built between 1881 and 1890. It is a fourstorey
brick complex with a design and floor spaces that
have only partially been altered. The warehouse
consists of two wings connected by a central en-
trance area. The building has three gables with a
flat roof on the water side and has been partially
gutted. The Museu d'Historia Catalunya (MCH) has
occupied this part of the building since 1996. The
ground floor houses restaurants on the water side
and offices. The roof terrace is used for restaurant
purposes. In the immediate vicinity, i.e. on Carrer
de da Reina Christina street, another ensemble has
been preserved: It consists of warehouses with
shops on the ground floor that have so far been
spared any transformations.

3.b.1.2.9 France

» Marseille

During the 19th century Marseille was one of the
largest European ports and the most important
French one. In the context of booming ports, a
complex of seven-storey warehouses was built in
La Joliette around 1860. It was called Les Docks
and was built to designs by the architect Gustave
Desplaces. The complex is 360 m long and is situ-
ated between two streets. Its brickwork has a light
colour. It consists of sixteen warehouses, the ga-
bles of which face the street, and four warehouses
positioned between them, the eaves of which face
the street. At the end of the row there is a direc-
tors’ building.

After WW 1I, the warehouses were no longer used
for the storage of goods and most of the complex
fell into disuse. Since 1991, the directors’ building
and the warehouses have in several stages been
converted for office and combined office and res-
taurant use in the context of the urban redevelop-
ment project Euroméditerranée. The warehouses,
which are arranged perpendicular to the waterfront,
have been supplemented by a number of smaller
two-storey storage buildings positioned parallel to
the shoreline. Thus, the original characteristics of
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the warehouse buildings have largely been lost, es-
pecially since none of the buildings is situated im-
mediately at the water’'s edge and because there is
a difference in ground level.

Of course, this list of preserved port warehouse
buildings in Europe could be continued. However,
with the exception of Trieste, there is no other ware-
house complex that could compare with Hamburg
in terms of size and with regard to the relatively
minor disturbances and interference suffered over
the course of history.

3.b.1.3 Asia

In Asia, no warehouses ensembles have been pre-
served that could compare with Hamburg's Speich-
erstadt. This can be explained by the dynamism and
speedy modernisation in Asian countries, but also
on the basis of the strong position of private inves-
tors in Asia and a different urban planning culture.
Other factors are the destructions caused in many
port cities by earthquakes and during WW 11, which
have meant that historic buildings were irretrievably
lost. In cities such as Shanghai and Ningbo, where
old warehouse buildings have been preserved, their
new tourist uses have completely undermined the
original purposes for which they were built. In some
cases, historic architecture has been reconstructed
in order to commemorate local maritime traditions.

3.b.1.3.1 India

» Mumbai (Bombay)

After the opening of the Suez Canal, Mumbai be-
came India's most important trading hub. It made
sense for the British colonies and bases to profit
from the port construction experience of the mother
country by designing quays and cargo handling facili-
ties in a compatible manner. The much smaller differ-
ence in tidal levels in the Indian Ocean meant that
tide locks were not required, but artificial docks were
created, for example, in Mumbai (Bombay): In the
course of land reclamation, the Victoria Dock (1888),
the Princess Dock (1875-1880) and the Alexandra
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Dock (1914) were built complete with warehouses. It
seemed appropriate to protect docks and warehous-
es from thieves with walls and fences. To this day,
they separate the port from the city of Mumbai. The
state-owned docks and warehouses were operated
and supervised by the Port Trust. However, there
were also private companies that erected docks and
warehouses, but no significant architectural testimo-
ny to this period has been preserved.

3.b.1.3.2 Japan

» Yokohama

Only few historic warehouses have survived in Ja-
pan. Between 1911 and 1913, warehouses mod-
elled on European ones were erected to designs by
the architect Yorinaka Tsumaki in the free port area
(Shinko Pier) of Yokohama. The corrugated fireproof
iron elements for their construction were supplied

e
Fig. 148: Sydney, modified Warehouses on the Walsh Bay, 2012

by Germany. The only buildings left are two three-
storey brick warehouses. They have been converted
for tourist uses.

3.b.1.4 Australia

» Sydney

There are no longer many historic warehouses in
Australia either. A few three-storey warehouses have
survived in ,The Rocks” below Sidney's Harbour
Bridge. Their gables face the street. They have been
converted for use by restaurants and shops.

There is a larger complex of preserved old quays and
warehouses in Walsh Bay. Between 1906 and 1920,
the Sydney Harbour Trust had five finger piers built
which rest on wooden piles up to 45 m long. They
are at right angles to the shoreline where a new ac-
cess road was built. On the piers there were ware-




houses so that vessels could dock on both sides and
be loaded and unloaded there. For 50 years, the fa-
cilities continued to fulfil even modern requirements
for speedy cargo handling for smaller and medium-
sized vessels.

However, they were not suitable for container han-
dling, so restructuring became imperative in the
second half of the 20th century. Fortunately, plans
to backfill the port basins between the piers were
prevented.

Because they were located near the city centre and
Darling Harbour, the piers soon became an ,,object
of desire” for developers. However, even greater
demand for the buildings came from cultural institu-
tions and initiatives which were able to use the area
for their purposes. After some intermediate usage
concepts, a master plan was implemented in 1985,
which provided for apartments, offices, hotels and
restaurants. Some of the warehouse buildings on
the piers were left relatively undisturbed while oth-
ers were significantly altered.

3.b.1.5 North America

» Boston

Fort Point Channel is a compact complex of buildings
and warehouses with a total expanse of 22.3 h. 87
purpose-built buildings were erected to the south of
Boston's centre (South Boston) between 1880 and
1930. From 1836 on, land was reclaimed in South
Boston for commercial and storage use. Develop-
ments were primarily propelled by the Boston Wharf
Company (BWCo). Summer Street was the heart of
the warehouse district, in the lofts of which cotton,
sugar and molasses were primarily stored. The cot-
ton warehouses on Summer Street were considered
the largest in the world. They were between four
and seven storeys high and very deep. Some brick
facades were lavishly designed while others were
plainer. There were few windows. The warehouses
were mostly equipped with elevators and had floor
spaces that could be used flexibly. The construc-
tion was fireproof or fire-resistant. Small companies
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started using those purpose-built buildings with a rail
connection for purposes other than storage, and this
type of use soon came to predominate, namely from
the turn of the 19th to the 20th century.

The cotton boom in New England ended after WW
[I. Many of the companies could no longer compete
and warehouses fell into disuse. Thanks to the listing
of a complex of uniformly structured warehouses on
Congress Street, Sleeper Street, Seaport Boulevard
and Stillings Street, these buildings were converted
to new uses and preserved in line with heritage
protection guidelines. It was the first time that non-
residential buildings were protected through their in-
scription on the National Register of Historic Places.
The initial mono-functional uses that followed were
later replaced by mixed uses. In a recent develop-
ment, the buildings close to the city centre have at-
tracted artists and people from the creative indus-
tries. The area has the feel of an island, situated as
it is between downtown Boston and the Seaport
District. The western part of the area is used as an
extensive car park.

The area described is the largest compact and co-
hesive complex of warehouse buildings in the US.
At the same time, this is the largest preserved ur
ban area in Boston with buildings from the late 19th
and early 20th century. The South Boston warehouse
district still cannot compare with Hamburg's Speich-
erstadt, though, because the area is far smaller than
that occupied by the latter.

» New York

Around the South Street Seaport at the southern
tip of Manhattan some warehouse buildings have
been preserved. The small South Street Seaport
Historic District with its listed buildings used to be
very important when it functioned as New York's
port centre. The three to five-storey warehouses
there, however, were not exclusively earmarked for
the storage of goods. Rather, mixed uses of shops,
offices, apartments and storage facilities on the up-
per storeys were the rule. The buildings were erect-
ed right next to the East River. They were made of
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brick or granite stones. The buildings gradually de-
cayed over time, but there were initial draft plans
for alternative uses in the 1950s. As a result of the
building of the Festival Market Places (Pier 17) and
pedestrianisation, the district close to Wall Street
has increased in value. It has, in fact, become a
tourist attraction.

St. Ann's Warehouse (Water Street) on the oppo-
site side of Brooklyn’s Seaport (this used to be an
independent city until 1898) was originally used as
a warehouse for spices and tobacco. Its spectacu-
lar location underneath the Brooklyn Bridge made
it particularly suitable for conversion into an event
centre. The former warehouse is part of DUMBO
(Down Under the Manhattan Bridge Overpass). The
other buildings in this densely built area were erect-
ed immediately before and after WW |. They were
designed for commercial companies, foundries and
sugar refineries which needed storage facilities close
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to the water’s edge on the East River. Later build-
ings which had up to 10 storeys, were reinforced
concrete structures. They are important testimony to
the industrial tradition of Brooklyn which until 1900
was one of most important industrial centres in the
US. St. Ann's Warehouse and the DUMBO area have
been listed, the latter being classified as the 90th
Historic District of New York. Comparisons between
this part of New York and Hamburg's large Speicher-
stadt, however, seem inappropriate.

3.b.1.6 South America

3.b.1.6.1 Argentina

» Buenos Aires

Puerto Madero in Buenos Aires used to be the

most important warehouse ensemble in the
Americas. Buenos Aires could not offer larger

Fig. 149: Buenos Aires, Puerto Madero, modified warehouses, 2012



ships any docking piers for loading and unloading
so that their cargo had to be handled while the
ships were lying in the roads. In 1882, the Argen-
tinian government approached the businessman
Eduardo Madero about the construction of a new
port project. Madero secured the services of a
British engineer, Sir John Hawkshaw, as chief en-
gineer for the project, who modelled his master
plan for the whole complex on the dock ports of
London and Liverpool. It was implemented be-
tween 1887 and 1897 The new port consisted of
four port basins complete with swivel-mounted
flood gates and four fourstorey warehouses on
both sides of each basin. The warehouses were
brick buildings with elevators and winch hoists on
the water side.

Only ten years after completion, this important
engineering feat was no longer used because
ships had become even bigger and could no long-
er be processed in Puerto Madero. This triggered
the construction of the Puerto Nuevo.

=

I 181

As early as 1925, ideas were aired as to how Puerto
Madero could be converted for alternative uses. After
1960, no more ships appeared in Puerto Madero and
the warehouses fell into disuse for many years. Even-
tually, in 1989, a development contractor acquired the
192 hectares and redeveloped large parts of the area
while maintaining the port basins. The warehouses
on the east side of the basins were replaced by new
buildings, but on the western side all of the four ware-
houses per port basin were preserved. They have
been converted and are now used as apartments, of-
fices, restaurants, a hotel, a shipping museum and by
the university. In the course of their conversion, the
old warehouses were fitted with modern technical in-
frastructure for modern uses. Also, permission was
given for an extra top storey. All in all, therefore, the
warehouses have a very different appearance from
their original condition.

The converted warehouses and the new buildings
have made Puerto Madero a very attractive and ex-
pensive residential part of Buenos Aires. Because it
is centrally located between the adjoining city cen-

Fig. 150: Buenos Aires, Puerto Madero, 2012
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tre and financial district to the west and the nature
conservation area to the east, Puerto Madero has
attracted many new high-rise residential and office
buildings which have completely changed the char
acter of this port area. Puerto Madero has become
an interesting and attractive district in the vicinity of
the port, but has been changed so significantly that
it can hardly aspire to more than providing a maritime
backdrop and, even at that, it is much changed from
its historic condition. This is in marked contrast with
Hamburg's Speicherstadt.

3.b.1.6.2 Brazil

» Rio de Janeiro

Along the Vved. Perimetral in the Guanabara Bight/
Bay of Rio de Janeiro, several warehouse buildings
from different periods have been preserved. The
most integral and largest complex was erected on
reclaimed land which formed a straight quay line. It
consisted of a total of 13 buildings. Each three ware-
houses were built directly adjacent to one another.
They were positioned parallel to the shoreline and
had one-and-a-half storeys and rail connections. Over
time, port-related uses were shifted to other areas
so that most of the buildings are now empty. Many
have decayed. Only one complex has been restored
as an event and exhibition location.

Until recently, the elevated city motorway cut
through the area and made access to the warehous-
es on the water front difficult. But in connection with
the 2012 FIFA World Cup and the Olympic Games
to be held in Rio de Janeiro in 2016, the motorway
is going to be buried in a tunnel, at least partly. This
measure is part of a major conversion and redevel-
opment project with the name Maravilha (,,Marvel-
lous City"”), which aims to completely redevelop the
port and commercial area near the city centre and
turn it into a modern district for living and the service
industries. The warehouses and storage facilities on
the Mauéa pier (1910) have in the meantime been
torn down. The Museum of the Future is going to
be erected at this location. The city centre will again
be connected with the waterfront by redesigning the

pier. There will also be a new pier with a cruise ter
minal. The area to be redeveloped is characterised by
small commerce, storage facilities and substandard
housing (favelas). How the upgrading process will af-
fect the older warehouses, is as yet unknown, as is
the number of those that will be preserved.

3.b.1.7 Conclusion

As has been demonstrated, the port cities of the
world can only boast of few warehouses and rather
small, isolated warehouse ensembles. Unlike Ham-
burg, those that have been preserved do not offer
much documentary value for the history of maritime
warehouse complexes built in the late 19th and early
20th centuries.

The only exception is the warehouse complex in Tri-
este, erected between 1881 and 1909. It was built al-
most simultaneously with Hamburg's Speicherstadt,
has a comparable size and was situated in a free port
zone. However, there are also significant differences:
Firstly, the structures of the two warehouse com-
plexes are fundamentally different. In Trieste, ships
unloaded their cargo onto the piers where some
goods where temporarily stored in transit sheds,
then to be transported on by road or rail. Delivery to
the sheds was also by road. In Hamburg, by contrast,
delivery to the warehouses was by road, rail or wa-
terway. Hamburg's Speicherstadt is equipped with
a system of canals which were navigated by barges
transporting goods to the warehouses. Quite apart
from the functional differences, this results in the
overall appearance of the two warehouse ensem-
bles being very different. Hamburg's Speicherstadt
derives much of its appeal from the well-designed
composition of its red brick buildings with neo-Goth-
ic architectural forms, the street spaces, waterways
and bridges. Together, these elements create the
unigue image of a ,,city of warehouses”

Although the warehouse ensemble in Trieste is lo-
cated immediately next to the city centre, it is giv-
en hardly any prominence because it is segregated
from the city by walls. In fact, it can only be seen
from those piers that are a little further away from



it. By contrast, Hamburg's Speicherstadt, with its
prestigious design and its purposely chosen loca-
tion directly opposite the old town, from which it is
separated only by the Customs Canal, can unfold
its full potential.

Despite considerable destruction caused during
WW I, large parts of the historic fabric and con-
structive set-up of the buildings have been saved.
The unique image of Hamburg’s Speicherstadt has
been preserved through careful and faithful recon-
struction, informed and guided by the historic situ-
ation. The warehouse buildings in Trieste, some of
which are in a dilapidated state giving rise to grave
concerns, cannot be rehabilitated because of un-
resolved competence and responsibility issues.
This may well mean that the warehouses will con-
tinue to decay. By contrast, Hamburg's Speicher
stadt buildings are being well looked after by their
owners, who have shown great continuity in their
preservation efforts. Also, in Hamburg, both, a De-
velopment Concept, agreed upon by the various
authorities, and a Management Plan, have been
put in place that will secure a future for Hamburg's
Speicherstadt in order that its universal value be
preserved for posterity.

3.b.2 The Kontorhaus district — an
international comparison

In their more advanced stages, city formation pro-
cesses have led to the creation of mono-functional
office districts within the central business pre-
cincts characterised by the service sector. They
are often found in the very heart of cities where
private and public administration and the financial
sector have their offices. Even today, there are only
relatively few metropolises that reach this develop-
mental stage. When the Kontorhaus district, more
particularly its core zone consisting of Chilehaus,
Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and Mohlenhof, was
built, there were only a handful of other compa-
rable office districts worldwide. Most cities had
central business districts with mixed office, vari-
ous other service functions and residential uses.
At the time, mono-functional office districts were
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only found in Hamburg, Chicago and New York,
while even London was still characterised by
mixed uses and urban functions including living.

The special situation in Hamburg contributed to the
early construction of the Kontorhaus district. It is
unusually homogeneous, of considerable size and
contains architecturally and artistically important in-
dividual buildings. Particularly in the core zone of
the Kontorhaus district, buildings were adapted so
as to match optimally, resulting in an urban district
of high quality. This is clearly one of the contribut-
ing factors ensuring that the Kontorhaus district has
been preserved together with its authentic shapes
and its overall visual appeal. Together with Ham-
burg’s Speicherstadt, the Kontorhaus district is ca-
pable of illustrating early city formation and the de-
velopment of mono-functional districts like no other
complex in the world.

The following text compares metropolises the
world over under the specific aspect of city cen-
tre formation combined with the increase in office
building construction during the first decades of the
20th century. The examples described will serve to
put the Kontorhaus district, with its core zone con-
sisting of Chilehaus, Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and
Mohlenhof, in an international context.

3.b.2.1 Europe

3.b.2.1.1  Germany

» Berlin

After it became the capital of the German Empire
in 1871, Berlin's economy grew. A few relatively
small and isolated areas of the city developed into
districts with a high concentration of service indus-
tries, e.g. Unter den Linden, Leipziger Strasse and
the northern part of Friedrichstrasse. It was partic-
ularly the retail trade that was attracted to these
areas. The department store architecture based on
skeleton constructions that evolved in Berlin set
new standards, as evidenced by the Warenhaus
Wertheim (1896/97), built to designs by Alfred
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Messel. However, on the properties between these
commercial buildings, e.g. on Behrenstrasse and
Mohrenstrasse, which particularly attracted banks
and insurance companies, residential buildings con-
tinued to constitute a relatively large proportion.

During the period in question, office buildings played
virtually no role in Berlin, neither in quantitative nor
in qualitative terms. Numerous apartments in the
new city districts were misused as offices, but re-
converted after 1918. It was not before the second
half of the 1920s that more office buildings were
also built in Berlin, but even then there were rela-
tively few new buildings. They were mostly used for
administration purposes rather than being viewed
as objects of speculation. The iron skeleton office
buildings erected during those years had up to elev-
en storeys and varied considerably in style: There
were expressionist designs, such as the one by Max
Taut for the administration building (1922/3) of the
Association of German Trade Unions (Allgemeiner
Deutscher GewerkschaftsBund; ADGB), and early
examples of New Objectivity such as the German
Book Printers’ Association House (Verbandshaus
der Deutschen Buchdrucker; 1924/25), also built by
Taut.

Private project developers tended to prefer locations
outside the city centre. They used the premises of
industrial companies that had left and erected pres-
tigious administrative headquarters on their behalf.
Cases in point are the Ullsteinhaus, built to designs
by Eugen Schmohl (1926-27), and the Borsigturm
(1927) by the same architect. Both buildings are in-
debted to a reduced version of brick expressionism
with Gothic overtones. They are reminiscent of and
were probably modelled on buildings in Hamburg.
In Berlin, a rigid and rather conservative verticalism
continued to be influential in the office building ar
chitecture (the Lenz-Haus, built to designs by Hein-
rich Straumer in 1928 is a good example). In fact,
this trend imposed itself even more at the begin-
ning of the 1930s when at last a larger number of
new office buildings were erected. Three of these
buildings with strongly emphasised sober grid struc-
tures were the Columbus-Haus, built to designs by

Erich Mendelsohn in 1931/32 (later destroyed), the
Alexander-Haus and the Berolina-Haus (both built in
1930/31) to designs by Peter Behrens.

There has never been a mono-functional office en-
semble within Berlin's central business district. Dur
ing the 1920s and 1930s, Berlin's office buildings
continued to be spread over a wider area. While it is
a fact that Berlin's street network underwent major
restructuring during the 1860s and that there was a
trend towards city formation with the concomitant
tertiarization, these tendencies mostly concerned
a number of sub-centres. The share of residential
uses remained quite high in most districts, the
boundaries of which were quite blurred. These sub-
centres and their density can still be experienced,
but they come across as being dominated by retail
trade. However, large parts of these areas were ei-
ther destroyed during the war or extensively altered
so that they cannot testify to the process of city for
mation during the late 19th and early 20th centuries.
Many of the high quality office buildings in Berlin no
longer exist, so that the office architecture of the
1920s and 1930s can only be documented on the
basis of a few isolated examples spread throughout
the city.

3.b.2.1.2 Great Britain

» London

London is the earliest example of a metropolis in
which the city centre started developing segregated
functions. City formation started as early as the 18th
century: North of the Thames, the oldest borough,
the , City of London’ evolved into the banking and
insurance district. Government, lobby organisations
and the press converged on the ,City of Westmin-
ster” to the west. Other city centre functions re-
sulting from increasing specialisation came to form
clusters in other parts of London. From the middle of
the 19th century, propelled by technical progress in
public transport (in 1863, London was the first city to
have underground trains), living and working became
more segregated. This resulted in a dramatic migra-
tion of large parts of the population to the suburbs.
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Fig. 1561: London, view over the City of London from the West

Fig. 152: London, Kingsway, 2003

Much in line with contemporary trends, London also
saw new streets being built, which cut through the
city, simultaneously serving the purpose of remov-
ing traffic bottlenecks and rehabilitating slums. The
most important of these government projects were
Kingsway and Aldwych in the eastern part of West-
minster which were completed in 1905. The narrow
block perimeter construction in this area was left
to market forces and dragged on until 1935. From
1920 on, the time when tertiarization seriously set
in, a considerable number of new office buildings

Fig. 153: London, Adelaide House, 2010

were built. However, unlike in Hamburg, mono-
functional office districts did not develop either
here or elsewhere in London. On Kingsway and Ald-
wych, not only office blocks were erected, but also
public buildings, a hotel and several privately oper
ated theatres. Other parts of the city centre domi-
nated by service industries also saw the construc-
tion of office buildings, but they were not massed
in clusters. More often than not, they were inserted
between existing buildings.
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Even after WW |, London office architecture re-
mained largely Edwardian in style, in terms of both
its technical execution and its artistic and structural
design. A case in point is the head office of Midland
Bank, built in 1924-39 to designs by Edwyn Lutyens
(together with Gotch & Saunders). Simultaneously,
continental European architectural styles from the
pre-war period continued to exert a dominating in-
fluence. The Westmorland House, built to designs
by Burnett & Tait (1920-25), testifies to this: It has
a skeleton facade, but with its conservative, neo-
classicist structures also imitates solid masonry
construction (methods). It also betrays Vienna
Secession influences. During the 1920s, some
Art Deco-style office buildings were erected, one
example being the Ideal House built to designs
by Raymond Hood and Gordon Jeeves (1928-29),
the polished black granite facades of which were
decorated with gilded ornaments. There is only one
building that can be compared to the progressive
Kontorhaus architecture of Hamburg at the time:
The Adelaide House. It resembles some of Ham-
burg's office buildings in that it has punctuated skel-
eton facades structured by series of pillars. How-
ever, its relatively sober design was undermined by
the monumental forms and elements reminiscent
of Egyptian style. The edges of the Adelaide House,
its portal and the main ledge were adorned with
such elements.

Like in Hamburg, the building code in London pro-
hibited skyscrapers, so that even buildings erected
after WW | were of moderate height, namely one
hundred feet, with a maximum of approximately
ten storeys. As a result, high-rise buildings hardly
had an effect on the urban landscape as a whole.
On Kingsway and Aldwych, any strong effect was
also prevented by the requirement that facades be
given a facing of light-coloured Portland limestone,
which was traditionally prescribed in London and
which led to a certain uniformity.

Today, some eastern parts of the City of London
have been significantly altered by modern skyscrap-
ers. Architecturally, they can hardly testify to the
process of historical city formation. However, other

parts have been well preserved and reflect the rich
urban history of the City of London and its organic
growth over time. This includes commercial build-
ings from the 19th and 20th centuries, more par
ticularly Kingsway and Aldwych. However, no part
of the City of London has as high a concentration
of mono-functional office buildings from the early
period of city formation up to WW Il as does Ham-
burg’s Kontorhaus district.

3.b.2.1.3 Spain

» Madrid

Madrid has been Spain’s main royal capital since
the 16th century and has grown steadily to be-
come a metropolis and the economic centre of
the country. The highest concentration of new
buildings from the early decades of the 20th cen-
tury can be found on Gran Via, a wide diagonal
street in the northern part of the old town, which
cut through the existing townscape when it was
built in several stages between 1910 and 1927 It
was flanked by closed blocks. Ever since it was
built, it has been Madrid's central business dis-
trict. However, it was never as mono-functional in
nature as Hamburg's Kontorhaus district, as there
has always been a mix of retail trade outlets, en-
tertainment, office space and even residential
buildings on this main thoroughfare. Banks were
concentrated in another part of town.

In Madrid, market forces determined how build-
ings were designed which resulted in a great
variety of facades: To begin with, but also later,
buildings were modelled on French Beaux Art ex-
amples, e.g. the Casa Matesanz built to designs
by Antonio Ramilio Palacios (1919-23), who com-
bined skeleton facades with bay windows and
historicising motifs such as grand pilasters. From
the mid-1920s on, however, the preference was
increasingly for American looking, sober skyscrap-
ers. An early, but very characteristic example of
these gratecels is the Edificio Telefénica, built
to designs by Ignacio Cardenas (1926-29). It has
clearly structured punctuated facades, crowned



by a turret with baroque ornaments. At 89m, for a
time it was Europe’s highest office building. During
the 1930s, there was a tendency to execute rather
purist modern office building designs, e.g. the Edi-
ficio Coliseum, built to designs by Pedro Muguruza
Otano (1931-33). There was an almost complete
renunciation of decorative elements. The resulting
rigidly structured vertical facades are reminiscent
of the ,stripped style” of contemporary American
high-rise buildings.

Nearly all of the buildings on this street have been
preserved, and the complex reaches dimensions
that are comparable with Hamburg's Kontorhaus
district during those years. However, that is where
the commonalities end: There are no similarities
between this part of Madrid and Hamburg's Kon-
torhaus district when it comes to the architecture of
individual buildings, urban development concepts
or the mono-functional use of buildings.

3.b.2.2 North America

3.b.2.2.1 USA

» Chicago

In Chicago, as a result of the massive upgrading
of transport infrastructure (railway and steamers),
city formation started before the middle of the 19th
century. Trade and industrial production volumes in
the city increased rapidly, which led to the forma-
tion of clusters of functionally similar buildings. As
early as 1870, the street network was characterised
by a regular grid pattern and a district dominated
by service industries had formed, starting out from
the old settlement core and extending further and
further to the south. In the process, the residen-
tial population was driven away from these parts of
Chicago. After a major fire in the area in 1871, like in
Hamburg, the trend towards segregation increased
in pace. There was only limited space available on
the narrow rectangular peninsula between the Chi-
cago River and Lake Michigan. Concentration had
led to a rise in property prices, which in turn meant
that companies requiring large areas left. A similar
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development occurred in Berlin at the time. Only
those companies and businesses remained in the
area for whom it was important to be centrally lo-
cated, i.e. those sectors of industry that exclusively
needed office space: the financial sector and both
public and private administration.

There were two main reasons behind the demand
for ever higher buildings with more and more floor
area, preferably capable of being subdivided flex-
ibly: The wish to be close to business partners and
the speculation-related rise in property prices. This,
combined with the advent of iron skeleton construc-
tions and other technological innovations such as
elevators and the telephone, led to the , invention”
of skyscrapers, e.g. the Home Insurance Building
built to designs by William Le Baron Jenney. More
and more high-rise buildings amassed in ,The Loop’,
i.e. the part of the city centre encircled by the ring-
shaped above ground railway system completed in
1897 The achievement of having coped with these
new enormous design challenges and proportions
brought about the trend-setting ,,Chicago School”
also called ,Commercial Style”

However, Chicago lost its trend-setter role for ar
chitecture during the 1920s, although many of the
designs of that period showed clear signs of artis-
tic independence. Sober skeleton facades were
clad in richly varied ,Gothic Revival” shapes and
forms, e.g. in the Tribune Tower built to designs by
Raymond M. Hood and John Mead Howells (1923-
1925). In this building, a change is perceptible away
from the facade zones with additive layering, typical
of earlier Chicago skyscrapers, towards more organ-
ic and clear vertical structures. However, the new
facades themselves were quite unaffected by the
trend towards sober designs that was beginning to
set in. They only lost large parts of their decorative
elements. A good example of this , Stripped Style”
is the Field Building, built to designs by Graham,
Anderson, Probst & White (1931-1934). The epoch-
making high-rise building erected to designs by
Baron Jenneys in 1884 had to make room for the
Field Building.
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Fig. 154: Chicago, aerial view of its CBD ,The Loop”

To begin with, there was no need to change the
street infrastructure to allow Chicago’s city centre
to develop into a functioning office and business

Fig. 155: Chicago, Tribune Tower (at centre with Wrigley
Building at left)

district. From the 1920s on, however, the streets
were upgraded to cope with increasing car traf-
fic. This was also the time when existing high-rise
buildings had to make room for even higher new
ones, which reached heights of up to 264 ft., not
counting towers. In other words, at the end of the
19th century, Chicago’s city centre experienced a
complete transformation from a largely residential
area into an almost exclusive business district: The
share of apartments for living is negligible now. This
change happened in a very short time span.

Still today, the inner core of Chicago is mainly char
acterised by ,the Loop” and its commercial and of-
fice buildings. However, it is difficult to trace early
city formation processes on the basis of the re-
maining buildings from that period, as continuous
changes have led to the frequent replacement of
historic buildings by newer ones. Even though a
considerable number of the older ones have sur
vived, they represent only singular relics within a
townscape that is dominated by more recent high-
rise buildings.
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Fig. 156: New York, southward view from Midtown Manhattan towards Downtown Manhattan, 2007

» New York

The south part of Manhattan is New York's nucle-
us. With its urban canyons arranged along a rigid
street grid it is the archetype of centrally located
mono-functional business districts. Early on and
with great effect, Chicago’s skyscraper office
buildings were copied and adapted to the special
environment in Manhattan.

Leaving behind its colonial past, New York's old mul-
tifunctional central trading districts started becoming
mono-functional. Its residential core experienced in-
creasing tertiarization. During the second half of the
19th century, some sectors of industry started form-
ing clusters, and there was an increasing functional
segregation of districts. The geographical concentra-
tion of certain businesses, such as financial inves-
tors, insurance companies, brokers, merchants and
forwarding companies, which depended on the for
mer, was rather spontaneous and largely the product
of market forces. All of these industries experienced
rapid growth in the context of growing world trade.
The free play of market forces also determined the
response of real estate speculators: They created

the office space needed in Manhattan's two sub-
centres, Downtown and Midtown. As a result, land
prices rose. This, in turn, drove out the few people
who still lived there, but who, on account of the im-
proved public transport system, now found it easier
to commute. Another consequence was that entire
street blocks were now developed by building only
one large edifice each on them. A similar develop-
ment occurred in Hamburg, if later.

There were hardly any limits to Manhattan's
vertical growth once skyscrapers had been in-
troduced. In fact, a competition for natural light
and air set in. During the 1920s, Hamburg saw
the erection of the Kontorhaus district, at a time
when, in New York, the formal architectural evolu-
tion of office buildings with iron skeletons, flex-
ible floor plans and modern means of ascent had
nearly reached culmination. In New York, during
the building boom of those years, the fight was
on for sheer height and for tenants: Office space
was supposed to be individualist in character
and bright! While there were individual draft de-
signs of great artistic value which are much bet-
ter known than the iconic buildings of Hamburg's
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Kontorhaus district, it must be said that a large
number of the buildings erected in New York dur-
ing this period were either stylistically influenced
by the old Beaux Art forms and shapes or by the
new and topical Gothic Revival. A case in point
is the New York Life Insurance Building built to
designs by Cass Gilbert (1926-1928). It was not
before the end of the 1920s that Art Deco deco-
rative elements appeared on some otherwise
unchanged facades (cf. Chicago). This was the
case in the landmark Chrysler Building built to de-
signs by William Van Alen (1928-1930). On other
facades, there were hardly any decorative ele-
ments, particularly after the trend towards sober
designs had set in from 1930 onwards.

In New York, the first instances of coordinated
planning for several building complexes at a time,
the approach chosen in Hamburg when conceiv-
ing of the core of the Kontorhaus district, oc-
curred in connection with the Rockefeller Center
built to designs by Raymond Hood (1931-1940).
It is built in the undecorated and sober , Stripped
Style’, but was designed for mixed office and en-
tertainment infrastructure use.

As land owners failed to take an active role, urban
development measures were limited to the wid-
ening of streets and the amplification of the origi-
nal rectangular street grid. No new streets were
built that would have cut through the existing ur-
ban fabric, nor were any other major measures
taken, so that the network of streets could never
really testify to the processes of city formation.

Manhattan’s old high-rise buildings can no longer
be experienced in their integrity in the historic
parts of the city, as many of them, over the dec-
ades, have had to make room for new buildings.
Some of the historic designs, such as the Em-
pire State Building, have acquired world fame.
The city formation processes that occurred in
New York during the 19th and 20th centuries can
therefore no longer be traced on the basis of an
integral historic urban fabric.

3.b.2.3 South America

3.b.2.3.1 Argentina

» Buenos Aires

Against the backdrop of growing globalisation,
Buenos Aires also developed a very heterogene-
ous central business district during the 19th cen-
tury: San Nicolas. This development started out
from the old core settlement of the colonial town.
In terms of their function, buildings for office use
were built there from 1910 onwards at the latest.
The San Nicolas business district extends from
the docks and the top administration buildings all
the way to the Avenida de 9 Julio, approximately
one kilometre inland from the shore. The Aveni-
da is the world’s widest street. It was started in
1935 and cuts right through San Nicolés.

The district is structured by a street grid modelled
on the new diagonal axes and streets cutting
across the existing urban fabric in Paris during
the 19th century, more particularly the Hausmann
period. The closed blocks of this Buenos Aires
district also took their inspiration from French ex-
amples. Draft designs for the first high-rise office
buildings in the 1920s also followed the European
example, e.g. the Palacio Barolo built to designs
by Mario Palanti (1919-1923), who vacillated be-
tween Art Nouveau and Art Deco. The decoration
of the crowning members was inspired by late
Spanish baroque style.

South America experienced a high-rise building
boom during the 1930s which produced the Edi-
ficio Comega built to designs by Enrique Douillet
and Alfredo Joselevich (1931-1934) and the Edifi-
cio SAFICO by Walter Moll (1932-1934), buildings
with subdued and sober designs that were almost
unparalleled, even internationally. Buenos Aires’
high-rise buildings occupy smallish floor plans at
the edges of blocks which are arranged in accord-
ance with the rectangular street grid. The small-
scale blocks are characterised by mixed uses and
there has been no overarching urban planning to



coordinate them. Their spatial distribution is rath-
er haphazard.

The centre has an expanse of approximately
three square kilometres and is situated north of
the Plaza de Mayo. Today, the streets there are
characterised by the high-rise buildings of recent
decades which have mostly replaced older build-
ings. The result is an architectural conglomerate
of buildings from diverse periods which, however,
can hardly teach us anything about early city for-
mation. Compared to the aforementioned cities,
city formation in Buenos Aires was never very
strong, as people continued to live in the respec-
tive districts.

3.b.2.3.2 Brazil

» Sao Paulo

Sao Paulo is not situated on the shore line, but some
distance away from it inland. Consequently, the old
settlement core is not clearly delimitated topograph-
ically, and when the business district ,, Sé” started
taking shape in the oldest and most central part of
the city, it developed no clearcut segregation of func-
tions. Business growth in Sao Paulo was connected
mainly with the rising importance of sugar cane and
coffee exports, but the Sé district featured and still
features a mix of retail and office uses. During the
building boom of the 1920s, numerous office build-
ings, some of them high-rise, were erected right in
the middle of residential areas featuring small-scale
buildings. Business and apartment houses were
built in each other’s immediate vicinity.

During the 1920s, in Sao Paulo, like in Buenos Aires,
facade decorations of office buildings took much of
their inspiration from the Hausmann period, e.g. in
the Edificio Martinelli built to designs by William Fill-
inger (1924-1929), the floor plan of which, however,
was more oriented towards the comb-shaped floor
plan of American office buildings. From the 1930s on
there was a clear Americanisation of design in Sao
Paulo. Buildings like the Edificio Banco de Sao Paulo
built to designs by Alvaro Botelho (1938) took their
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inspiration from Art Deco or, in other cases, their
design was more sober, such as the Edificio Altino
Arantes built to designs by Plinio Botelho do Amara
and Camargo & Mesquita (1939-1947).

Only a small proportion of the office buildings erected
to the northeast of Sao Paulo’s Central Bus Terminal
in this period has been preserved. Those office build-
ings that remain are not very relevant and expres-
sive when it comes to tracing historical city forma-
tion processes, particularly as there never has been
a mono-functional business district in Sao Paulo.

3.b.2.4 Asia

3.b.2.4.1 China

» Shanghai

With their history as former western commercial
settlements, Shanghai and Hong Kong came to con-
stitute the most important economic centres oper
ated by western capital in Asia. Consequently, west-
ern developmental trends such as city formation
also exerted a certain amount of influence there, but
were only marginally able to gain a foothold. Since
the middle of the 19th century, a typical western
trade enclave developed outside the historic city
walls of Shanghai, more precisely along a section
of the Huangpu River bank that was called , Bund"”
The three-storey buildings were later acquired by
the financial sector and the hotel industry. The strip
of land on the river bank thus turned into an almost
mono-functional business district. Like Hamburg's
Kontorhaus district, it still serves this function today.
However, this part of Shanghai is far less homogene-
ous than the Kontorhaus district. The new owners
commissioned the services of western architects,
who planned and designed very impressive rows
of new office buildings, primarily during the 1920s
and 1930s. As there were no planning regulations
nor requirements in terms of urban development
and construction, the result was a colourful mix of
prestigious western style buildings not dissimilar to
those in South American cities and numerous other
cities elsewhere.
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Fig. 1567: Shanghai, “The Bund” on Huangpu River, 2005

To begin with, in Shanghai, too, the Beaux Arts style
dominated the scene with the exception of banks
which leaned more towards neo-Classicist designs.
The Yangtze Insurance Building built to designs by
Palmer &Turner (1920) and the Yokohama Specie
Building (1920) by the same architects are cases in
point. In those cases where the draft designs depart-
ed from the general patterns, they ventured out into
a variety of Modernist trends reminiscent of German
architectural examples. With its uniformly designed
skeleton facades characterised by alternating groups
of axes with three windows each and smooth fa-
cade sections, the Sassoon House built to designs
by Palmer & Turner (1926-1929), for example, is remi-
niscent of the Borsigturm built to designs by Eugen
Schmohl in Berlin (1922). Outside the ,Bund” of
Shanghai, the Christian Literature Society and the
China Baptist Publication Society Buildings by Laszlo

A B

Fig. 158: Shanghai, Sassoon House (left, today “Peace
Hotel") and Bank of China Building (Design:
Tsuyee Pei, 1934), 2002

Hudec (all 1930-32) suggest influences of the Chile-
haus. The two office buildings mentioned are almost
identical reinforced concrete constructions. Unusu-
ally for Shanghai, the skeleton facades of both build-
ings were given red clinker facings. Their pillar fronts
feature pointed edges.

Lack of space and the political environment did
not allow for a great number of high-rise buildings
in Shanghai at the time, and the latter attracted lit-
tle attention at the level of urban development. The
complex of mono-functional office buildings along
the narrow shoreline has miraculously survived to
a large extent. However, behind it, there is a small-

Fig. 159: The Yokohama Specie Building, 2012



scale old town structure, above which tower the re-
cently erected skyscrapers, scattered liberally over
Shanghai. Their skyline provides an interesting con-
trast to the historic shoreline view with its row of
office buildings.

3.b.2.5 Australia

» Sydney

Like in most other former colonial trading towns,
today's central business district of Sydney has
evolved out of early settlements near the port, i.e.
Darling Harbour. City formation in Sydney started
as early as the 19th century, if not on the same
scale as in New York, Chicago, London or Hamburg.
The district is bounded by water on three sides
and has kept its original street grid. Although the
area has clearly defined topographical boundaries,
no such thing as a mono-functional office district
has formed. Rather, Darling Harbour is a business
district characterised by mixed uses including some
smallish office building complexes. The area contin-
ues to be quite densely inhabited.

Stylistically speaking, the buildings erected during
the 1920s and before can be categorised as very
conservative. From 1916 on, they were iron skel-
eton constructions and showed the clear influence
of American Beaux-Arts-facades. A case in point is
the State Savings Building built to designs by Ross
& Rowe between 1925 and 1928, a skeleton con-
struction, the facade of which imitates massive
masonry: It was given a facing reminiscent of the
New York Stock Exchange (1903). The ,Commercial
Palazzos"” so typical of Sydney, feature conserva-
tive vertical structures: These buildings are approxi-
mately twelve storeys high, but often only have the
width of a few window axes. Their facades were
given facings using classical forms and shapes,
which very much remind the observer of the very
small American high-rise buildings from before WW
|. The Mercantile Mutual Building built to designs by
Robertson & Marks (1927-1928) is a good example.
Office buildings with relatively modern skeleton fa-
cades did not appear before approximately 1930:
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Their vertical ribs lend the facades a pronounced
vertical structure. The neo-Gothic decorative details
are also a clear reference to American examples of
the , Gothic revival} e.g. the Sun Building built to
designs by J.A. Kethel (1929). Office architecture
in Sydney has developed in a pluralistic way ever
since: Many buildings such as the City Mutual Life
Building built to designs by Emis Sodersten (1934-
1936) were designed in the Art-Deco-style. The Bry-
ant House (1939), although designed by the same
architect, distinguishes itself by its clinker facade
and the triangular bays with filigree lattice windows,
details which suggest that it was modelled on Ger
man buildings. The Feltex House built to designs by
Adam, Wright & Apperley (1939) marks the advent
of Modernism in Sydney. It has overtones of Erich
Mendelsohn.

Most of Sydney’s historic buildings have been de-
stroyed or replaced by new high-rise buildings or
skyscrapers, so that it is no longer possible to trace
city formation processes in this city.

3.b.2.6 Conclusion

The examples selected illustrate the high rank that
Hamburg's Kontorhaus district, with its core con-
sisting of Chilehaus, Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and
Mohlenhof, can claim among other comparable in-
ternational examples of office districts. When the
four complexes were built in Hamburg during the
1920s, most of the office architecture around the
world was still dominated by the Beaux-Art-style
and other historicising forms, i.e. by developments
that had their roots in the 19th century. It was an
integral element of these retrospective approaches
to try and design even skeleton constructions in
ways which were suggestive of massive masonry
or at least to upgrade skeleton facades by adding
punctuated facade motifs such as grand pilasters,
ledges, friezes or rustications. Before 1930, clear-
ly designed skeleton facades were the exception
outside Germany. The same was true of exclusively
purist design solutions, as displayed by the Mess-
berghof and the Mohlenhof.
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Aninternational comparison between the Kontorhaus
district and its contemporaries clearly underlines the
fact that the Kontorhaus district, with its core con-
sisting of Chilehaus, Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and
Mohlenhof, is much more than just a regional variety
of Modernism, with mostly expressionist clinker fa-
cades as their common denominator. Rather, these
buildings have not only provided new benchmarks
for architecture during the Weimar Republic, but
were also unique even in the international sphere at
the time. What is particularly striking is the consist-
ent synthesis of functional, constructive and design
aspects achieved in the Kontorhaus district. Both the
Sprinkenhof and the Mohlenhof are vastly superior
to the general level of contemporary architecture.
The Chilehaus and Messberghof, nearly unparalleled
the world over, can truly be considered cradles of the
modern architecture that started developing at the
beginning of the 1920s.

A statement like this may come as something of a
surprise to observers, who to this day are used to
viewing the , International Style” as the culmination
of architectural developments during the 20th cen-
tury. At least in Germany, however, a reassessment
of conventional views is currently underway, which
frequently focuses, among other things, on Modern-
ism in Hamburg. The criticism levelled is that the key
role played by expressionism in the early 1920s, i.e.
at a time when modern architecture started to articu-
late itself, has often been underrated. Expressionism
was a phenomenon that even architects like Walter
Gropius, the Taut brothers and Hans Scharoun were
fascinated by for a number of years. When it was
founded in 1919, the Bauhaus was also heavily in-
fluenced by it. Wolfgang Pehnt, an internationally
renowned expert of expressionist architecture who
was among the first to challenge the cliché of the
genesis of purist Modernism allegedly never having
met any opposition, says: ,In some ways expres-
sionism was a school of modern architecture which
elaborated its own basic terminology.”

Looking at the totality of cities which went through
processes of city formation and in which there were
significant waves of building activity between 1920

and 1930, Hamburg's Kontorhaus district, with its
core consisting of Chilehaus, Messberghof, Sprinken-
hof and Mohlenhof, excels because of the unique
qualities that it combines, namely its high standards,
which are respected and appreciated worldwide, the
modernity of its architectural designs, the unparal-
leled and highly developed urban development con-
cepts that led to its creation, its homogeneity, its
high degree of mono-functionality, which at the time
had not progressed this far virtually anywhere else
and, finally, its state of preservation as a uniguely
cohesive and integral ensemble.

3.b.3  Summary of the international
comparison of Hamburg’s
Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus
district

In summary, it can be said that the two directly
neighbouring mono-functional and mutually com-
plementary ensembles of the Speicherstadt and
the Kontorhaus district, particularly as regards the
latter's core consisting of Chilehaus, Messberghof,
Sprinkenhof and Mohlenhof, constitute unique ex
amples, also at the international level, of maritime
warehouse complexes on the one hand and modern
office buildings from the 1920s and 1930s on the
other. The buildings making up the two districts are
expressions of highly consistent concepts. They are
characterised by a high quality of construction and
functional design, properties which are clad in histor
icism and Modernism respectively. In terms of their
urban planning and architectural design, the two
ensembles constitute an amalgamation of the spe-
cific requirements imposed upon the construction,
technical equipment and functionally appropriate lay-
out of warehouses and office buildings respectively,
thus creating a synthesis of unusually high quality
with a striking visual character. This is expressed in
the description of the warehousing complex as a
“City of Warehouses” and in the metaphor of the
“bowpeak” in the case of the Chilehaus, with its
ship-like appearance.
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3.c Proposed statement of outstanding universal value

3.c.1 Brief synthesis

In the southern part of Hamburg’s old town are two
complementary, mono-functional districts, which are
closely related, both physically and functionally: first-
ly, the complex of warehouses for goods imported
through the port and, secondly, the Kontorhaus dis-
trict with the offices of the companies engaged in
port-related activities, including shipping.

The Speicherstadt was constructed in three phas-
es between 1885 and 1927 under the direction of
Franz Andreas Meyer. It was damaged in \World War
[I, and reconstructed in the post-war period by Wer
ner Kallmorgen, in keeping with the historic design;
high-quality buildings were added in the 1950s. The
Speicherstadt stands out for the exceptional homo-
geneity of both its architecture and its urban devel-
opment. It consists of 15 five- to seven-storey ware-
houses and a series of individual buildings, the vast
majority of which are constructed in brick with neo-
Gothic and neo-Romanesque forms, and features
a specific functional and physical structure, and a
particular style of urban development, with cobbled
streets, waterways, bridges and railway tracks.

The adjacent Kontorhaus district to the north of the
Customs Canal is comparably homogeneous. This
district, which dates mainly from the 1920s and
1930s, consists predominantly of large-scale edi-
fices, some of which fill entire blocks, with clinker
facades in expressionist or sober designs, flat roofs
and stepped-back upper storeys. The dominant fea-
ture of the nominated property is the Chilehaus,
which was constructed between 1922 and 1924
by Fritz Hoger. This 10-storey office building is con-
structed on a reinforced concrete frame and the
outer walls are made of the typical dark-red to vio-
let fired clinker bricks that are characteristic of the
brick expressionist style. Other striking buildings in
the nominated property are the Messberghof, built
between 1923 and 1924 by the brothers Hans and
Oskar Gerson; the Sprinkenhof, built in three sec-
tions between 1927 and 1943 by the architects Hans

and Oskar Gerson and Fritz Hoger, and the Mohlen-
hof, which was constructed in 1928 to plans by the
architects Rudolf Klophaus, August Schoch and Erich
zu Putlitz.

From a historical point of view, the architecture of
the functionally complementary districts is a striking
and unigque microcosm, on a unique scale, of the de-
velopment of European architecture in the late 19th
century and the first third of the 20th century, and
reflects the new ideas of the time about reorganis-
ing cities along functional lines, a key milestone in
the emergence of modern urban development. The
two districts were optimally located to meet the new
logistics requirements for goods transhipment, and
provide office space for organising trade. Moreover,
the high quality of the districts’ design testifies to
the internationally renowned status of Hamburg Port
and the local export business at the time.

3.c.2 Justification for criteria

(i): represent a masterpiece of human creative
genius:

Fritz Hoger's Chilehaus, with its eastern tip recalling
the prow of a ship and the characteristic detail of its
facades, is regarded as an iconic work of expression-
ist architecture, which no standard work of reference
on 20th century architecture fails to mention. By
combining a reinforced concrete skeleton with tra-
ditional brickwork, executed with barely surpassable
virtuoso design and craftsmanship, Hoger created a
modern style of office building architecture, the like
of which the world had never seen.

(ii): exhibit an important interchange of human valu-
es, over a span of time or within a cultural area
of the world, on developments in architecture
or technology, monumental arts, town-planning
or landscape design:

The cultural-historical significance of the Speicher
stadt and the Kontorhaus district, particularly the
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core area consisting of the Chilehaus, Messberghof,
Sprinkenhof and Mohlenhof, lies in the fact that they
document the changes in urban development, ar
chitecture and technology, as well as the functional
changes, which resulted from the rapid expansion
of international trade in the second half of the 19th
century. The two mono-functional, functionally com-
plementary districts present a globally unique micro-
cosm, on a unique scale, of the ideal of a modern
city with functional zones, and document the con-
cept of city formation.

(ii): bear a unique or at least exceptional testimony
to a cultural tradition or to a civilisation which is
living or which has disappeared:

Thanks to their scale, the quality of their design,
their materials and their architectural forms, both the
Speicherstadt and the Kontorhaus district, in particu-
lar the core area consisting of the Chilehaus, Mess-
berghof, Sprinkenhof and Mohlenhof, bear excep-
tional testimony to the building tradition in Hamburg,
as a Hanseatic port city, and to the self-image of its
business people, as well as to their own adaptability,
which ensured their success.

(iv): be an outstanding example of a type of building,
architectural or technological ensemble or land-
scape which illustrates (a) significant stage(s) in
human history:

The two neighbouring, mono-functional, but func-
tionally complementary districts, both contain out-
standing examples of the types of buildings and en-
sembles which epitomise the consequences of the
rapid growth in international trade in the late 19th
and early 20th centuries respectively. Their uniform
design and high-quality, functional construction, in
the guise of Historicism and Modernism respective-
ly, make them unique examples, the world over, of
ensembles of maritime warehouses and modern of-
fice buildings of the 1920s.

Hamburg’s Speicherstadt, with its numerous ware-
houses and functional buildings, its specific function-
al and physical structure, its particular style of urban

development, and with its cobbled streets, water
ways, bridges and railway tracks, was constructed at
the end of the 19th century, and today it is still the
largest cohesive and integrated ensemble of ware-
houses anywhere in the world. Thanks to careful re-
construction following damage sustained in the last
war, it has been possible to restore it to its original
uniform appearance. It stands out not only for its
high degree of architectural homogeneity, resulting
from the uniform red brick facades, predominantly in
the neo-Gothic forms of the “Hanover School’ and
its consistent urban planning, but also for its evoca-
tive setting, which underlines its prestigious style,
unusual in such functional buildings.

The Kontorhaus district is characterised by both its
considerable homogeneity and its remarkable scale,
which can still be experienced today. As the first
dedicated office district on the European continent,
it showcases previous experience in office block de-
sign and illustrates the shift in focus of economic ac-
tivities in continental Europe from the secondary to
the tertiary sector. Its office buildings, particularly the
Chilehaus, Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and Mohlen-
hof broke new ground in the development of office
building architecture, and are amongst the most sig-
nificant achievements of their kind post-World War |.
The high quality of their design was unrivalled at the
time, except in the United States. However, while
international office block architecture of the time
was still influenced by the Beaux-Arts style and oth-
er forms of Historicism, Hamburg’s buildings already
displayed modern clinker facades in expressionist
forms, which, in the Chilehaus and Sprinkenhof were
barely surpassable in the virtuosity of their design
and craftsmanship. The Messberghof, whose deco-
rative and structural features are more restrained,
was one of the first buildings anywhere in the world
to pave the way for the New Objectivism movement.
The Mohlenhof, with its relatively simple, smooth fa-
cades, can even be regarded as an early example of
New Objectivism architecture. The buildings in the
core area of the Kontorhaus district are therefore
amongst the most significant office buildings of the
1920s. What is more, as works of important archi-
tects, they are also of high artistic merit.



Alongside their architectural forms, which were
modern compared with other contemporary office
buildings from around the world, Hamburg's of-
fice buildings were also characterised by the high
quality of their design, which continues inside the
buildings, in the hallways and staircases.

3.c.3  Statement of integrity

The Hamburg ensemble comprises two mono-
functional districts in direct neighbourhood to one
another, which have been preserved intact in ad-
equate size in almost unchanged historical form
and design. On a unique scale and in unparal-
leled concentration, the ensemble documents the
change from a mixed-use city to a modern city
with mono-functional zones, which were estab-
lished at the end of the 19th and the beginning of
the 20th century.

The Speicherstadt has all the elements and struc-
tures necessary to underline its importance as the
largest unified warehouse complex and most mod-
ern logistics centre of the world of the late 19th
century. The Kontorhaus district, in particular the
buildings of its core zone consisting of Chilehaus,
MefRberghof, Sprinkenhof and Mohlenhof com-
prises all the elements and structures that docu-
ment its importance for the development of the
modern office building architecture of the 1920s
and 1930s.

3.c.4 Statement of authenticity

The Hamburg ensemble Speicherstadt and Kon-
torhaus district with Chilehaus, two mutually com-
plementary, directly neighbouring mono-function-
al districts in largely unchanged historic design
with functionally shaped buildings of high qual-
ity in the style of historicism and of modernity,
document the change of the mixed-use town to
a modern city with mono-functional zones at the
end of the 19th and in the early 20th century with
a concentration and degree of preservation and
on a scale, which are unique in the world.
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Despite the damage suffered during the World
War Il and the successive changes of use during
the course of the last one-and-a-half decades, the
Speicherstadt has largely retained its form and de-
sign in terms of building materials and substance,
all of which are determined by their high degree of
architectural and urban planning concentration, by
the ambitious link between architectural design of
the buildings and their technical facilities, by the
effective composition of their prestigious red-brick
construction in Neo-Gothic architectural forms
from the Hanover School and by their functional
and aesthetic structure. These constants lend it
the incomparable look as a “city of warehouses”
(,Speicherstadt”) with an unusually prestigious
character for that kind of building task. The original
function of the Speicherstadt as a centre for stor-
age and warehousing has largely been retained. In
those cases where it has not, this function is still
clearly traceable.

The Hamburg Kontorhaus district, whose build-
ings continue serves their original purposes, is still
largely unchanged characterized in terms of form
and design as well as regards materials and sub-
stance. It consists of modern office buildings with
reinforced steel constructions from the 1920s and
1930s. The carefully designed and in some cases
very complex and detailed clinker brick facades
feature expressionist and functional architectural
forms. Also, the artistic decorative elements and
the prestigious decoration of building entrances
and staircases are largely unchanged in terms of
material and substance. This also applies to the
Chilehaus, its characteristic detailing of the brick
facades and its significant form including the over-
building of the Fischertwiete, the S-shaped facade
on Messberg, and applies above all to its eastern
tip which is reminiscent of a ship’s prow.

3.c.5 Requirements for protection and
management

Given their outstanding significance, both the Spei-
cherstadt and the Kontorhaus district are listed
under the Hamburg Heritage Protection Act. Any
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repairs or alterations to the buildings, and building
work of any consequence, have to be discussed
with the Department for Heritage Preservation of
the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg, and are
subject to its approval. The Speicherstadt also has
its own Design Ordinance and a Development Con-
cept for the Speicherstadt has been drawn up, too.

It is intended to draft a Design Ordinance for the
Kontorhaus district as well. In addition, a local de-
velopment plan is currently being produced for the
Speicherstadt (local development plan HafenCity
no. 12/Hamburg- Altstadt district no. 48).

A management plan has been formulated to safe-
guard the preservation and proper management of
the ensemble ,Speicherstadt and Kontorhaus dis-
trict with Chilehaus.”

The Department for Heritage Preservation will be
responsible for coordinating the management of
the nominated property and will be affiliated a de-
partment from the Ministry of Culture.
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4. State of conservation and factors affecting

the property

4.a Present state of conservation

4.a.1 The Speicherstadt

Although it suffered considerable damage during
WW I, the Speicherstadt was back in use rela-
tively quickly after the war. Only two buildings
in the western part of the Speicherstadt were
completely destroyed. Most of the other dama-
ged buildings were either carefully reconstructed
down to the details or liberally added to. In many
cases, the only evidence that the top sections of
the blocks have been rebuilt is the very minor va-
riation in the colour of the brickwork. Some new
buildings were erected to replace the destroyed
ones: With their sparse, cube-shaped structures,
they consistently adhered to post-war moder-
nism, but used the same brick material, so that
they blend in well with their environs. Thus, the
overall design of the Speicherstadt has largely
been preserved unspoiled and can be said to be
in a good state of structural repair.

»  Preservation strategy:

With only a few exceptions, the Speicherstadt
buildings have always been the property of the
Hamburg Port and Logistics plc (HHLA). This
will not change fundamentally in the future. The
HHLA has accumulated a wealth of experience as
regards the maintenance of the historic buildings
of the Speicherstadt; something that will ensure
a high degree of continuity when it comes to its
upkeep and a careful approach to putting some of
its buildings to new uses.

Another building block of the long-term sustai-
nability strategy to preserve the Speicherstadt is
the part-privatisation of the HHLA. This has meant
that the Speicherstadt district has been separated
operationally from the other business divisions of
the HHLA. In the process, the Speicherstadt buil-
dings were assigned non-listed tracking stocks,
which are wholly owned by the Hamburg Capi-

tal and Holdings Management Company (Gesell-
schaft fir Vermdégens- und Beteiligungsmanage-
ment (HGV) mbH), which is in turn wholly owned
by the City of Hamburg.

In 2007, the Hamburg Parliament adopted a decision
entitled the Memorandum on the Part-Privatisation
of HHLA (Blrgerschaftsdrucksache zum Teilb6rsen-
gang), which confirmed a gentle development ap-
proach towards new uses for the Speicherstadt. This
is part and parcel of the long-term preservation stra-
tegy for the Speicherstadt.

»  Current state of preservation and rehabilitati-
on measures:

Due to their constructive design, the materials and
building methods employed and their uninterrupted
use, the structural state of the Speicherstadt buil-
dings can be designated as good. A further contri-
buting factor has been the continuous rehabilitation
and maintenance efforts, which are subject to fun-
damental agreements between the Department for
Heritage Preservation and HHLA about maintenance
standards. Details concerning individual warehouse
blocks must be expressly authorised. When pre-
paring them for new uses, the warehouse blocks
are completely overhauled and gently modernised.
This is always done in close consultation with the
Hamburg Department for Heritage Preservation.

At the same time, a lot of effort is put into the up-
keep of the preserved infrastructure of the Spei-
cherstadt, which consists of its streets, bridges and
waterways. A ,Maintenance and Repair Programme
for the Bridges of the Speicherstadt” has been draf-
ted in cooperation with the Department for Heritage
Preservation to ensure that the existing bridges are
always kept in good repair.

In recent years, most of the repair work has fo-
cussed on quay walls, particularly those along the
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Customs Canal near the customs building at 17 — 18,
Alter Wandrahm. The quay walls started deforming
as a result of heavy lorry traffic, which considerab-
ly reduced their bearing capacity. The renovation
measures have been completed in the meantime.
Since the customs buildings have stopped functio-
ning as such, there will be no heavy lorries in this
area in future. There are plans to close the gap in
the customs building at 17—18, Alter Wandrahm
created in the 1950s.

In recent years, additional types of damage have
been detected in the quay walls of the Speicher
stadt, which are 120 years old, both on their water
side and underneath the warehouse blocks. These
damages primarily involve warehouse basements.
The bearing capacity of the quay walls and the
wood pile foundations underneath streets and
warehouse blocks needs to be maintained over
the long term, as this is of vital importance for the
preservation of the Speicherstadt as a whole. Par-
ticular attention will therefore be given to this part
of the maintenance and repair effort in future, and
there are plans to draw up an integrated plan con-
cerning the quay walls that has the full backing of
all stakeholders (cf. Chapter 4.b.1.5).

4.a.2 The Kontorhaus district

Hamburg's Kontorhaus district around Messberg
is to this day characterised by an almost cohesive
ensemble of buildings from the 1920s, 1930s and
1950s which were hardly altered as a result of the
war. Its most characteristic buildings are the Chi-
lehaus, Messberghof, Sprinkenhof and the Moh-
lenhof complexes. They continue to serve their
original purposes and, except for the Mohlenhof,
have all been rehabilitated in accordance with
heritage protection considerations. They are in a
very good state of repair.

Chilehaus: During WW Il the Chilehaus did not
suffer any major damage. Only minor furnishing
details in the entrance area of portal B, part of
the terracotta ornamentation of the southern por
tal C and the original shop windows were lost.

Between 1990 and 1993, the windows were re-
designed by the architects of WGK Planungsge-
sellschaft mbH. They interpreted the original win-
dows rather freely. The Fischertwiete, a narrow
street, was converted into a pedestrian zone. Its
original cobblestone surface was replaced by gra-
nite pavement. All of these measures were car-
ried out in close cooperation with the Hamburg
Department for Heritage Preservation.

Messberghof: During WW |l the Messberghof
suffered only minor damage. The roof and part of
the stepped-back upper stories on Pumpen street
were destroyed during an air raid in 1945. They
were reconstructed in a simplified version in the
early post-war years. The Messberghof now has a
flat roof with the preserved tower jutting out from
it in a rather surprising way. Another alteration
of the Messberghof concerns the ground floor
of the west facade, into which two large shop
windows were installed. The sandstone sculptu-
res by Ludwig Kunstmann attached to the facade
pillars were removed in 1968 because they were
severely damaged by weathering. They were lost,
meaning that reconstruction was made impossi-
ble. For the rest, the Messberghof has been pre-
served in its historic condition.

Any alterations for the worse have in the meantime
been reversed or remedied. The modernisation
work carried outinthe years 1995- 1996 was in kee-
ping with heritage protection considerations and
was executed by the architects Schweger & Part-
ners in cooperation with the Hamburg Department
for Heritage Preservation. The original cube shape
of the roof was re-established, but using modern
structures and materials such as titanium zinc alloy
sheet metal. In 1997 instead of the original sculp-
tures, new abstract ones of bronze created by Lo-
thar Fischer were added.

Sprinkenhof: During the war, the third section of
the Sprinkenhof was hit by a bomb and burned
down. The second section was also damaged, but
only the western staircase on Burchardstrasse and
the adjoining rooms were affected. Thanks to the



sturdy reinforced concrete skeleton construction of
the Sprinkenhof, and given that the facades had re-
mained largely intact, it was relatively easy to repair
this damage. Except for the much simplified stairca-
ses in the second and third sections of the building,
the repairs are now hardly visible.

Between 2000 and 2003, the architects Kleffel,
Kéhnholdt & Partners modernised the second and
third sections of the Sprinkenhof. In doing so they
cooperated closely with the Hamburg Department
for Heritage Preservation. The modernisation meant
that the underground parking driveway was closed
to make room for the air conditioning system, and
that the car park in the atrium was given a glass
roof. The Springeltwiete was kept in its original

4.b Factors affecting the property
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street profile, but was closed to motorised traffic.

Mohlenhof: The Mohlenhof was not severely da-
maged during WW I, so it has been preserved al-
most completely in its historic condition, including
numerous Art Deco style elements in the entrance
hall and the staircase. However, some modifica-
tions were made to ground floor facades: Instead
of the original straight lintels, the two shop doors
on the east side were given segmented arches du-
ring the 1950s. Parts of the south side were also gi-
ven different shapes. In close cooperation between
the Hamburg Department for Heritage Preservation
and the architect, Alk Friedrichsen, these parts of
the Mohlenhof were restored to closely resemble
the original versions in 2012.

The following factors are of particular importance
for the preservation and sustainable development of
Hamburg's Speicherstadt with Chilehaus and Kontor-
haus district, which is being nominated for inscripti-
on on the UNESCO World Heritage List:

4.b.1 Development Pressures
4.b.1.1 Dynamics and new uses

Currently, there are only few new uses in the Kon-
torhaus district. There are plans to perhaps allow
the use of the stepped-back upper storeys as apart-
ments, but generally speaking no substantial inter
ference with the fabric of the buildings is envisa-
ged. In the Speicherstadt the situation is different.

Until 2012, the Speicherstadt was subject to the Port
Area Development Act of 1982, last amended on 19
April 2011 (HmbGVBI. page 123). Recent changes in
port requirements and logistics, i.e. the move away
from general cargo to containerised transport, and
the building of the HafenCity have had a significant
impact on the Speicherstadt. Instead of traditional
users and their port-related activities, there are now
numerous new urban users for whom the Speicher

stadt is much in demand. In acknowledging this
structural change, the Speicherstadt was taken out
of the remit of the Port Area Development Act on
10 October 2012.

This move aims at promoting a development, whe-
reby the Speicherstadt will become an attractive
nexus with urban uses between the city centre
and the HafenCity. Administratively speaking, the
entire Speicherstadt, complete with its system of
integrated waterways, the Customs Canal and Bin-
nenhafen expanses of water between Kehrwieder-
steg and Oberbaumbriicke is now part of the Ha-
fenCity district. This reflects the fact that for some
time now there has been a transformation going
on in the Speicherstadt: Many of the warehouses
are no longer needed for port-related activities and
even in the case of goods still being transhipped
and stored in the Speicherstadt, there have been
significant changes in recent decades. In the past,
coffee, tea, cocoa, dried fruit, nuts and spices were
stored, processed and transhipped in the Speicher
stadt. Now it is primarily oriental carpets that are
stored in the Speicherstadt warehouses. However,
this trade segment has also seen shrinking volu-
mes in recent years. It must therefore be assumed
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that only about a third of all warehouse blocks will be
used for the purpose they were originally designed
for in future, namely storage.

There is a consensus among stakeholders and decis-
ion makers that the storage and distribution function
should not be allowed to completely disappear as this
is what characterises the Speicherstadt. Out of a total
usable space of 300,000 square metres, some 96,000
are currently being used for storage, and it is safe to
assume that about a third of the area will continue to
be used in this way in future. Of the rest, about one
third has been dedicated to new uses. There are now
several companies from the fashion and textile indus-
tries in the Speicherstadt. Some of them operate a
combined system of storage and presentation of their
fashion collections, thereby taking the traditional con-
cept for which the warehouses were designed one
step further. Another new type of use that has thrived
in the Speicherstadt since the end of the free port pri-
vileges involves cultural institutions and recreational
offerings. An area of some 25,000 square metres is
now being used for cultural and leisure activities or is
used by restaurants and other catering outlets. This
further adds to the Speicherstadt’s attractiveness and
makes it more lively, which is why such activities will
be encouraged in future. Also, the ambience of the
historic buildings in the Speicherstadt and the struc-
ture of the open spaces contribute to making it very
attractive for the arts and creative activities. This is

why, some 10,000 square metres will be made availa-
ble for artist studios in future. Half of this studio space
will be offered at very favourable rents, so that young
artists can also afford them.

As the Speicherstadt is a listed ensemble under the
Hamburg Heritage Protection Act, occurred in the
past all conversions and any related structural chan-
ges of warehouse buildings in close consultation
and approval process with the Hamburg Department
for Heritage Preservation. This is to ensure that the
amount of alterations to the fabric of buildings is kept
to a minimum. This will also be the future approach to
the development of the Speicherstadt so that the ex-
perience accumulated over the years in terms of how
to put buildings to new uses can serve as worthwhile
input.

In all of this, however, it is worth remembering that
changes in how a building is used do not only affect
the design and substance of the building in questi-
on, but also require adjustment measures in the open
spaces and traffic infrastructure around it.

4.b.1.2 Traffic concept for the Speicherstadt

When the free port regime was still fully in force,
there was hardly any through-traffic in the Spei-
cherstadt. Only Bei St. Annen and Am Sandtorkai
/ Brooktorkai served the purpose of channelling



through-traffic to the southern parts of the port and
to Harburg via Freihafenbrlicken. Meanwhile, mo-
torised traffic in the Speicherstadt has significantly
increased and there are also more cyclists and pe-
destrians. New uses of the Speicherstadt buildings
will in future lead to additional demands being made
on streets and paths. Most of the original traffic inf-
rastructure of the Speicherstadt has been preserved
almost unchanged. It constitutes one of the charac-
teristic features of this ensemble and has thus been
included in the list of protected assets under the
Heritage Protection Act. Future developments in the
Speicherstadt must therefore reconcile the new de-
mands on streets and paths with a heritage regime
that respects its existing historic fabric.

4.b.1.3 Barrier-free access

An aspect of particular importance is barrierfree ac-
cess to the nominated property which must promote
social inclusion. The provisions of the UN Convention
on the Rights of the Disabled and the corresponding
Action Plan of the Free and Hanseatic City of Ham-
burg must be complied with. Also, solutions need to
be found for senior citizens and the disabled so that
they can safely use the paths in the Speicherstadt.
At the same time, the typical materials of streets
and public spaces need to be maintained. Both in
the Speicherstadt and the Kontorhaus district such
demands must be reconciled with the need to use
and adapt the existing network of streets and paths
in a way that is compatible with heritage protection.

4.b.1.4 Living in the Speicherstadt

Independently of whether present or future uses
are concerned, extra care needs to be exercised
when considering the possibility of converting
warehouses so they can be used as apartments.
Hamburg's urban planners have decided to ge-
nerally promote the residential use of buildings
in inner city districts, meaning that the Speicher-
stadt could also be targeted by this development
policy. However, compared to other new uses,
the extent of interventions would be considerable
if the historic warehouses were to be converted
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into apartments in future: Because of their great
depth, aspects such as the provision of natural
light, means of access and the required modern
building technology and installations would pre-
sent major challenges. Major modifications would
have to be made, such as inserting atria, adding
more windows and improving fire safety measu-
res.

In 2012, the Regional Ministry of Urban Develop-
ment and Environment (BSU) and the HHLA to-
gether launched a competition calling for residen-
tial concepts for the Speicherstadt. It aimed at
testing the ground and looking at ways in which
apartments could be created in the Speicher-
stadt. The size of apartments was to vary bet-
ween 50 and 180 square metres. The outcome
of the competition was that, for warehouses to
become eligible for living in, they must not only
be preserved outwardly, but their interiors must
also retain their historic characteristics, so as to
preserve the typical ambience of the Speicher-
stadt warehouses. It was suggested, therefore,
that the idea of a mix of different apartment sizes
should be relinquished in favour of plans to crea-
te typical loft apartments which require less con-
version and installation efforts. This option would
also take care of the problems of flats exclusi-
vely facing one side and not being provided with
enough natural light. In summary, the jury of the
competition recommended that, in addition to
the top floors (attic and pitched attic rooms) being
converted into apartments, maisonette (type)
flats and ateliers should be created. In converting
warehouse top floors, the existing load bearing
constructions and woodwork of roofs would have
to be respected, and special attention would have
to be paid to the design of roofs capes, particu-
larly in those cases where these structures are
visible from the waterways and from Sandtorkai.

Flood protection is another pre-requisite for using
the Speicherstadt buildings for residential purpo-
ses. Such protection would either have to be en-
sured for the Speicherstadt as a whole (cf. Chap-
ter 4.b.3) or individual buildings would have to be
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Fig. 163: Planned new uses of buildings if the Speicherstadt is integrated into a comprehensive flood protection system

connected to elevated escape routes. The latter
solution currently only exists in the case of those
warehouses that have a direct connection with
Kibbelstegbricke, e.g. block N, small sections of
which already contain a combination of offices
and apartments.

4.b.1.5 Structural safety of the quay walls
underneath warehouses and streets

Some 120 years after they were constructed, the
quay walls of the Speicherstadt are now showing
a degree of wear and tear. This is evident both at
the water’s edge and in the warehouse buildings
themselves, particularly in their basements.

Therefore, the HHLA commissioned a study on
the structural safety of the quay walls. The study
found that the quay walls are in absolute need of
rehabilitation and that the foundation wood pile
heads also need to be included in an overall reha-
bilitation concept.

However, a second expert opinion, also commis-
sioned by the Free and Hanseatic City of Ham-
burg, concludes that the damages detected only
affect certain parts of the quay walls and their
longevity. The authors of that study conclude that
the quay walls are not in urgent need of repair,
but that the rehabilitation efforts can be carried
out over a medium term of three to five years, or



over an even longer term of between five and ten
years, respectively, depending upon the severity
of the damage in the affected locations.

The structural safety of the quay walls must be
guaranteed over the long term, as this is vital for
the preservation of the Speicherstadt. Given that
the two expert opinions do not coincide on all
counts, an appropriate rehabilitation concept will
have to be found that has the full backing of all
stakeholders and players involved. The Manage-
ment Plan, which forms part of the nomination
documents, clearly defines this as a priority. The-
re have been preliminary talks between the ow-
ners and the authorities concerned.

4.b.2 Environmental pressures

Because of currently observed climate change is
increasingly expected reinforced, often gale-force
winds, which can lead to high water levels and
flooding. This is particularly important for the area
of the warehouse district of concern (see Section
4.b.3).

4.b.3 Natural disasters und risk
preparedness

Hazards of the nominated property by lightning
or fire cannot be excluded in principle, but the
probability is so low that there is no over the ge-
neral safety precautions and protective measures
beyond. The situation is different in the storm ha-
zards that can lead to high water and flooding. In
particular, for the area of Speicherstadt this is of
concern.

4.b.3.1 Flood protection

The Speicherstadt lies outside the public main
dyke system. It is situated between the city cen-
tre, which is protected by a system of flood de-
fences, and the HafenCity which is built on plinths
that raise it above the reference water level. For
the Speicherstadt as a whole there is currently no
comprehensive system of flood defence, e.g. in
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the form of a closed network of dykes that would
protect it from flooding. The Speicherstadt lies
between 4.50 m and 5.50 m above sea level (NN
= tidal reference level), i.e. considerably lower
than the reference mean water level of 730 m
above sea level. This reference mean water level
is going to be raised to 8.10 m (cf. Internal Memo-
randum 20/5561). This explains why the Speicher-
stadt has in fact repeatedly been flooded over the
years.

Flooding does not present a real danger for the
structural integrity of the Speicherstadt buildings,
though. So far no serious damage has been de-
tected that could be attributed to flooding.

For the uses of the buildings in the traditional
way for storage or office space in a part of the
buildings flood protection has been made. Thus,
the flooding of the basement and ground floors of
these buildings can be prevented.

In order to allow residential and hotel uses in
more of the Speicherstadt buildings, a compre-
hensive system of flood defences and appropri-
ate flood-safe escape routes would have to be
established. In the context of drawing up the
Development Concept for the Speicherstadt, a
study was commissioned that looked at two al-
ternative engineering solutions. The study found
that it would be technically feasible to construct
a comprehensive system of flood defences, but
that its expected cost would be so high that it
could only be realised in the long term. Also, the
experts commissioned considered that further
and more exhaustive analyses and studies would
be required.

Generally speaking, it should be clear that neither
the historic substance of the Speicherstadt nor
its overall appearance must be impaired by esta-
blishing a comprehensive system of flood protec-
tion. Particularly, the existing hiatus between the
western part of the district